INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



University of Alberta

Factors Affecting Chinese Educators' Career Development Experiences in Canada

by
Qiuling Wu

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education

in

Adult and Higher Education

Department of Educational Policy Studies

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Cenada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your the Votre rélérance

Our Be Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-69469-0



University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author: Qiuling Wu

Title of Thesis: Factors Affecting Chinese Educators' Career Development

Experiences in Canada

Degree: Master of Education

Year This Degree Granted: 2001

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

P. O. Box 52066 Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2T5

Date: August 27, 2004

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled Factors Affecting Chinese Educators' Career Development Experiences in Canada submitted by Qiuling Wu in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education in Adult and Higher Education.

Dr. Tara Fenwick, Supervisor

Professor Art Deane

Dr. Joe Wu

Jan 17/01

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my grandmother, who loved and inspired me so much during her lifetime and to my parents, whose unfailing love and support sustained me throughout the writing of this thesis. Without these, I could have never achieved what I have achieved today. For this, I am forever grateful.

Abstract

This qualitative study identified factors that affect Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. Through in-depth interviewing and interpretive analysis, it examined the social, cultural and political dimensions which have influenced the participants' career search experiences. Specifically, it looked at the impacts of conceptualization of career, sociocultural factors, barriers, acculturation as well as self-efficacy beliefs on the participants' career development.

This study drew upon the insights of five participants. Each was born in China, worked there as an educator, emigrated to Canada to complete a graduate degree in education, then sought employment in Canada as an educator. The findings point to a close link between the participants' career development and the social, cultural and political contexts within which their career development was situated. Specifically, the participants' career development was characterized by a compromised career concept, strong family influence, priority attached to a secure full-time job, self-blame for occupational disadvantages, preference for high acculturation as well as low self-efficacy beliefs. This study contributes to the scant body of research on Chinese immigrants' career development needs and experiences in Canada. It hopefully will stimulate future research in this field.

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my gratitude to those who assisted and supported me in the completion of this study.

I would particularly like to thank Dr. Tara Fenwick, my supervisor, who kept me on task in spite of some serious delays on my part. Her knowledge, wisdom and caring approach gave me the confidence and encouragement to proceed.

The assistance and advice given to me by my committee members was very much appreciated and I acknowledge with considerable appreciation Dr. Joe Wu and Professor Art Deane. I wish also to thank Dr. Stan Wilson and Dr. Paula Brooke for their support and understanding.

Throughout the years, many friends and colleagues from Canada, China and other parts of the world have inspired me through their love, friendship and support. For this, I am deeply indebted. I would especially like to thank Beverly LeMoine and Terry Selikow, the two most intelligent women in the world, for their friendship, insight and support. As well, Norma Davis has my eternal gratitude for lending me her computer, without which it would have taken me at least one more year to complete this study.

The five Chinese educators who participated in this study were most generous in sacrificing their time to support this study. Without their enthusiastic participation, this thesis would have never been made possible. I thank each and every one of them from the bottom of my heart for their generosity in sharing their stories. They are all my role models.

Finally, my family members as well as Denise, Joyce, Keith, Gram and Pat, whose encouragement and faith in my ability sustained me throughout, is deserving of my most sincere gratitude. I thank them for their love, motivation and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| С | hapter | | Page |
|----|---------------------|---|------------|
| 1. | OVERVI | EW OF THE STUDY | |
| | 1.1 Introd | luction | •••••• |
| | 1.2 Conte | exts of Chinese Educators | ********** |
| | 1.3 Stater | nent of the Problem | |
| | 1.4 Signif | ficance of the Study and Its Potential Impacts | ٠٠٠٠٠٠٠٠٠ |
| | 1.5 Defin | ition of the Terms | •••••• |
| | 1.6 Limit | ations and Delimitations | |
| | 1.7 My O | wn Story as a Chinese Educator | 1 |
| | 1.8 Organ | nization of the Thesis | |
| 2. | DEVIEW | OF RELATED LITERATURE | • |
| ے. | | uction | |
| | | r Development | |
| | 2.2.1 | Work, Jobs and Careers | ١٠٠٠٠٠١٤ |
| | 2.2.2 | Career Choice | 10 |
| | 2.2.3 | | ۱۵ا د |
| | 2.2.4 | Career Development of Racial/Ethnic Minorities | 21 |
| | | r and Culture | 22 |
| | 2.3 Carcer 2.3.1 | Individualistic Culture and Collectivistic Culture | 23 |
| | 2.3.1 | East Asian Culture and Families. | 23 |
| | 2.3.3 | Chinese Culture and Family Influences. | |
| | | -Related Barriers | ة∠ مد |
| | 2.4.1 | Racism | |
| | 2.4.2 | Occupational Discrimination | |
| | 2.4.3 | Occupational Segregation and Stereotyping. | |
| | 2.4.4 | Perception of Opportunities and Role Models | 2دع |
| | 2.4.5 | Socioeconomic Status and Educational Background | دد ۱۸ |
| | 2.4.6 | English Language Competency | |
| | 2.4.7 | Minority Women: Gender and Ethnic Experiences | |
| | 2.4.8 | Devaluation of Foreign Credentials. | 33 |
| | | , Identity and Acculturation | |
| | | Racial Identity and Occupational Behaviour | |
| | 2.5.2 | Asian American Ethnic Identity and Acculturation Models | |
| | | sion | |
| 3 | RESEARC | CH METHODOLOGY | A 1 |
| _ | 3.1 Introdu | action | |
| | | ale for a Qualitative Research Design | |
| | 3.3 Resear | ch Method for the Study | ۲۲41 ۲۵ |
| | | on of Participants | |
| | | of of Participants | |
| | | | |

| | 3.6 Table 3.1 Characteristics of Participants | 48 |
|---|---|------------|
| | 3.7 Data Collection | 49 |
| | 3.8 The Use of the English Language in Interviews | 49 |
| | 3.9 Interview Process | 50 |
| | 3.10 Data Analysis | 51 |
| | 3.10.1 Organizing the Data | 51 |
| | 3.10.2 Generating Categories, Themes, and Patterns | 52 |
| | 3.10.3 Writing the Report. | 53 |
| | 3.11 Trustworthiness of Data | 53 |
| | 3.12 Assumptions | 54 |
| | 3.13 Ethnical Considerations | 55 |
| 4 | FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION | 56 |
| | 4.1 Introduction | 56 |
| | 4.2 Significant Findings of the Study | 50 56 |
| | 4.2.1 Conceptualization of Career. | 50 |
| | 4.2.1.1 Career as Self-Actualization | 57 |
| | 4.2.1.2 Career in Relation to Community | <i>)</i> / |
| | 4.2.1.3 Career as a Dynamic Concept | 50 |
| | 4.2.1.4 Career Concept as Manifestation of Ideal and Reality | <i>5</i> 9 |
| | 4.2.1.5 Career, Constraints and Compromise | 00 |
| | 4.2.2 Chinese Sociocultural Influences | 63 |
| | 4.2.2.1 Parental Expectations. | 63 |
| | 4.2.2.2 Chinese Culture and Its Influence on Career Development | 66 |
| | 4.2.2.2.1 The Negative and Positive Aspects of Chinese Culture | 67 |
| | 4.2.2.2.2 Chinese Culture and Its Impacts on Chinese Education | 69 |
| | 4.2.2.2.3 The Impact of Chinese Culture on Career Choice | UJ 71 |
| | 4.2.3 Perception of Barriers | 77 |
| | 4.2.3.1 Individual Barriers. | 77 |
| | 4.2.3.2 Structural Barriers | , 80 |
| | 4.2.3.3 Attitudes towards Barriers and Coping Strategies | 00 |
| | 4.2.4 Acculturation and Ethnic Identity: Toward a Bicultural Identity | 87 |
| | 4.2.4.1 Acculturation and Its Impact on Career Development | 88 |
| | 4.2.4.2 Toward a Bicultural Competence | 90 |
| | 4.2.5 Self-Efficacy Beliefs | 93 |
| | 4.3 Discussion of Significant Findings. | 96 |
| | 4.3.1 The Concept of Career | 97 |
| | 4.3.1.1 A Dynamic and Ideal Concept | 97 |
| | 4.3.1.2 Self, Family and Community | 98 |
| | 4.3.1.3 Constraints, Reality and Compromise. | 98 |
| | 4.3.2 Sociocultural Impacts on Career Aspirations and Choices | |
| | 4.3.2.1 High Parental and Self-Expectations | |
| | 4.3.2.2 Parental and Self-Sacrifices. | 100 |
| | | 102 |

| | 4.3.3 Individual and Structural Barriers: What Prevents Career Success | 105 |
|----|--|-----|
| | 4.3.3.1 "Blame-the-Victim" Mentality | 105 |
| | 4.3.3.2 What Is behind This Mentality | 106 |
| | 4.3.4 Identity, Acculturation and Career Development | 109 |
| | 4.3.4.1 Acculturation as an Escape from Occupational Discrimination. | 109 |
| | 4.3.4.2 Fostering a Bicultural Flexibility | 112 |
| | 4.3.5 The Role of Career Self-Efficacy Beliefs | 114 |
| 5 | SUMMARY, IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS | 121 |
| | 5.1 Introduction | |
| | 5.2 Overview of the Study | 121 |
| | 5.3 Summary of Key Findings | 122 |
| | 5.3.1 The Concept of Career | 123 |
| | 5.3.2 Chinese Cultural Influence on Career Behaviour | 124 |
| | 5.3.3 Perceptions of Barriers and Their Impacts | |
| | 5.3.4 The Role of Racial Identity and Acculturation | 127 |
| | 5.3.5 The Importance of Self-Efficacy Beliefs in Career Development | 128 |
| | 5.4 Implications of Key Findings | 129 |
| | 5.5 Recommendations of Future Research | 133 |
| | 5.6 Conclusion | 134 |
| RE | EFERENCES | 136 |
| ΑP | PPENDICES | 150 |
| | 1. Appendix A: Cover Letter to the Participants | 152 |
| | 2. Appendix B: Nature and Purpose of the Research | 154 |
| | 3. Appendix C: Participant Consent Form | |
| | 4. Appendix D: Demographic Information Sheet | 158 |
| | 5. Appendix E: Interview Guide | 160 |

| Ŧ | IST. | OE | TA | DI | EC |
|---|---------|------|----|----|----|
| | .1.75 1 | l Jr | 14 | ъ. | |

| Table 1: Characteristics of Participants |
|--|
|--|

CHAPTER ONE OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY

1.1 Introduction

This study investigates Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. In doing so, I identify in this chapter who the Chinese educators are, the contexts in which their career development is situated, the research problem as well as the significance and potential impacts that this study may have on many people, including but are not limited to Chinese educators.

From a historical perspective, the establishment of diplomatic relations between Canada and the People's Republic of China (hereafter China) in 1970 has greatly contributed to the burgeoning bilateral ties between the two countries. Chinese educators, among other Chinese professionals, are coming to Canada in increasing numbers to pursue career-related graduate study and employment. Several factors contribute to this movement. Among them are: Deng Xiaoping's reforms and "opendoor" policy in China¹, globalization and technological expansion, Canada's post-1967 immigration policies, and the impact of the students' protests at Tiananmen Square in 1989 on many Chinese, especially Chinese students and educators. These factors will be explained later in this chapter.

I was led to this study partly through my own experiences as a Chinese educator seeking career development through further education and employment. The scarce literature on Chinese educators' career development is of only limited help in understanding this group's unique occupational experiences in Canada. By examining

¹ Deng Xiaoping (1904-1997) is regarded as the chief architect of China's reforms and "open-door" policy. Persecuted during the Cultural Revolution (1966-1976), he rose to power in the early 1970s. From 1977, he promoted economic modernization, and improved relations with the West. Although officially retired in 1989, he continued to be regarded as an effective leader of China until his death. Open-door policy is a term that historically refers to the principle of equal trading rights in China at the end of the 19th century negotiated among the US and major European powers. In this study, it refers to the bold economic and diplomatic policies taken by Deng Xiaoping in 1978 after decades of isolation following the founding of China in 1949. Beginning in 1978, Deng Xiaoping called for the "Four Modernization" of agriculture, industry, military, and science & technology. Foreign investment was encouraged. Thousands of students were sent abroad to study science and engineering. In foreign affairs, he developed closer ties with Japan and the West. Deng Xiaoping's programs produced rapid economic development in China. But politically China is still under tight Communist control.

their career development experiences in Canada, I hoped to understand how these Chinese educators conceptualized career. Specifically, I wanted to explore perceived barriers and enhancers in the process of their career development as well as their beliefs about the impacts of both Canadian and Chinese sociocultural and sociopolitical factors on their occupational aspirations and choices.

This study may have particular social and intellectual significance in that it might help policymakers, higher education administrators, community leaders, career counselors, parents as well as Chinese educators to better understand what I believe to be the highly unique experiences and struggles that this group shares in their career development in Canada. In addition, this study may stimulate future research in this field.

1.2 Contexts of Chinese Educators

The career development experiences of Chinese educators in Canada must be examined in the context of historical and structural conditions in Canada. Historically, since Canada and China established formal diplomatic relations in 1970, educational exchanges between the two countries have been burgeoning. The National Report on International Students in Canada published by the Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE, 1999) reveals that a total of 18,964 students from China attended graduate schools in Canada during the last ten years. During the early 1990s, like students from other countries, the majority of Chinese students attended educational institutions in Ontario (CBIE, 1999). This situation has changed. Today, Chinese students study in Canadian universities all across the country. The University of Alberta has become one of the top 10 Canadian universities in terms of its international student enrolment. The number of Chinese students enrolled in the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research at the University of Alberta has reached a total of 2,551 for the past ten years (Office of the Registrar & Student Awards, 1990-1999). Although not a large number, Chinese educators are among those who have first arrived in Canada to study and work since the late 1970s.

There are several possible reasons why so many Chinese students, including but are not limited to Chinese educators, have come to Canada to study and work. First,

China's reforms and "open-door" policy since 1978 have exposed more Chinese to the West than ever before.² For example, large amounts of foreign investment flooded into China after the late 1970s. The investors, especially those from the West, not only brought in needed capital, but also the Western cultural influences. In addition, China improved diplomatic relationships with most Western countries, including Canada. Therefore, these Western countries were no longer mysterious to the Chinese people. As part of the reforms and "open-door" policy, China sent students abroad to study science and engineering, mainly to Canada and the United States. Increased media accessibility in China likely made information sharing about study in Canada more prevalent. Perceiving democracy and freedom in the West not realized in China, many Chinese, especially the educated urban youth, have developed a keen interest in traveling abroad. At the same time, the government has encouraged students particularly those who have direct overseas links-to go abroad to study. Therefore, the desire to study abroad among the students has reached an unprecedented level. The post-1978 period has witnessed hundreds of thousands of Chinese students and scholars coming to Canada and other countries to seek educational and career opportunities.

Second, globalization, trade alliances, and technological expansion have made transnational mass movements of population become more frequent than any time in history. According to Richmond (1993), the phenomenon of the mass movement of labor from less to more developed regions is closely associated with the increasing globalization of capitalist systems of production. China, as a member of the global community, has been deeply affected by this phenomenon. As a matter of fact, the government has been battling with the problem of "brain drain" and searching for strategies to deal with it.⁴

² The death of Mao Zedong in 1976 signaled changes were to come. In 1978, under Deng Xiaoping's leadership, the Four-Modernization policy was officially introduced. These post-Mao reforms and "opendoor" policy were designed to promote economic and technical cooperation with other countries in part by liberalizing trade and allowing more foreign investment.

³ Following the reforms and "open-door" policy in 1978, the Chinese government made it an official policy to "support those who pursue overseas studies, encourage those to return after they finish, and allow them to come and go freely". According to Ministry of Education statistics, there have been a total of 340,000 Chinese students studying in over 100 countries and regions since 1978 (Ministry of Education, 2000).

⁴ See Lynne (1989) for discussion of the "brain drain" problem in China.

Third, Canada has a relatively low birth rate and an aging population which together creates a high dependency on foreign immigrants to maintain its population growth (Li, 1996). Moreover, some writers assert that Canada also suffers from "brain drain". Every year, highly trained Canadians are immigrating to the United States and other countries where financial rewards are higher. The educational system often cannot adapt immediately to the changing needs of new industries. Therefore, in the foreseeable future, Canada may rely more heavily on foreign-trained personnel to fill certain labor market shortages. Citizenship and Immigration Canada (hereafter CIC) statistics show that since 1990, between 200,000 to 300,000 immigrants a year have been accepted into Canada, and that this momentum is likely to continue in the years to come.

A point which warrants particular mention is Canada's immigration policy. Historically, Canadian immigration policy determined the admissibility of immigrants by race, ethnicity, and nationality. The result of this policy was that European immigrants were welcomed while visible minority immigrants were discouraged. After the Second World War, the Western European countries experienced a shortage of skilled labor. Canada therefore had to turn to other countries in order to entice more talents for its own labor market needs. On the international front, it was not in Canada's best interests to maintain a discriminatory immigration policy if it wanted to play an important role in the world stage. Moreover, within Canada, the liberalism of the 1960s may have contributed to a climate that was needed for the change of Canada's immigration policies. Under these circumstances, Canada finally decided to reform its discriminatory immigration policy in 1967. A new point system was adopted based on

⁵ Although still a contested issue, media coverage of reports such as the Conference Board of Canada's (1999) have insisted that Canada's "brain drain" (losses of highly skilled workers to the US) accelerated during the 1990s. Estimates place annual average migration, both permanent and temporary, to the U.S. during the 1990s in a range of 22,000 to 35,000 (Statistics Canada, 2000).

⁶ Canada accepts more immigrants and refugees, in proportion to its population, than any other country. In fact, one out of every six residents was born outside the country. The present immigration program is based on the Immigration Act of 1976, and was most recently amended in 1993. It is built on the fundamental principles of non-discrimination and universality. In the year 2000, Canada plans to accept between 200,000 to 225,000 immigrants (CIC, 2000).

⁷ Even after the Second World War, according to Li (1996), between 1954 and 1967 about 83 percent of immigrants who came to Canada were from Europe while 4 percent were from Asia, and 1 percent was from Africa.

factors such as education, age, experience, knowledge of English or French, intended occupation, pre-arranged employment, relatives in Canada, and personal suitability. It was under this new policy that more visible minority immigrants, including Chinese, started to come to Canada.

A significant event further opened Canada's doors to China. On June 4, 1989, the Chinese government, by using its military, quelled the students' protests at Tiananmen Square. This led to outrage among many Chinese, followed by the economic and diplomatic sanctions from the West. In response to this event, the Canadian government set up a special program to help those Chinese citizens who would like to seek political asylum in Canada. An official policy was also made not to deport anyone but criminals back to China. Under this program and policy, the first wave of post-Tiananmen refugees – many of whom were already in Canada as students, overwhelmingly had their immigration applications accepted based on humanitarian and compassionate grounds. Therefore, most students from China, including Chinese educators, were able to stay as permanent residents or were allowed to remain indefinitely in Canada following the military suppression of the students' democracy movement in Beijing.

Despite the growing numbers of Chinese students and immigrants, literature related to Chinese students' career development is sparse. Research specifically designed to investigate Chinese educators' career development experience in Canada is close to non-existent. Yet I consider the career development experiences of this particular group rather unique in that it is likely to pursue a career path that may not be

⁸ The reforms and "open-door" policy have greatly stimulated socioeconomic development in China since 1978. However, socioeconomic tensions also arose due to a growing gap between the rich and the poor, high inflation, widespread alleged corruption of government officials as well as a call for more freedom and democracy. These ignited the student demonstrations of April and May 1989 and quickly spread to the whole country. On the morning of June 4th, the government quelled the demonstrations on Tiananmen Square by military action.

The military suppression of the pro-democracy demonstrations created an effective pretext for many people to make their refugee claims in Canada. It is estimated that most Chinese who came to Canada after June 4, 1989 to early 1990 were accepted as political refugees. Many students who were already in Canada also overwhelmingly had their claims accepted. Later arrivals had a harder time persuading adjudicators they were not merely seekers of economic opportunity. 4,500 Chinese who sought asylum in Canada after the uprising were denied status as refugees (The Washington Post, 1994).

so stereotypically Chinese in nature.¹⁰ Their career development experiences in Canada therefore warrant special examination. The other reason which has helped prompt this study is my capacity as a Chinese educator. Therefore, this study will serve as a beacon which I hope will light my future career direction.

1.3 Statement of the Problem

The purpose of this study is to contribute to the scant body of knowledge regarding Chinese educators' career development experience in Canada. Due to data limitations, it is not easy to determine precisely how many Chinese educators have obtained permanent residence status in Canada. However, based on my personal observations and experience, many of those who have come to Canada to pursue graduate studies in education have chosen to stay permanently. It is therefore important to look at their career development experience in this country. Given the nature of my inquiry, which requires me to explore the participants' lived experiences, I have chosen a qualitative research approach. In-depth interviewing and interpretive analysis of the transcripts is the primary research methodology. In this study, I examined the career development experiences narrated by these Chinese educators in terms of social, cultural, and political factors embedded in these narratives. Dimensions such as conceptualization of career, barriers, identity, acculturation and self-efficacy beliefs were explored to determine if there is a link between these dimensions and the participants' career development. 12

Throughout the study, I focused on one central question, "What are the factors affecting Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada?" With this, the following secondary questions were also addressed:

¹⁰ A stereotype is a perceived, standardized, and oversimplified impression of a person, race, situation, etc. associated with specific attributes, particularly those of color and culture. Traditionally and stereotypically, Chinese choose occupations such as medicine, business, science, and engineering. On the one hand, it reflects the prestige and financial security associated with those professions. On the other hand, it is also a result of occupational segregation imposed by the dominant group.

¹¹ Most of the Chinese educators I know have applied for and obtained landed immigrant status in Canada. Through other channels, I also learned that many Chinese educators in other geographic areas in Canada have also become Canadian permanent residents. Based on these random statistics, I presume that most Chinese educators in Canada, upon completion of their studies, attempt to arrange to stay in Canada permanently.

¹² Self-efficacy refers to confidence in or expectations about one's performance capabilities.

- 1. How do Chinese educators conceptualize career?
- 2. What sociocultural factors do Chinese educators believe affect their career aspirations and choices?
- 3. What barriers do Chinese educators perceive and experience in their career search in Canada?
- 4. How do Chinese educators' beliefs about self and ethnic identity influence their career development?
- 5. How do Chinese educators' beliefs about career affect their career development?

1.4 Significance of the Study and Its Potential Impacts

An investigation of the career development experiences of Chinese educators in Canada may have particular social significance in that many Chinese educators who have come to Canada to pursue graduate studies choose to stay in Canada as permanent residents. Career issues affect not only their personal lives including their health, but also have a potential impact on race and ethnic relations in Canada. Prejudice, discrimination, differential opportunity system, and occupational segregation are possible consequences. Ethnic communities may be alienated, and successful integration of professional immigrants may be impeded. Therefore, it is of great social importance to look at what these Chinese educators' career experiences are in Canada.

The study is intellectually significant in that it may result in new knowledge about the linkages between social, cultural, and political contexts within which Chinese educators' concept of career is formed and how it is related to their career development in Canada. In addition, exploring their perceptions and experiences of barriers, their racial identity attitudes, acculturation as well as self-efficacy beliefs may shed light on the role that these dimensions may play in Chinese educators' career development experiences. This study hopefully will also stimulate future research in this area.

¹³ Prejudice is usually a negative attitude developed toward members of a group; it is an opinion made in advance and not based on evidence. Discrimination refers to the behavior resulting from prejudice. It grants or denies individuals or groups opportunities and rewards based on group characteristics such as ethnicity, sex, class, religion, and language (Ghosh, 1996). Differential opportunity system, according to Ghosh (1996), manifests institutional racism. It may directly or indirectly, consciously or unconsciously, encourage, support or solidify differential privilege based on race. Occupational segregation refers to the distribution of members of an ethnic group across occupations, such that they are overrepresented in some and underrepresented in others (Leong & Chou, 1994).

The potential impacts of the study include the ability to inform the work of agencies across Canada that provide services and supports to ethnic minorities, especially to Chinese educators who need assistance in career counseling and guidance. The potential impacts also include ability to inform decisions made by federal and provincial policy makers whose responsibilities relate to human resources development of Canadians (including, but are not limited to racial/ethnic minorities).

Ultimately, Chinese educators have the most to gain from the ability of findings to inform policies and programs that could potentially enhance their career development in Canada. Through the research, Chinese educators may gain insights on the career development issues that are relevant to them.

1.5 Definition of the Terms

The following terms warrant explicit definition to ensure consistency in usage throughout the study. They are presented here by the alphabetical order.

Acculturation—Acculturation refers to a process that occurs when people from two or more cultures come into contact, with the minority culture absorbing some or all of the culture, traditions, language, values and beliefs of the majority culture.

Acculturation can occur to varying degree including assimilation, integration, separation, and marginalization (Spink, 1999).¹⁴

Career—Super (1976) defines it as "the course of events that constitutes a life: the sequence of occupations and other life roles which combine to express one's commitment to work in his or her pattern of self-development" (p.4).

Career development—Career development is defined as "the total constellation of psychological, sociological, educational, physical, economic, and chance factors that

Kalin & Berry (1994) explains that assimilation is when "the desire for cultural maintenance is low, combined with a preference for contact with others". They further note that, "when there is minimal interest or possibility of either", i.e., cultural maintenance and other group contact, then it is a process often referred to as marginalization (p.301). Integration is defined as a process where an immigrant feels he or she has equal access to and wishes to participate in the social, political, and cultural institutions of the host culture (Spink, 1999). Another phenomenon often associated with acculturation is the acculturative stress. It usually means certain behaviors and experiences that arise from the acculturation process which are mildly pathological and disruptive to the individual and his group, for example, deviant behavior, psychosomatic symptoms, and feelings of marginalization, to name a few (Berry, 1980).

combine to shape the career of any given individual" (National Vocational Guidance Association, 1973, p.8). 15

Chinese educators—In this study, Chinese educators refer to individuals who were born in China and who have obtained graduate degrees in education in Canada or China but live and work in Canada as permanent residents or Canadian citizens.

Culture—Culture is defined as the total of all aspects of daily life that are learned by an individual and that determinedly affect that person's behaviour, providing a sense of order, security and identity, and yet paradoxically maintaining a state of continuous change (Barer-Stein, 1993).

Identity— Identity is based on several elements such as race, gender, nationality and sexual preference. It emerges at the individual level, but each person also has several social identities (gender, ethnic, and class affiliations) that have implications at the political and social/cultural levels. Identities are always in the making and are the result of an individual's history and culture, class, and ethnicity/race as well as their experiences as male and female (Ghosh, 1996). 16

Racial/ethnic identity—In this study, racial/ethnic identity refers to a sense of belonging to a particular racial and ethnic group, along with the values, attitudes, feelings, and cognitions that accompany that sense of group membership (Phinney, 1998).

Class refers to one's socioeconomic status, which is related to education, occupation, and income. According to Ghosh (1996), it is often evaluated in terms of skilled versus unskilled, intellectual versus manual labor, and professional versus blue-collar workers. This distinction is based on occupational level as well as the quality of our possessions, such as the make of the car we drive.

¹⁵ Wolfe & Kolb (1980) defined *career development* as involving one's whole life: "career development involves one's whole life, not just occupation. As such, it concerns the whole person, needs and wants, capacities and potentials, excitements and anxieties, insights and blind spots, warts and all. More than that, it concerns him/her in the ever-changing contexts of his/her life. The environmental pressures and constraints, the bonds that tie him/her to significant others, responsibilities to children and aging parents, the total structure of one's circumstances are also factors that must be understood and reckoned with. In these terms, career development and personal development converge. Self and circumstances—evolving, changing, unfolding in mutual interaction—constitute the focus and the drama of career development" (pp. 1-2).

¹⁶ The Canadian Oxford Dictionary (1998) defines *race* as each of the major divisions of humankind,

The Canadian Oxford Dictionary (1998) defines *race* as each of the major divisions of humankind, having distinct physical characteristics (p. 1188). By contrast, the word *ethnicity* is more focused on the cultural or historical aspects, such as religion, language, customs, institutions, and history. *Gender*, according to Ambert (1976), is a social construct. It is "one's characteristics or traits determined socially as a result of one's sex" (The Canadian Oxford Dictionary, 1998, p.581).

1.6 Limitations and Delimitations

There are several limitations to this study. One of the most obvious limitations is that I am a Chinese educator. Therefore, I may assume that I have a better understanding of the participants than a researcher who is not in the same capacity. The participants, more so than those of other ethnicity, may also assume that I am quite familiar with some, if not all, of their experiences. While this may increase mutual understanding, the assumption itself may limit the endeavors to further explore the participants' career development experiences.

Another limitation comes from within. I believe that my racial/ethnic identity has affected the way I see myself, others, and society. The way I look at career, my personal, cultural and social background will unavoidably influence the way I conduct this research. However, I will do my best to acknowledge this subjective lens, making it explicit in my analysis and reporting of the data.

A third limitation extends from the language chosen for the interviews. While English is not the first language of either the researcher or participants, it was chosen for ease of transcription and data analysis. Participants may not have described their experiences in English with the same freedom and cadence that might have characterized a conversation entirely in Mandarin.

There are some delimitations in this study. First of all, this study focuses on Chinese educators from mainland Chinese backgrounds; therefore Chinese educators from other backgrounds are excluded. I believe that Chinese educators from different socioeconomic, sociocultural, and sociopolitical backgrounds are likely to have different career development experiences.

Second, I chose a small group of participants (five) from a single medium-sized city in western Canada and therefore they may not represent the Chinese educators in other social contexts in Canada. In addition, only one interview was held with each participant, thus delimiting the amount of information and the way in which it was represented.

1.7 My Own Story as a Chinese Educator

Because this thesis is closely linked with my own experiences, both in the research question and the issues I have addressed while interpreting the study's findings, I wish to invite the reader further into my own story as an educator who immigrated to Canada from China and is currently pursuing an educational career in Canada. My experiences are not unlike many Chinese who have emigrated to the West.

I was born in a northeast county in Heilongjiang Province, China in 1966, the same year that Chairman Mao started the Cultural Revolution. During the ten-year revolution, schools were closed nationwide. Chinese youth, most of them were students, became Mao's Red Guards. Three of my brothers and one sister were among millions of students who were Mao's loyal followers, leaving school and thus losing secondary education and the chance to go on to universities. Compared with them, I was the lucky one: the Cultural Revolution ended shortly after I started elementary school. So I had a relatively uninterrupted secondary education. My mother's vision and motivation in particular were driving forces behind my success.

In 1985, I passed the highly competitive national college and university entrance examination administered nationwide in July each year and was accepted into the English Department at Heilongjiang University in Harbin. Here, I had teachers from Canada, USA, Britain, and Australia. For the first time in my life, I learned about Western countries and cultures through direct contact with foreigners. It opened up a whole new world in front of me.

At that particular time in China, especially in the aftermath of Tiananmen Square, most university graduates were not allowed to choose their own jobs. Instead, the university assigned them to different places according to their grades, political behaviour as well as performances in other fields such as music, sports or arts. The degree of involvement in the students' democracy movement was an important factor in the school's decisions regarding where a student should be assigned. At that time, the best positions were in import and export businesses, travel services, and foreign affairs departments of governments at different levels. Teaching positions in universities and colleges were not regarded as really good choices. Although I achieved excellent academic standing, my political record was not as equally impressive, nor was I strong

in music, sports or arts. Therefore, I was assigned to be a teacher in the Harbin Teachers' Training College. I was not unhappy because I looked forward to teaching people English, a subject I had always enjoyed.

After four years of teaching, I decided to go to North America to continue my studies. However, at that time in China, an employee was like the private property of a Dan Wei or work unit. To apply for a passport, one had to obtain the approval from his or her Dan Wei first. My college refused to endorse my application, so I had to resign my position. Resignation was a risky business, meaning loss of security and stable income. In fact, I was the first one in the college's history who had resigned a position. Many people in the college seemed to believe that I would suffer because of what they perceived as recklessness and stupidity of resigning my work in such a rash manner.

Over the next three years while I applied for visas to the US and Canada, I had no place to stay except secretly in the college's dormitory for the unmarried teachers. I could be evicted at any time. I managed to find part-time work in a local representative office of a US trading firm as a translator, but I found myself marginalized because I was not working for a state-owned business. I was perceived by others as having no job security and therefore unable to provide for the family. I internalized this belief and was in a constant state of panic.

Eventually I came to Canada in 1996 with a visitor's visa and Student Authorization as well as dreams and hopes of a better future. I struggled with culture shock and financial difficulties, and thought of going back to China. However, in order not to "lose face", I decided to stay. Although I found various part-time jobs to cover my tuition and living expenses, the juggling of work and worry interrupted my studies.

Finding a job in Canada after my graduation is another challenge. Families and friends of Chinese students wish them to stay in Canada because having a family member abroad, especially in Western countries can bring them honour, prestige as well as some practical benefits such as sending money home, helping family members, relatives or friends with studying or working abroad. This has been internalized by the students, who feel an obligation to preserve face for themselves and families. I am no exception in this regard.

The Chinese students at the University of Alberta often compare to see who has obtained a secure job in Canada, how much annual income, what kind of house or car is purchased and so on. Many of my friends who were originally studying in humanities and social sciences fields have switched to computer or business programs at the university or NAIT to obtain a good job. As part of the Chinese student community in Edmonton, I have to admit that this trend has undermined my confidence in pursuing a Canadian career in education. For a time, I did not know what I was going to do in the future. I found myself asking questions such as "Should I follow my dreams or should I pursue a stable income?", "In searching for a job, what are my strengths and weaknesses?", "What factors might help or impede my job search?" and so on. These questions led me to this study.

In this study, I would like to find out what factors affect Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. Thus, I can help not only my own career search, but also those of other Chinese educators who are in a similar situation as me. I would also like to demystify some of the stereotypes surrounding Chinese educators or others who are studying in a field which is not deemed as "practical" by others and are therefore doomed to have a "poor" job prospects. Some larger goals of this study include contributing to the scant body of research on Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada and also hoping to foster healthy racial and ethnic relations within the Canadian multicultural context.

1.8 Organization of the Thesis

This thesis consists of five chapters. Chapter One, an overview, includes the context of the study, statement of the problem, significance of the study, its potential impacts, a definition of the terms, delimitations and limitations of the study, my personal story as a Chinese educator as well as an organization of this thesis.

Chapter Two is a review of related literature, also known as the conceptual framework. Literature related to career development, race, ethnicity, barriers, racial identity and acculturation as well as self-efficacy beliefs have been reviewed.

Chapter Three focuses on the research methodology. This includes the design of the study, selection of participants, procedures of data collection and analysis,

trustworthiness of data, and ethical considerations. Participants' background information was also given without using their real names. In addition, the use of English in the data collection phase and its impact on data collection and analysis in particular were explained in this chapter.

The findings of this qualitative study are provided in Chapter Four. This is followed by a critical interpretation of the major findings. The presentation and interpretation of the findings were arranged on the basis of the five major categories which were used to group the research questions.

The concluding chapter, Chapter Five, is a conclusion of the study. It includes a summary of major findings, implications of this study as well as recommendations for future research.

CHAPTER TWO REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

2.1 Introduction

My first task in this chapter entails exploring some of the literature which discusses the interrelationship of work, jobs and careers. As Super (1992) notes, "One of the central, innovative, and yet old, ideas that are highlighting thinking about career development is the distinction between work, jobs, and careers" (p. 422). Therefore, understanding the meanings of these three terms becomes a critical first task.

I begin the review of literature on career development by first looking at career choice. The differences between career choice content and career choice process are identified. This is followed by Roe's (1990) career choice model and Holland's (1985) theory of vocational choice. Next, research on occupational choice from the sociological perspective is introduced. Blau and Duncan's (1967) status-attainment approach and Horan's (1978) dual-economy theory become the focus. I then elaborate on John Krumboltz's (1979) theory of career decision-making. After this, I turn to career maturity and discuss the theory of Ginzberg (1972) and associates—in particular, Super's (1955) occupational self-concept theory, which is believed to be more explicit and extensive than other theories and models on career choice. Finally, theories and models relating to racial/ethnic minority person's career development are discussed. For this purpose, I focus on Gottfredson's (1986) "at risk" framework and Carter and Cook's (1992) culturally relevant model on racial/ethnic minority person's career development.

This chapter then shifts from career development concerns to address the cultural influences which impact racial/ethnic minority person's career development. Two distinct cultural systems, i.e., individualistic and collectivistic cultures, and the characteristics associated with them are identified and described. I then briefly elaborate on the East Asian culture and family systems with an emphasis on Chinese culture, especially in terms of parental wishes, family members' and ethnic group expectations.

The next focus of this literature review is on individual and structural barriers that adversely affect racial/ethnic minority persons' career development. These barriers include, but are not limited to racism, occupational discrimination, non-recognition of foreign credentials, occupational stereotyping, classism, sexism, perceptions of opportunities, lack of educational preparation and role models as well as English language competency.

Finally, this chapter reviews literature pertaining to racial identity and acculturation in the context of Asian minority persons' career development.

Several Asian minority persons' ethnic identity and acculturation models have been introduced.

2.2 Career Development

For the purpose of this study, I limited career development literature to the following four areas: the interrelationship among work, jobs and careers, career choice, career maturity as well as career development of racial and ethnic minorities. These literatures were reviewed in the following section.

2.2.1 Work, Jobs and Careers

To some people, career is equivalent to "vocation", ¹⁷ which refers exclusively to long-term remunerative work experiences (Hernandez, 1992). To others, career means more than that. What exactly is career? What is the distinction between work, jobs and careers? These are old questions yet remain central to career and career development today. To gain more insights on career and career development, it seems quite necessary first to have a clear understanding of the meanings of work, jobs and careers. According to Super (1992),

Work is the expenditure of effort, which may be paid as in employment or self-employment, or unpaid as in homemaking, civic activity, or a hobby. A job is created when others are willing to pay for a service or a product, and normally means working for an employer or oneself (it can also mean a task or a contract, such as

¹⁷ The Canadian Oxford Dictionary (1998) defines *vocation* as one's employment, esp. regarded as requiring dedication.

painting a fence or writing a book). A job may involve one of many positions, filled by people doing much the same work. An occupation is a group of similar jobs, which may be in different organizations and locations. And a career, it seems necessary to keep noting, is the sequence of positions, jobs, and occupations that a person occupies and pursues during a course of a life or preparing to work, working, and retiring from work (p. 422).

Super's definition of career is a big step forward from that of the pre-1950s when career development was viewed as mainly focused on occupational choice. Over the past few decades, the meanings of career and career development have been evolving. In the 1950s, the term *vocation* became popular and *vocational development* appeared in the literature to describe the broadening view of occupational choice. The 1960s witnessed a major shift from vocation to *career*, and hence from vocational development to *career development*. As Gysbers (1984) notes, "This expanded view of career and career development was more useful than the earlier view of career development as occupational choice because it broke the time barrier previously restricting the vision of career development to a cross-sectional view of an individual's life" (p.620). As Super and Bohn (1970) point out, "It is well ... to keep clear the distinction between occupation (what one does) and career (the course pursued over a period of time)" (p. 15).

The definitions of career and career development became broader and more encompassing in the 1970s and 1980s. ¹⁸ Jones et.al. (1972) define career as including a variety of possible patterns of personal choice involving an individual's whole life. Gysbers and Moore (1975) propose the concept of life career development in an effort to broaden and extend career development from an occupational perspective to a life perspective. By the same token, Super (1981) proposes a definition of career and he calls it *the life career rainbow*. His notion is that career involves the interaction of various life roles over the life span. For Super, the term career is seen not merely as job,

¹⁸ Stumpf (1984) defines career as "a sequence of work-related positions and activities throughout a person's life" (p.190). According to John Maanen (1977), career is a series of distinct experiences which may be related and which constitute an individual's life. However, compared with Super's (1981) definition, these two definitions are more limited in that they exclude nonwork roles. For Super, the term career refers to the combination and sequence of all the roles an individual may play during his or her lifetime.

but a progression of life experiences, roles, and choices. Super's definition may be one of the most accepted definitions of career in the field of career development today.

2.2.2 Career Choice

Crites (1981) makes the distinction between career choice content and career choice process in career decision-making. According to Crites (1981), career choice content refers to a specific occupation that an individual has selected. Career choice content theories predict career choices from individual characteristics. For example, Roe (1990) assumes that the type of parental environment in which an individual is brought up predicts occupational choice. Holland (1985) predicts occupation from personality type using a six-category typology. Some sociologists have predicted occupational choice from demographic dimensions such as age, gender, and socioeconomic status. By contrast, career choice process refers to the dimensions involved in arriving at that specific occupation. Career choice process theories look at the influences on career decision-making and outcomes of interactions among influences and stress the process of career planning and development. John Krumboltz's (1979) theory of career decision-making is an example that incorporates both the content and process aspects of career choice.

Based on Maslow's (1954) concept of basic needs, Roe's (1990) theoretical model predicts occupational choice from childhood relationships with parents. ¹⁹ Her goal is to identify the origin of interests and needs. As Roe (1990) notes, "In our society there is no single situation that is potentially so capable of giving some satisfaction at all levels of basic needs as the occupation" (p. 69). Roe develops a classification scheme based on the primary activities of occupations. ²⁰ She then hypothesizes three categories of parental behavior toward children. ²¹ These childhood

¹⁹ Maslow's basic needs include: (a) the physiological needs, (b) the safety needs, (c) the need for belongingness and love, (d) the need for importance, respect, self-esteem, and independence, (e) the need for information, (f) the need for understanding, (g) the need for beauty, and (h) the need for self-actualization.

Roe classifies eight occupation groups: (1) service, (2) business contact, (3) managerial, (4) technology, (5) outdoor, (6) science, (7) general culture, and (8) arts and entertainment.
 The three categories of parental behavior toward children are: (1) emotional concentration on the child,

The three categories of parental behavior toward children are: (1) emotional concentration on the child (2) avoidance, (3) acceptance.

environments are then related in a predictive way to occupations dichotomized to be either person-oriented or not person-oriented. This psychoanalytic approach represents an initial contribution for understanding and explaining career development. However, its lack of empirical support and its exclusive focus on early experiences make it inadequate for theory building about adult career choices and development.

Holland's (1985) theory of vocational choice is essentially a typology which characterizes aspects of vocational behavior. The four primary assumptions of Holland's theory are (1) in our culture, there are six personality types: realistic, investigative, artistic, social, enterprising, and conventional; (2) there are six corresponding environments: realistic, investigative, artistic, social, enterprising, and conventional; (3) people look for environments that will let them "exercise their skills and abilities, express their attitudes and values, and take on agreeable problems and roles" (Minor, 1992, p. 24); and (4) behavior is determined by the interaction between personality and environment. Holland (1985) states that people search environments in which they can express their personalities. Although his theory is descriptive, simplistic and supported by widespread empirical research, it fails to describe adequately the developmental aspects associated with career development.

Sociological research on occupational choice uses basically demographic variables to predict types of occupations entered. It emphasizes factors which are beyond the control of the individual. These factors include father's education and occupation, educational level, race, gender, and influence of significant others. There are several major focuses of the sociological study on career development. One is the area of status attainment.²² Blau and Duncan (1967) develop a model that postulates that the social status of one's parents affects one's academic achievement, which in turn affects the occupational levels that one achieves. Blau and Duncan erect a framework,

The basic premise in the status-attainment model is that career statuses indicators, such as education, occupation and income, are passed from generation to generation by a series of interpersonal processes. Significance-other influences (parental status, children's contact with parents, with other adults and peers who come from the similar backgrounds) shape the children's attitudes and status levels. The original Blau-Duncan scheme is expanded substantially by the so-called Wisconsin Model (Sewell, Haller, & Portes, 1969). The Wisconsin Model adds cognitive variables and social-psychological processes to Blau & Duncan's original version. They are added to measure the mental ability, academic performance in school as well as significant-other influences for the achievement of one's occupational status.

but there are limitations to their model. One limitation is that it does not account for race and gender effects on career outcomes. Furthermore, it does not address critical issues regarding demand-side effects imposed by the labor market.

Another area of sociological research on occupations involves labor market and economic systems. Horan (1978) proposes a dual-economy theory in which two economic sectors (the core and the periphery) have been identified, and hence a dual labor market (the primary and the secondary) is generated. Entry into each sector is largely controlled by the employers based on criteria such as race, gender and history of stable employment. Mobility between the two labor markets is highly restricted. This theory represents a critical supplement to the traditional status-attainment and human capital approaches because it emphasizes the importance of demand for labor rather than concentrating on supply or individual characteristics that affect productivity. In spite of the merits, it fails to explain the psychological processes present in career development.

John Krumboltz's (1979) theory of career decision-making is an application of Bandura's (1977) social learning theory.²⁴ In this model, four influences on career decision-making are described: genetic endowments, environmental conditions, learning experiences, and task approach skills. As a result of interaction among the preceding four factors, three outcomes can be predicted. The first is the development of self-observation generalizations. The second outcome is the development of task approach skills and the final outcome of these interactions is action. Krumboltz's theory focuses primarily on entry behavior. It does not advocate a developmental model, and this is perhaps its biggest weakness.

The primary focus of dual-economy research is generally on income differentials between labor market sectors. While the large firms in the core sector have control over employees by offering them higher wages, job security and opportunity for advancement, those who do not enter the primary labor market at a young age are supposedly put at a disadvantaged position.

24 Bandura's social learning theory assumes that the individual personalities and behaviors arise primarily

from their unique learning experiences. This does not imply that humans are passive organisms controlled by the environment. The theory recognizes that humans are intelligent, problem solving and have the capacity to control the environment to suit their own purposes and needs. According to the theory, there are three learning experiences, i.e., instrumental, associative, and vicarious learning experiences.

2.2.3 Career Maturity

Ginzberg's (1972) career maturity theory represents an attempt to identify the major dimensions in occupational decision-making throughout the life span. His basic assumption is that individuals reach ultimate vocational choices through a series of decisions over a period of many years. There are three main elements in his theory. First, occupational choice is a process that remains open as long as people make decisions about their career. Second, early decisions have a shaping influence on career, but so do continuing changes of work and life. Third, "people make decisions with the aim of optimizing satisfaction by finding the best possible fit between their needs and desires and the opportunities and constraints in the world of work" (p. 173). Ginzberg's model has stimulated both research and theorizing, however, lack of attention to women and those of different race and socioeconomic status is perhaps the biggest failure of his model.

Super (1955) presents a development theory that is much more explicit and extensive. His theory is essentially a developmental self-concept theory of vocational behavior. Super proposes the notion that a person strives to implement his self-concept by choosing to enter the occupation he sees as most likely to permit him self-expression. Furthermore, he suggests that the particular behaviors a person engages in to implement his vocational self-concept reflect the individual's stage of life development. Hence, on the basis of these principles, Super generates ten propositions which underlie a vocational development theory. A significant contribution of Super's theory is the idea that career development and even career choices are the result of a process rather than being a point-in-time event. He also presents the idea that career

Super's original ten propositions are: (1) people differ in abilities, interests and personalities; (2) they are qualified each for a number of occupations; (3) each occupation requires certain abilities, interests and personality traits, with tolerances wide enough; (4) people's self-concepts change with time and experience; (5) the process can be summed up as stages of growth, exploration, establishment, maintenance, and decline; (6) parents' socioeconomic status, mental ability and personality as well as opportunities to which one is exposed determine one's career pattern; (7) one's career maturity and self-concept are important to the career development; (8) one's career development process is essentially that of developing and implementing one's self-concept. It is a compromise process; (9) the compromise between individual and social factors, between self-concept and reality is one of role-playing, and (10) career and life satisfaction depend on whether one can find a match between career and his abilities, interests and personality traits, and values.

choices and career development could be described by means of stages. Super's theory is a well-ordered, highly systematic representation of the process of vocational maturation. However, the original version is thought by some critics to be too general and lacking details. Later versions are much more detailed, but important social and economic factors which may influence career decisions are not included in his theory.

2.2.4 Career Development of Racial/Ethnic Minorities

Literature with regard to the career development of racial and ethnic minorities has convincingly pointed out the inadequacies of career development theories and research that concern this particular group. Smith (1983) states that,

life stage development as typically described by career theorists may have limited generalizability to racial minorities. External constraints, limited economic resources, and racial discrimination make the concept of life-stage career development for racial minorities more of a dream than a reality for all but the most persistent, the most fortunate, and the group or mixture of individuals perceived as most socially desirable within a given racial group (p.186).

In addition, according to Smith, within a given racial group, employers perceive that only individuals who are most acculturated to the mainstream white standards are the most socially desired.

Brown and Brooks (1990) highlight the shortcomings of theories to explain racial/ethnic minority person's career development. Their argument is based on the erroneous assumptions, inapplicability of particular theoretical concepts and the omissions of important career determinants that are often associated with these theories. "One erroneous assumption is that people have an array of choices open to them; that is, they are free to choose among alternatives that are close to their interests, values, and abilities. Thus, the restrictions imposed by the sociopolitical environment are ignored" (Brown & Brook, 1990, p.384).

The complaint that the theories are developed to explain middle-class white males—a group viewed as having the advantage of psychological and economic resources that ensures optimal career development—points to the irrelevance of aspects

of certain theories pertaining to racial/ethnic minorities' career development. For example, Super's (1955) model of developmental stages, which proposes that career development is a sequential and continuous process, has been challenged to be inapplicable to poor racial/ethnic minority persons. Osipow (1975) argues that these people do not have the luxury of the exploration stage, instead they must find jobs in their early age and must then take a series of unrelated jobs interspersed by unemployment. Another example is that the higher-level occupational environments (for example, Enterprise, in Holland's 1985 model) may not be equally available to racial/ethnic minority persons and the white middle class.

Meanwhile, Griffith (1980) notes that one of the important dimensions for racial/ethnic minority person's career development—the constraining factors of the mainstream sociopolitical system, particularly racism and the effects of the differential opportunity system is often omitted. Smith (1975), after conducting a review of the career literature on racial and ethnic minorities, concludes that "studies have indicated that racism and its deleterious effects should be taken into consideration when analyzing the minority person's career development" (p. 48).

Despite the paucity of theories on racial/ethnic minority person's career development, some models pertaining to women's career development do seem to incorporate certain important concepts relevant to racial/ethnic minority persons. For example, the components of the structure of opportunity are addressed in Astin's (1984) theory, and the effects of self-efficacy on career behavior are articulated in Hackett and Betz (1981) model. However, the fact remains that a model to specifically explain and predict racial/ethnic minority person's career development has not been developed.

In an attempt to deal with some of these deficiencies, Gottfredson (1986) proposes that the barriers faced by special population can be conceptualized in an "at risk" framework. In essence, her premise is that special groups (even include white groups) face varying degrees of risk that creates career-choice problems. In her model, risk factors are "attributes of the person or of the person's relation to the environment that are associated with a higher-than-average probability of experiencing the types of problems under consideration" (Gottfredson, 1986, p.143). She postulates three categories of risk: (1) factors that cause people to be different from the general

population; (2) factors involving differences within one's own social group; and (3) factors involving family responsibilities. Gottfredson's contribution is that this framework avoids the "different is deficient" implication that emerges when analysis is confined to the problems of racial and ethnic groups. In her view, all groups are at risk in some areas; the risks are simply different.

Carter and Cook (1992) propose a model which is culturally relevant for understanding racial/ethnic minority person's career paths. Their model is a synthesis of the systems model and Okun's (1984) conceptual framework of adult career development. In the systems model, the elements and components associated with racial/ethnic minority person's career paths are conceptualized as a system. The whole system is the society and is characterized by its dominant cultural patterns. Each racial/ethnic minority group's culture contains separate subsystems within the larger dominant culture. The career behavior of each racial/ethnic minority person is therefore considered in the context of the whole system. According to Okun (1984), this systems approach suggests a dynamic interaction of internal factors and environmental dimensions and posits that "individual career and family paths are interrelated and that one dimension of development is viewed as multifaceted and interactional, and a continuous interplay of internal and external forces" (p.411).

Okun's (1984) theoretical model proposes that adult career development be understood in terms of the interactions of individual, family, and career life cycles.

Okun (1984) states that racial/ethnic minority person's career options are influenced by access to career opportunities and cultural, social, economic, and political circumstances. In addition, there exist tremendous group variations within and between the groups. Okun begins with the assumption that racial/ethnic minority person's career

²⁶ Okun argues that racial/ethnic minority person's career paths are a manifestation of the structure of the general society. According to systems theory, structure has three elements: boundaries, alignment, and power. Boundaries manifest the system's rules and regulations and they define the context in which interactions occur. Alignment is a pattern of subsystem joining. Different institutional subsystems in the dominant society function as separate subsystems that join or align with one another to achieve implicit sociocultural goals and uphold basic cultural values. Power refers to the ability of a person or group in the system to change or determine boundaries or alignments. For example, boundaries dictate what each person or group is allowed to do and how they are allowed to interact with the system. With regard to alignment, educational and occupational systems can collude to restrict the success and participation of racial/ethnic minority persons.

paths are shaped by sociocultural circumstances and their sociopolitical and historical-cultural backgrounds. Contrary to Okun's assumption, psychological and career development theorists begin with the assumption that the focus of development is the individual devoid of social, cultural, and political context.

2.3 Career and Culture

This section of the literature review focuses on the impacts of sociocultural influences on the career development of racial and ethnic minorities', particularly Chinese educators. Two distinct cultural systems, individual-oriented cultures and group-oriented cultures were presented and compared to draw insights into their impacts on career development. Following this, East Asian culture and families were explored with an emphasis on Chinese culture and family influences.

2.3.1 Individualistic and Collectivistic Cultures

The context in which all activities occur in a society is its culture (Conyne, 1998). Pope (1995) states that to be defined as a culture that group must

have their own geographic living areas, economic and social organizations, cultural traditions, and rituals. Further, a definition of what constitutes a cultural minority must transcend national boundaries, although which specific groups meet the requirements of this definition may vary from country to country (p. 302).

Asante (1987) states that individualistic and collectivistic cultures are two ways of constructing the world and making meaning.²⁷ Individualistic cultures can be characterized by being individualistic, independent, heterogeneous, Western, youth-oriented, and prefers precision in language use. In addition, this type of culture supports self-actualization goals, focuses on nuclear family, and supports the challenging of authority. Collectivistic cultures are often referred to as collectivistic, interdependent, homogeneous, traditional, and respecting older individuals. This type of culture supports group survival goals, focuses on the extended family, and supports

²⁷ Individualistic and collectivistic cultures are also termed as individual-oriented and group-oriented cultures in the literature.

conforming to authority, and prefers symbolic language. In this sense, North America is generally considered an individualistic society, whereas all Asian societies are considered collectivistic.

2.3.2 East Asian Culture and Families

East Asian cultural systems have been guided by the acceptance of a value system based on the work of the Chinese scholar, Confucius (551—479 B. C.).²⁸ As illustrated by Shon and Ja (1982),

Those systems do not stress independence and autonomy of the individual but rather that the individual is superseded by the family. Furthermore, the family adheres to the Confucianistic tradition of specific hierarchical roles established for all members. Rules of behaviour and conduct are formalized in members' roles to a greater extent than in most other cultures. An individual response and adherence to this mode of conduct becomes a reflection not of the individual but of the family and kinship network to which he or she belongs (p. 209).

In East Asian cultures, each individual is viewed as a product of his or her ancestry line from its beginning. Social interaction in East Asian families is usually done through "the use of shame and loss of face to reinforce prescribed sets of obligations" (Shon & Ja, 1982, p. 213). The concept of obligation is central in East Asian cultures and families. Obligation is "incurred either through the relationship of ascribed roles or status, such as those of parents and children, and employer and employee. The strongest obligation is to one's parents" (Carter & Cook, 1992, p.205). Family obligations are communicated in an indirect manner and by way of nonconfrontational strategies in order to maintain harmonious interpersonal relationships.

²⁸ Confucius: Chinese philosopher and educator. He spent much of his life as a moral teacher of a group of disciples, and his ideas about the importance of practical moral values formed the basis of the philosophy of Confucianism; his teachings were collected by his pupils after his death in the Analects. Confucianism is a system of philosophical and ethical teachings founded by Confucius in China in the 6th century B.C. and developed by Mencius in the 4th century, one of the two major Chinese ideologies (the other is Daoism). The basic concepts are ethical ones, for example love for one's fellows and filial piety, and the ideal of the superior man; traditional ideas such as yin and yang have also been incorporated into Confucianism.

The notion of obligation can also be manifested through East Asian parents' sacrifice for the sake of their children. For example, East Asian families immigrate to the U.S. or Canada for economic security. Therefore, parents usually do their utmost to provide basic necessities for the family. English language competency and workplace discrimination result in many working adults trapped in employment with little occupational mobility. These sacrifices are tolerated in the hope that their hard work will be rewarded by their children's future success.

For the purpose of long-term security, the most prevalent investment is to send the children to schools in hopes that professional careers, engineer or doctor, would provide the means for successful achievement, not only for the child but for the parents who made the educational and professional achievement possible (Shon & Ja, 1982, p.218).

Therefore, in East Asian cultures, the role of the family is highly complex and intertwined in personal problems (Chan, 1992). Pope et. al. (1998) state that "a person's career development and career advancement tends not to exist as an individual problem in a vacuum but rather within an embedded network of family obligations and expectations" (p.57). For East Asians, pursuing a career is not a personal matter of simply identifying one's interests and implementing the self-concept. Family expectations certainly play an important role in this equation.

Leong's (1991) research findings seem to support the above argument. He notes that East Asians are greatly influenced by their traditional cultures, and these cultural values are also reflected in career-related behaviors. For example, although still a contested issue, Leong (1991) find that East Asians are found to be quite dependent in their decision-making styles. They also demonstrate lower levels of career maturity and vocational identity than White Americans or Canadians. Another research conducted by Leong and Chou (1994) concludes that East Asians seem to choose a career that both satisfies their own interests and is acceptable to their parents. "Career choice and career advancement may be seen more as means of providing for one's own family, helping one's siblings, and fulfilling one's responsibility to care for parents in their old age than as ways of implementing self attributes" (p. 47). In other words, while North American

cultures regard career choice as a way of self-realization and fundamentally as an individual choice, East Asians view career as mutually beneficial for themselves and their families.

2.3.3 Chinese Culture and Family Influences

Chinese culture is essentially a collectivistic culture. Therefore, issues of family, collectivism, and conforming to authority are most important. In Chinese culture, achievements and prestige are highly valued. Failure to meet personal and parental expectations in education and career is often regarded as a shame and loss of face (Bond, 1986). According to Yu and Yang (1994), Chinese culture traditionally treasures scholarship, with parents transmitting to their children strong values of education and achievements. In addition, in a group-oriented culture, "external expectations are potent as the family or other in-group sets the standards, evaluates the individual's performance, and determines outcomes" (Liu, 1998, p.577).

There is a consensus in the career choice literature on persons of Chinese ancestry that parental influence is a factor of fundamental importance in terms of making their career choices. Parental wishes regarding occupational choice and respect for these wishes are theorized as an intrinsic part of cultural values (Beynon, Toohey, & Ksihor, 1998). Chinn and Wong (1992) articulate this commonly expressed view in this way:

The child's responsibility is to bring honor to the family, and this can be achieved by excelling in school, gaining admission to a good or prestigious college or university, and entering a high prestige or honorable profession upon graduation... It is not uncommon for parents to select a child's college or university or field of study; they may even select or influence choice of courses. Furthermore, the fields of study selected are characteristically those with high extrinsic rewards coupled with high prestige, such as medicine, dentistry, natural sciences, engineering, architecture, economics, accounting and computer science (pp. 120-121).

Therefore, career decisions in Chinese families are made in the total context of the person's life, family, and community. Among all the factors, parental wishes, family members' and ethnic group expectations are especially significant.

2.4 Career-Related Barriers

Chinese educators, like any other racial or ethnic groups, encounter barriers in their career search experiences in Canada. In this study, the barriers that these Chinese educators perceived and/or experienced were classified into two categories: individual barriers and institutional barriers. I focused the literature review on the following aspects of barriers: racism, occupational discrimination, segregation, stereotyping, perception of opportunities, lack of role models, socioeconomic status, educational background, English language competency, minority women as well as devaluation of foreign credentials. These barriers were elaborated upon in the following sections.

2.4.1 Racism

Although the majority of people look upon racism as outrageous and offensive these days, it has not always been the case and racism is still alive in Canada in complex forms. ²⁹ A close look at Canadian history reveals that racism towards Asian immigrants, especially Chinese was systemized and institutionalized. ³⁰ Walker (1997) states that even decisions of the Supreme Court of Canada, well into this century, fail noticeably to move beyond racist dictates of the day. Walker bases his view on several Supreme Court cases where race is the basic issue. For example, the Quong Wing case involves a Saskatchewan law passed in 1912 that made it illegal for a Chinese Canadian to employ a white woman. Quong Wing, a naturalized citizen, hired two women to work in his restaurant in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan, and this led to a charge and a five-dollar fine. He refused to pay the fine and with the support of the Chinese community took the case to the Supreme Court, where he lost. According to Walker (1997), such a verdict would be considered shocking today.

Other blatantly racist acts against Chinese Canadians include the notorious Chinese Head Tax (1885-1923) and the Chinese Exclusion Act (1923-1947). The Head

²⁹ In her book "The Caribbean Diaspora in Toronto: Learning to Live with Racism", Henry (1994) states that racism encompasses four components, i.e., individual racism, institutional racism, systemic racism, and cultural/ideological racism.

Jim Walker is professor of history at University of Waterloo. His book is entitled "Race, Rights and the Law of the Supreme Court of Canada", and is based on research into four Supreme Court cases, i.e., Quong Wing vs. The King; Christie vs. York Corp.; Noble & Wolf vs. Alley; and Narine-Singh vs. Attorney General of Canada.

Tax was levied against all Chinese immigrants to Canada. It started at \$50 in 1885 and reached \$500 in 1923. From 1885 to 1923, more than 81,000 Chinese paid a total of \$23 million in Head Taxes. At the same time, immigrants from Europe were given land and monetary grants to settle in Canada. The Chinese Exclusion Act replaced the Head Tax in 1923. Under this new law, Chinese immigrants were virtually barred until the Act was repealed in 1947. According to the Chinese Canadian National Council (CCNC; 1995), the Canadian government not only violated human rights and committed a gross and blatant form of racism when it enacted and applied legislation to charge the Chinese Head Tax and to exclude Chinese immigrants to Canada—thereby separating families—but the government is perpetrating a continuing injustice and violation against Head Tax payer and their families by unduly prolonging the resolution of the redress issue and refusing to negotiate a fair settlement. Now, the United Nations Human Rights Commission has been asked to help settle the redress claims of thousand of victims of the Chinese Head Tax and the Chinese Exclusion Act.

A recent study funded by the Canadian Race Relations Foundation (CRRF) concludes that racism continues to exist in Canada's English print media (Henry & Tator, 1999). The study examines two decades of research on racism in the print media and shows how media practitioners continue to misrepresent and reinforce negative stereotypes of people of color and Aboriginal peoples. The study finds that the media are strongly influenced by racialized assumptions, beliefs and practices and continue to construct and present visible minorities as social problems and outsiders that could undermine the European Canadian way of life (1999). The study shows that despite the media's claims of objectivity and neutrality, racism finds its way into the language, images and ideas that are presented in the English Canadian newspapers on a dismayingly regular basis. This is quite alarming because the print media play an influential role in shaping the public opinion.

Throughout Canadian history, East Asians, especially Chinese, have been portrayed as both the yellow peril and the model minority. Both narratives exist side by

The Chinese Canadian National Council (CCNC) is a national organization mandated to promote the equitable participation of Chinese Canadians in all aspects of society. It has been leading the redress campaign at the behest of the Head Taxpayers, spouses and descendents since 1984.

The study, Racist Discourse in Canada's English Print Media is undertaken by Dr. Henry and Tator.

side and validate each other. Okihiro (1994) argues that the model minority narrative arise out of the yellow peril discourse in order to deal with its presence. According to Park (1997), the yellow peril comes from White fear of losing power, whether real or imagined. Therefore, the yellow peril is used to justify White domination. Similarly, the model minority stereotype validates the status quo. It serves to deny the oppression of East Asians and reinforce the oppression of other minorities. This stereotype questions the efficacy of government social programs and validates the belief in culture being the source of a group's successes and failures for the purpose of legitimation of a "just" society. It legitimizes the denial of racism, silences East Asians who do not fit the stereotype and ignores the history of East Asian resistance to racism. Lee (1996) recognizes that:

The model minority stereotype is dangerous because it tells Asian Americans and other minorities how to behave. The stereotype is dangerous because it is used against other minority groups to silence claims of inequality. It is dangerous because it silences the experiences of Asian Americans who can/do not achieve model minority success. And finally, this stereotype is dangerous because some Asian Americans may use the stereotype to judge their selfworth (p.125).

Griffith (1980) argues that racism and the effects of differential opportunity system in the mainstream North American society have a detrimental effect to the career development of racial/ethnic minorities. Racist thinking or cultural disadvantage assumptions are not uncommon in the career development literature. Among other characteristics, the literature suggests that racial/ethnic minorities lack positive work-role models, are vocationally immature, have negative self-images, have limited occupational mobility, have restricted interests and low career expectations, and are more interested in job security than in self-fulfillment (Brown & Brooks, 1990). Smith (1975) indicates that "racism and its deleterious effects should be taken into consideration when analyzing racial/ethnic minority person's career development" (p. 48).

2.4.2 Occupational Discrimination

The existence of racial discrimination in modern Canadian society is an indisputable fact. To many racial/ethnic minorities, racial discrimination is a way of life beyond their ability to alter, eliminate, or avoid. According to Okocha (1994), racial/ethnic minorities as a whole face many problems as they prepare for the labor force. He states that the main problem is "the racist, oppressive, discriminating, sociopolitical mainstream society that often leads to inequality in the educational preparation of non-Whites versus Whites. This creates not only psychological problems for persons of color but also limits their career opportunities" (p. 107). One result is that they usually suffer from low occupational self-efficacy. The other is that they tend to seek employment where they can find role models to identify with. This may indirectly contribute to more occupational segregation.

There is often a misconception about Asian minorities that they do not suffer as much discrimination as other minority groups in terms of career development because of the *model minority* myth (Leong & Chou, 1994). But according to Sodowsky et al. (1991), occupational discrimination occurs in almost every field Asian minorities choose. Discrimination is usually characterized by lower pay, poorer reviews, or fewer promotions than would be expected on the basis of credentials and performance. Another prevailing form of discrimination which exists mostly in the business world, and is typically associated with women, is the presence of *glass ceiling* phenomenon.³³ Leong and Chou (1994) argue that North Americans of European descent are able to attain the highest possible positions in the business world with hard work and diligent effort, but Asians are rarely able to reach those positions, regardless of years of work and productivity.

2.4.3 Occupational Segregation and Stereotyping

Numerous researchers have discussed the impact of occupational stereotyping within the context of gender and ethnicity (Gettys & Cann, 1981; Leong & Hayes, 1990). The study of Parham and Austin (1994) concludes that "certain occupations are

³³ Glass ceiling phenomenon usually means that advancement for particular persons above a given rank is routinely discriminated against.

ascribed to gender and race specific roles, and that being relegated to those gender and race categories provides a basis for determining whether one might be successful in those specific job arenas" (p.147). For example, a widespread conception about Chinese is that they attain high educational achievement and excel in technically related occupations. Leong and Serafica (1995) hypothesize that stereotyping leads people to believe that Chinese are more competent in physical, biological, and medical sciences and less qualified in verbal, persuasive, and social careers. In supporting this notion of stereotyping, they summarize American statistics on occupation and ethnicity which indicates that Asians, including Chinese, are underrepresented in occupations such as lawyers, judges, chief executive officers, and general administrators while being overrepresented in science and engineering fields.

2.4.4 Perception of Opportunities and Role Models

Leong (1991) states that perceptions of opportunity also influence occupational self-segregation. Whether influenced by role models or a lack of role models, it seems that individuals do select occupations based on their ability to see themselves reflected in a particular work environment or career field. Osipow's (1983) study concludes that a minority person's perceptions of opportunities may be diminished by experiences which show that they can expect a work environment characterized by discrimination in hiring, lower wages, harassment on the job, and few promotional opportunities.

Research has also documented how the lack of available and visible role models in certain areas decreases the likelihood that a minority person will pursue careers in those fields. It follows that if there were relatively fewer visible minority role models in nontraditional careers, those racial/ethnic minority persons who might aspire to such careers would have few role models after which to pattern themselves. This seems, in fact, to be true, and this lack of role models has been widely alluded to as a factor deterring those racial/ethnic minority persons from entering certain careers (Smith, 1980).

2.4.5 Socioeconomic Status and Educational Background

In Canada, the path to occupational or career success is through education and training. But for many racial/ethnic minority persons, this is a less viable path. Carter and Cook's (1992) research findings show that visible minorities have and continue to receive substandard education. While Asians are referred to as the "model minority", racist and cultural disadvantage beliefs affect their career development. Smith (1983) points out that "stereotypes of the abilities of Asian-Americans (good in science and math) and the cultural characteristics such as restraint of strong feelings and difficulty with language ability may function to limit exploration of a wide variety of career options, notably those in the social sciences" (p. 179). Although it might be true that even in minority groups, better educated individuals tend to occupy more desirable occupational positions than do the less educated. Yet the returns on an investment in education are much lower for visible minorities than for the general population. Thus, in addition to the handicap of being in a family with few economic or other resources, the average visible minority person also appears to have less opportunity because of race or culture alone.

Axelson (1985) suggests that career paths for visible minorities must take into consideration the socioeconomic level of the individuals. He further explains:

Access to education and employment opportunities is more difficult under poverty conditions. Developing a career can be expensive, and low-income people have fewer resources that might enable them to take advantage of available education, to commute to work, or to move to another geographical area where employment or occupational opportunities are more readily available.... Many (visible minority group) members lack the education and skills that are essential for entry into certain occupations and necessary for occupational mobility and advancement. The quality and quantity of basic education that is received especially affects the range of occupational opportunity open to any individual (Axelson, 1985, p. 202).

Therefore, socioeconomic status and educational background are important dimensions in the study of racial/ethnic minority person's career development.

2.4.6 English Language Competency

The U.S. literature on minority school achievement and educational aspirations identifies English language competence as an important barrier for minority students, especially for those of Chinese ancestry (Beynon, Toohey & Kishor, 1998). Pang (1990) notes with regard to these individuals, "they not only feel the inability to do well but reveal a fear of writing and speaking" (p. 58). Hsia's (1988) argues that the contrast between Asian Americans' achievement in sciences and technical fields and their avoidance of the difficulties in the social sciences and humanities fields which require strong verbal communication skills is so stark that even after several generations, it is still noticeable. Chinn and Wong (1992), in their study on Chinese students' perceptions of teaching careers, note that "overlooking the relatively weak verbal skills of Asian students and making no educational provisions for improving those skills is unfortunate...The development of verbal skills, coupled with the acquisition of social skills, can enhance the likelihood of Asians branching out from their traditional areas of study and work and thus help in their recruitment into teacher education programs" (p.131).

2.4.7 Minority Women: Gender and Ethnic Experiences

Women's careers differ in substantial ways from men's. Literature shows that "the gendered structures of North American society are as robust as ever with the wage gap between men and women continuing virtually unabated" (Sterrett, 1999, p.250). Researchers in the field of minority women's career development have noted the potentially strong influence of barriers in the formulation and pursuit of career and educational goals (Astin, 1984; Lent, Brown & Hackett, 1994). Bowman (1993) states that while gender or ethnicity has been considered as perceived barriers in many studies, few of them investigate both factors concurrently. He argues that ethnic women are typically categorized as women or minorities, but are rarely considered as members of both groups in the career literature. According to a nationwide study of girls in school, "All girls confront barriers to equal participation in school and society. But minority girls, who must confront racism as well as sexism..., face particularly severe obstacles" (American Association of University Women, 1992, p.4). Beale (1970)

describe the increased discrimination and occupational segregation that minority women experience as a state of "double jeopardy", suggesting that "such women are discriminated against twice: once for being female and once for being non-white" (p.95). Vasquez (1982) adds lack of financial support as another disadvantage that minority women often suffer in pursuing their careers, thus making them become triple minorities (as women, persons of color, and often as members of a lower socioeconomic class). Thus, "the larger social forces of racism, sexism, and classism form a context within which the career and educational attainment of minority women must be understood" (WcWhirter, 1997, p.124).

2.4.8 Devaluation of Foreign Credentials

It is an indisputable fact that racial/ethnic minority persons encounter barriers in the Canadian labor market. Some barriers are described as individual or personal barriers such as lacking Canadian experience and inadequate command of English. Other barriers are depicted as structural or institutional barriers such as devaluation of foreign credentials and nonrecognition of foreign experiences. There are two schools of thought in terms of what barriers account for the occupational disadvantages of racial/ethnic minority persons. Basavarajappa and Verma (1985) argue that the length of stay in Canada has an impact on the ability of Asian immigrants to receive returns for their education. They further suggest that a lack of Canadian experience and low English language competency may cause problems in visible minority person's career development. The second school of thought stresses structural barriers in the recognition of foreign credentials. For example, Boyd (1985) suggests that control of entry to the professions has caused systematic exclusion and occupational disadvantages for professional immigrants. In one of his studies, the differences between Canadianborn and foreign-born workers in the acquisition of career status are compared. Boyd (1985) argues that the Canadian-born receive a greater return for their education compared to the foreign-born due to "difficulties of transferring educational skill across national boundaries" (p.405). Basran and Zong (1998) reinforce Boyd's argument. They note that "failure to locate individual barriers in social conditions and structural arrangements tend to blame immigrant professionals themselves for failing to acquire

professional jobs in Canada" (p. 8). In their recent study on perceptions of devaluation of foreign credentials by foreign-trained Indo-and Chinese-Canadian professionals, they suggest that visible minority professionals face systemic barriers in the Canadian job market. The difficulty of transferring educational credentials and work experience across national boundaries cause many of them to work in fields for which they are overqualified. They further argue that this not only results in downward occupational mobility for these professionals, but it is also a waste of human capital for Canada. Their study suggests that in order for Canada to fully benefit from international human capital transfer, a policy is needed to ensure that the credentials and experiences of foreign-trained immigrants are properly and fairly recognized and evaluated (Basran & Zong, 1998).

2.5 Career, Identity and Acculturation

In this section, the relationship among racial/ethnic identity, acculturation and ethnic minorities' career development was explored. The first part of the literature review deals with racial/ethnic identity attitude and its impact on occupational behaviour whereas the second part focuses on Asian American ethnic identity and acculturation models.

2.5.1 Racial Identity and Occupational Behavior

According to Helms & Piper (1994), "racial identity theory deals with the processes by which persons develop (or do not develop) healthy racial collective identities in environments in which their socially ascribed racial group has differential access to sociopolitical power, which, in this case, means access to the world of work" (p.125). In their study of the implications of racial identity theory for vocational psychology, they propose that "one racial group in U.S. society (Whites) historically has defined and controlled access to work, and all other racial groups (African Americans, Asian Americans) and cultural groups (Latinos and Indigenous Americans) have had to function in a societal work environment which they have had comparatively little control over or influence in shaping" (p. 125).

Numerous writers have argued over the years that race must be considered when investigating vocational behavior. While the majority of the existing race-related vocational literature focuses on the vocational behavior of Blacks and/or Whites, research on Asians has witnessed the development of "two parallel but related tracks" (Leong & Chou, 1994, p.155). Of the two, one is concerned with ethnic identity and the other is concerned with assimilation and acculturation process and their associated consequences (e.g., acculturative stress). In their study on the role of ethnic identity and acculturation in the vocational behavior of Asian Americans, Leong and Chou (1994) propose that Asians with strong ethnic identity and/or low acculturation are more susceptible to occupational segregation and discrimination. In addition, according to Leong and Chou (1994), these Asians may view careers more as a means to an end (e.g., financial security) instead of viewing them as a form of self-actualization. As a result, they may experience more stress and less job satisfaction because of glass ceilings and other forms of stereotyping and discrimination. Likewise, such Asians may hold different attitudes about career, may have low self-efficacy on career choice, interest, or expectations and therefore may be more likely to find themselves trapped in jobs with less occupational prestige and little mobility (Leong & Chou, 1994).

2.5.2 Asian American Ethnic Identity/Acculturation Models

Historically, American researchers have dominated the discourse on racial identity development and acculturation. Therefore, I will concentrate primarily on the U.S. research findings in this field. Sue and Sue (1973) present one of the earliest models of Asian American ethnic identity in the literature. Their model encompasses a threefold typology in which three personality types are described: the traditionalist, marginal man, and the Asian American. The Suinn-Lew Asian Self-Identity Acculturation Scale (SL-ASIA) developed by Suinn and associates (1987) gives impetus to research on Asian American acculturation. In a sense, the SL-ASIA has served as the operationalization of the Sue and Sue (1973) model. The 21 questions of the SL-ASIA assess language, identity, friendship choice, behaviors, generation/geographic history, and attitudes. The scale can be scored to trichotomize respondents into Western-identified or assimilated (high acculturation), or Asian-identified (low

acculturation), or bicultural (medium acculturation).

Berry (1980) proposes a two-dimensional model which has greatly aided research on acculturation among Asian Americans. The model is comprehensive in that it defines acculturation outcomes in terms of each minority's views about their own culture and their host culture. In Berry's model, two questions are assessed in determining which of four varieties of acculturation characterizes a person. The first question asks to what degree one wishes to remain culturally as one has been as opposed to giving it all up to become part of the host society. The second question asks to what extent one wishes to have day-to-day interactions with those of other groups, as opposed to relating only to those of one's own group (Berry et al., 1986). Each question is answered yes or no, yielding four possible varieties of acculturation: integrationist, assimilationist, separationist, and marginalist (Berry et al., 1986).

Leong and Chou (1994) argue that although Berry's two-dimensional model is called an acculturation model, it really is an ethnic identity model. Acculturation is really a process of developing one's racial, ethnic, or cultural identity. Berry's two questions are helpful in examining the acculturation process, but his model is focused on outcomes. In this sense, Leong and Chou (1994) recommend adding the term "identity" to the end of each outcome, i.e., integrationist identity, assimilationist identity, separationist identity, and marginalist identity.

While these ethnic identity/acculturation models demonstrate Asian Americans' attitudes towards the host culture and their own cultures, they fall short of explaining the complexities of various forces such as sociocultural, socioeconomic, and sociopolitical forces and their impact on shaping Asian Americans' ethnic identity and level of acculturation.

2.6 Conclusion

This chapter focuses on the review of literature on the important dimensions which affect Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. For this purpose, literature relating to racial/ethnic minorities' career development, Chinese sociocultural influences, career-related barriers as well as racial identity attitude and acculturation has been reviewed. Several theoretical models on the career development

of racial/ethnic minorities as well as on Asian Americans' ethnic identity/acculturation have also been introduced.

The following chapter describes the research methodology for this study. The rationale for a qualitative research design is provided. In addition, research method, selection and description of participants, data collection, the reason why English is used in interviews, interview process, data analysis, trustworthiness of data, assumptions as well as ethical considerations are addressed.

CHAPTER THREE RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides an explanation of the research design and methods adopted for this study. In the first section, a rationale for the use of a qualitative research approach with in-depth interviewing as the primary means of data collection is presented. In addition, the criteria for the selection of participants as well as a description of participants are introduced. Data collection, especially the interview process, is explained. The reasons why English is used in the interviews are provided. Data analysis is described in terms of data management, category and theme generation, and the process of report writing. Finally, the trustworthiness of data, the underlying assumptions of this study and a description of the ethical considerations are presented.

3.2 Rationale for a Qualitative Research Design

According to Maykut & Morehouse (1994), "many scholars have called for the use of qualitative research to help us increase our understanding of human experience..." (p.150). As this study focuses on understanding the career development experiences of Chinese educators in Canada, a qualitative research paradigm using an in-depth interviewing methodology was selected as the most appropriate approach. Marshall and Rossman (1995) note that the unique strength of a qualitative inquiry is its effectiveness for research "that is exploratory or descriptive, that assumes the value of context and setting, and that searches for a deeper understanding of the participants' lived experiences of the phenomenon" (p. 39). In this sense, traditional methods of inquiry have their limitations on educational research which concerns human experiences. The following characteristics of qualitative research as outlined by Bogdan and Biklen (1992) provide the basic framework for this study:

- 1) the research is descriptive in that it is rich in detail and description;
- 2) it is concerned with process rather than simply outcomes and products;
- 3) data are analyzed inductively; and

4) the participants' perspective, that is, how they make sense and meaning in their lives, is an essential concern.

This study is aligned with every aspect of the above framework. Therefore, a qualitative research design with in-depth interviewing as the major tool for data collection was selected as the most suitable methodology for this study.

3.3 Research Method for the Study

Described as "a conversation with a purpose" (Kahn & Cannell, 1957, p.149), in-depth interviewing was the overall method employed in this study. Kirby and McKenna (1989) indicate that "interviews are a special form of interaction between people, the purpose of which is to elicit information by asking questions" (p.66). In this study, I adopted a semi-structured, open-ended design for questioning, combined with probing techniques in order to elicit not only factual details, but also rich descriptions of feelings and emotions surrounding these Chinese educators' career experiences.

Merriam (1988) suggests that semi-structured interviews provide comparatively valid data. As maintained by Bogdan and Biklen (1982), semi-structured interviews, "although relatively open-ended, are focused around particular topics or may be guided by some general questions. Even when an interview guide is employed, qualitative interviews offer the interviewer considerable latitude to pursue a range of topics and offer the subject a chance to shape the content of the interview" (p.136).

The strengths of in-depth interviewing are described by Marshall and Rossman (1995) as being "a useful way to get large amount of information quickly" (p.81). In addition, this paradigm ensures "immediate follow-up and clarification" (p.81) and if "combined with observation, interviews allow the researcher to understand the meanings people hold for everyday activities" (p.81).

3.4 Selection of Participants

Five interview participants, all identified through my personal contacts, were selected. All participants are Chinese educators with graduate degrees in education acquired either from a Canadian university or a Chinese university between the period of 1987 to 1996. All are seeking or have sought paid educational positions in Canada

following completion of their studies. In the selection of participants, an attempt was made to balance dimensions of gender, age, and different educational experiences. Willingness to participate was also a factor in selection. Two men and three women were chosen. These participants ranged in age from 35 to 39 years of age at the time of the interview, with a median age of 36 years. All are bilingual, speaking both Mandarin and English. Three had completed master's degrees and two had completed doctoral degrees in education at the time of interviewing.

I approached these participants in person, describing the nature and purpose of the study, and requested their participation through an interview. Participation in the study was entirely voluntary and consent was obtained through signing a consent form. In addition, participants had the right to opt out of the study at any time and the researcher would endeavor to ensure that no harm would come to them. All names of participants appearing in this document are pseudonyms to ensure confidentiality. If participants had any concerns with regard to the study, they could contact the researcher and his supervisor at any time. All participants readily agreed to be interviewed.

Due to the fact that the participants were chosen mainly through personal contacts, they therefore share certain similarities in their experiences. The researcher is well aware of this limitation and wishes to caution the readers that the result of this study is likely to be different if participants were chosen in a different manner. Therefore, the findings of this study cannot be generalized and applied to the whole body of Chinese educators in Canada.

3.5 Description of Participants

The following is a brief description of the five participants in this study. Their real identities have been disguised in order to protect confidentiality.

Participant 1: Weihua

Weihua was a 35-year-old single man who obtained his Master of Education degree in China in 1987. Since then, he had been an associate professor teaching educational philosophy in a northern Chinese university for ten years. He came to Canada in 1997 with hopes of furthering his study and research. In 1999, he became a

landed immigrant in Canada. Weihua's long-term career goal in Canada is to become a university professor in the field of sociology of education. However, when he began his career search in Canada, he saw very few career options available for him in higher education due to language barriers, his lack of Canadian experience as well as his Chinese background. A confident person, Weihua speaks good English and he had made tremendous progress in his skills in English speaking and writing since he came to Canada. The harsh realities made him decide to give up his aspiration for a higher education career, but he would still like to work in an educational field. He quickly found two part-time teaching positions in a university and a private college.

Meanwhile, he applied for a teaching certificate from the public school board. Because he had taken all the required courses in China, he was able to transfer them to Canada. He successfully obtained a teaching certificate shortly after he applied without having to take any additional courses. His career plan is to find a full-time teaching position in the public school system for the time being.

In summary, Weihua perceived few vocational opportunities for him in higher education in Canada. As a result, he believed that there were limited options left from which he could choose. So he obtained a teaching certificate which he believed would prepare him for a possible secure job in the future.

Participant 2: Ping

Ping was a 35-year-old woman with a master's degree in education acquired from a Canadian university. At the time of the interview, she was working in a public school teaching Mandarin in a bilingual program in a western Canadian city. She came to Canada in 1990 as a graduate student. Before that, she was teaching English as a second language (ESL) in a college in a northern Chinese city for almost ten years. After she obtained her master's degree in Canada, Ping decided to stay in Canada. In 1993, she became a Canadian permanent resident. Ping was single.

Ping began her career planning to be an adult ESL instructor in Canada and she volunteered in several schools where she taught ESL to new immigrants. However, an experience working as a substitute teacher in an elementary school changed her career plan. She discovered that she truly enjoyed working with children and therefore

decided to pursue a career as an elementary school teacher in the public school system. Although this apparently was not what her parents had in mind for her, they understood her decision. Ping said she enjoyed her work with elementary school children, believing that she could make a difference in their lives. She has secured a full-time teaching position in a public school now.

Ping's English is excellent. She was glad that she had a chance to pursue a master's degree and discover her genuine interests through working with children. She appeared to be a confident person. She said that she always looked on the bright side of everything. That is probably an important reason that she was able to pursue her real interests and became successful. She said her future goal was to make her teaching career more successful and fulfilling.

Participant 3: Suling

Suling was a 37-year-old female doctoral student in education in a western Canadian university at the time of the interview. With her parents' strong emphasis on education, Suling excelled in school right from the start. She earned her bachelor's degree in English in a northern Chinese University and began her career as an ESL instructor in a university in northern China. She taught English in the university in China for seven years. Driven by a strong desire for higher education, she came to Canada to pursue her master's degree in education in 1993. She quickly applied for landed immigrant status in Canada and successfully became a landed immigrant in 1994. As a result, her family members could come and join her in Canada. In 1996 she obtained her master's degree in ESL in Canada. However, after she finished her study, she realized that there was no future for a career in ESL because she saw few people of her background working in this field. Considering the financial needs of the family and her own future, she decided to pursue a doctoral degree in computer science. By doing so, she not only received the much needed funding to support her study and her family, but also paved the way for a future career in technology field. Suling aspires to be a computer programmer or a university professor upon completion of her graduate studies.

In short, Suling's English language skills are at a very high standard. She appeared to be a realistic, hard-working person with a clear goal in her life. She believed that she was the master of her own destiny. In her opinion, by working hard, making realistic choices, and persevering in the effort, everyone could become successful in the end. She regarded failure as a shame and loss of face and constantly looked up to role models for inspiration.

Participant 4: Jon

Jon was a 36-year-old man with a doctoral degree in education acquired from a Canadian University. At the time of the interview, he was teaching Mandarin in a bilingual program in a public school in western Canada. After he obtained a bachelor's degree in English in southwest China, he began his career as an ESL instructor in a university in a big southern city in 1986. Five years later, he came to Canada to pursue his graduate degree in education. He graduated with a Ph.D. degree in education in 1996. At the same time, he applied for permanent residence status and became a landed immigrant in the same year. His first career aspiration was to become a university professor, which turned out to be impossible due to what he perceived as a lack of Canadian experience and language competency. However, Jon considered himself lucky because he was offered a permanent teaching position in a public school system later. Although this was not his initial choice, he quickly found out that he enjoyed teaching young children. In addition, there were opportunities for future promotion. Therefore, he prepared himself for different possible positions that might come up in the future.

Jon was married with children, and speaks excellent English. He attributed his success to hard work, high acculturation, and networking. He appeared to be a highly motivated person who believed that anyone who possessed the required knowledge, skills, and attitudes for the job could succeed.

Participant 5: Xuewen

Xuewen was a 39-year-old woman who was running a successful education and immigration consulting business at the time of the interview. She was single and had a

prestigious career as a university professor in an eastern Chinese city. After about ten years of teaching, she decided to come to Canada to pursue graduate studies in 1988. Because of the Tiananmen incident in 1989, she decided to stay in Canada permanently. This was made possible by a CIC special program which allowed Chinese students to apply for permanent residence in Canada on a compassionate ground. In 1991, Xuewen obtained her Master of Education degree from a Canadian University. Then she decided to move on to do a doctoral degree in education. She obtained her doctoral degree in 1995 in a western Canadian University. Her first career aspiration was to become an educational administrator at a post-secondary institution. She applied for a number of positions but it did not take long before she realized that her previous credentials and experiences would not be properly recognized. From this experience she learned that the power to make decisions and create opportunities for her is important. Therefore, she decided to start her own business. With a friend, she started an education and immigration consulting business. She worked hard and became successful in just a few years.

Xuewen's career decisions were largely affected by the experiences with the differential opportunity system prevalent in the Canadian society. Although she has the qualifications, she was constantly denied opportunities in areas of her choices. Therefore, it is important for her to seek career opportunities that would give her respect, better financial rewards and the freedom to make her own decisions. Her desire of starting her own business in a way is a strategy of dealing with racism and social injustice. When asked about her future goals in life, Xuewen claimed that her goal was to combine her business with education and try to make the best out of it. She was confident that with her business expanding she would be able to use her expertise in education and apply it to her work.

3.6 Table 3.1 Characteristics of Participants

| Name | Gender | Age | Highest Level of Education at the Time of Interviewing | Year Obtained | Occupation at the Time of Interviewing |
|--------|--------|-----|--|------------------|---|
| Jon | Male | 36 | Ph. D. Degree in Elementary Education | 1996 | Public school teacher Grade Five |
| Xuewen | Female | 39 | Ph. D. Degree in Adult & Higher Education | 1995 | Education & Immigration Consultant Self-employed |
| Ping | Female | 35 | Master's Degree in Elementary Education | 1993 | Public school teacher Grade Six |
| Weihua | Male | 35 | Master's Degree in Adult & Higher Education | 1987 | University & College Instructor Adult Students |
| Suling | Female | 37 | Master's Degree in English as a Second Language | 1997 | Full-time Ph. D. Student in Computer Science |

3.7 Data Collection

For the purpose of this study, I decided to limit the number of participants to five so that I could focus in more depth on each person's story. Interviews allowed me to collect rich data, to isolate recurring themes, and to remain true to the initial intent of the participants' words (Agar, 1996). In this study, the primary method for data collection was 90-minute audiotaped individual in-depth interviews. In some cases, participants wished to spend more time, so the interviews were extended.

3.8 The Use of the English Language in Interviews

At the beginning of this study, I had thought of using the Chinese language to conduct my interviews. The reasons are apparent: using the Chinese language to collect data allows both the participants and me to interact in a more personal, natural and adequate manner than otherwise. In other words, it may be easier for the participants to express their feelings, emotions and experiences in Mandarin Chinese than English. However, I had to give up this idea for two reasons. First, the time constraints I was facing made it hard to have the interviews translated into English and then transcribed. Financially, hiring a translator is costly. Therefore, out of these practical considerations, I decided to use the English language to conduct the interviews.

Because the majority of participants had stayed in Canada for a relatively long period of time and most had been educated in Canada in English for a number of years, using the English language to collect data seemed feasible. In addition, prior to their participation, I had indicated in my letter to them that interviews would be conducted in English. None seemed to object to this idea. In fact, during the interviews, only two of the participants seemed to be a little uneasy using English at the beginning, but later on became more comfortable in conversations in English. The rest were quite comfortable speaking English during the conversations.

However, there are certain limitations in using English. First, for some participants, the conversations were a little less personal, especially at the beginning of the interview. In addition, as English is not the native language of the participants and the researcher, it is unavoidable that sometimes the English used by both the participants and the researcher are not always conventional. This may have affected

certain meanings of the questions and answers throughout the interviews.

3.9 Interview Process

Interviews took place in a location of the participant's choosing. Of all the five interviews, one was conducted in my apartment, three in the participants' homes, and one in a private office space. In all cases, interviews were conducted privately to ensure confidentiality and to provide participants with the greatest degree of comfort and privacy.

Prior to interviews, I sent each participant a letter (see Appendix A) inviting him or her to participant in the research. This was followed by another letter in which I briefed each participant the nature and purpose of the research (see Appendix B). I began each interview by explaining again the nature and purpose of the study, as well as the ethnical procedures to be followed. I asked for permission to audiotape the interview, then I asked each participant to read and sign a participant consent form (see Appendix C). During the interview, I followed a protocol that began with demographic questions (see Appendix D), followed by the five basic questions outlined on the Interview Guide (see Appendix E). However, to facilitate development of rapport and a free flow of exchange, I did not rigidly adhere to interview protocol, but rather sought to maintain a fluidity that was essential to the exploration of the participants' career experiences. Interviews focused on five aspects of the participants' career development experiences, i.e., their conceptualization of career, sociocultural influences, perceptions/experiences of barriers, identity, acculturation as well as their impact on the occupational self-efficacy of Chinese educators. In the course of the interviews, I used open-ended questions, together with some probing and additional questions appropriate to the topics that arose in the conversation. As a result, the stories of these Chinese educators began to unfold. The interviews progressed until the participant shared as much as he or she was willing during that session. Tapes were then labeled and kept in a safe place for future analysis.

In two cases, some follow-up was conducted to clarify some initial interview material. In the first instance, I used email to ask some additional questions. In the second instance, I telephoned the participant to ask questions, but did not tape-record

the conversation. I took notes and compared the notes with the original interview transcripts. Such additional clarification was made in order to ensure that the words and ideas represented in the original transcripts reflected thoughts and feelings intended by the participants. I returned to each participant with the transcripts, themes, categories as well as the interpretations obtained through the process of data analysis (described below), and asked him or her to review and validate these transcripts, themes, categories and interpretations.

3.10 Data Analysis

The process of data analysis consists of recording, managing and analyzing the data. In terms of data recording and management, the five interviews were recorded and transcribed in a systematic manner by the researcher. To ease retrieval for data analysis, I labeled tapes, and color-coded and numbered the transcripts and notes to keep track of the data. According to Marshall and Rossman (1995), such practices are "invaluable for piecing together patterns, defining categories for data analysis, planning further data collection, and especially for writing the final product of the research" (p. 109). Marshall and Rossman (1995) state that "data analysis is the process of bringing order, structure, and meaning to the mass of collected data" (p. 111). The following approach was adopted for the analysis: (1) organizing the data; (2) generating categories, themes, and patterns; and (3) writing the report.

3.10.1 Organizing the Data

At this stage, tapes were listened to several times although verbatim transcripts were available. Auditory review of the interviews helped to provide a better appreciation of the participants' inflection and the emotive content of the data. Transcripts were also reviewed in detail and important quotations were highlighted for easy retrieval. I read through the transcripts until I became thoroughly familiar with each conversation. The purpose of this process was to make the data and notes retrievable and generally "clean up" (Pearsol, 1985, quoting Marshall & Rossman) what seemed to be overwhelming and unmanageable.

3.10.2 Generating Categories, Themes, and Patterns

This phase of data analysis was the most important, difficult and complex. According to Marshall and Rossman (1995), "identifying salient themes, recurring ideas or language, and patterns of belief that link people and settings together is the most intellectually challenging phase of data analysis and one that can integrate the entire endeavor" (p. 114). To avoid the problem of generalizability due to the subjective nature of qualitative interviews, an "analytic induction" approach was used to deal with this problem. According to Borg and Gall (1989), "analytic induction is the process of searching for propositions that apply to all cases of the problem under analysis" (p.404). Specifically, in this study, a preliminary finding or result was formulated. An assumption of that finding or result was also formulated. Then one result was studied in light of the assumption, in order to determine whether or not the assumption fit the facts in that case. If the assumption did not fit the facts, either the assumption was reformulated to fit the facts, or the result to be explained was redefined so that the negative case was excluded. If the assumption did fit the facts, it was tested against additional cases until a universal relationship was established.

Using this approach, a constant comparison method (Glaser & Strauss, 1967) was adopted. This method involved two essential sub-processes that composed the basis of inductive analysis, i.e., unitizing and categorizing. Unitizing was basically a coding operation that identified information units isolated from the text. In categorizing, information units derived from the unitizing phase were organized into categories on the basis of similarity in meaning. As the number of categories reached a saturation point I started to decide which units of information might be included or excluded from the category.

Under this method, the five tape transcripts were carefully reviewed to identify similar and recurring statements. As a result, I identified five major categories in the data with different subcategories, themes and patterns. This constant comparative method of analytic induction, combined with the color-coding process allowed for a more systematic approach to generating patterns, themes and categories. Finally, commonalities and differences were identified among the themes.

3.10.3 Writing the Report

The last phase of data analysis was the writing or presenting of a research report. Kirby and MaKenna (1989) state that "the writing or presentation is an ongoing part of the analysis" (p. 155). According to Marshall and Rossman (1995), "writing about qualitative data cannot be separated from the analytic process. In fact, it is central to that process, for in the choice of particular words to summarize and reflect the complexity of the data, the researcher is engaging in the interpretive act, lending shape and form—meaning—to massive amounts of raw data" (p. 117).

The final report entails a presentation and interpretation of the major findings of this study. First of all, data were presented according to the five thematic categories. This included a description and exploration of the elements of the categories as well as the intra- and inter-categorical relationships. According to Kirby and McKenna (1989), "although there can be some movement from description to more theoretical analysis, in the final report the overall reporting should reflect the voices of the participants" (p. 162). I achieved this by including the direct quotations of the participants and also presenting the contrasting attitudes among participants within the appropriate context. I also realized that as a researcher I had the responsibility of reporting on the research in a way that was fair and equitable to participants. Therefore, every effort was made to ensure the researcher's voice did not dominate the reporting. In addition, the participants' confidentiality was considered and fully protected in the process.

Second, significant findings were interpreted and discussed. This involved the integration and synthesis of the findings and a comparison of findings to the literature. Explanations were sought and discussions were presented.

3.11 Trustworthiness of Data

One of the goals of doing research is to generate new knowledge in a valid and reliable fashion. In this study, the following efforts were made to ensure that data was validated and trustworthiness established:

1. I contacted all the participants to review the transcripts, themes, categories, and interpretations for accuracy and if necessary revision or inclusion of additional data.

- 2. One former doctoral student was asked to read and review the transcripts and interpretations I had constructed in the data analysis process. To ensure that there is no danger for this person to identify the participants, every effort was made by the researcher not to disclose any information relating to the participants' identities. In addition, this person acknowledged that she did not know any Chinese educators in person.
- 3. Two data sources were used to ensure trustworthiness. For example, data was collected through my notes, taken during and after the interviews; and the interviews, tapes and transcripts.
- 4. "Member Checks" were used at various points in the analysis process. I contacted individuals to clarify statements in their transcripts. I took the transcripts back to each person, asking if they had any further comments, and probing some statements in the transcripts for further details. I presented each participant with the themes and categories that I constructed in data analysis, asking if these resonated with their own understanding of their experiences. Finally I presented each participant with a draft copy of the chapter describing the themes and quoting individuals, asking them if they had any concerns or suggestions for revision to the content related to their interviews.
- 5. Throughout data collection and analysis, I tried to become aware of my personal biases. I made every effort to declare these biases for myself, and to seek alternate ways of viewing the data where appropriate. The assistance of a peer "auditor", the doctoral student who examined my interpretations was most helpful in alerting me to certain personal biases that tended to slant my analyses.

3.12 Assumptions

My first assumption was that participants would honestly and reflectively report their beliefs and understandings about the questions being asked.

The second assumption was that my personal beliefs and history could influence the qualitative research process. They form hidden structure that can, if unexamined and not made explicit, unduly influence and bias the research process. Consequently, I made explicit my beliefs and knowledge about Chinese educators' career development

experiences in Canada prior to conducting this study.

I believe that Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada are influenced by Chinese culture, their concept of career, structural barriers in Canadian society, and their acculturation. Under the influence of Chinese culture, Chinese educators aspire to succeed by seeking prestigious careers in their new country. However, the sociopolitical barriers that exist in Canadian society make them realize that they have to compromise their career objectives. It is also my belief that Chinese educators with high acculturation are less likely to suffer from occupational discrimination and segregation than those with low acculturation. As a result of these structural barriers, I believe that many Chinese educators' occupational self-efficacy is low.

3.13 Ethical Considerations

The following measures were taken to address the ethical concerns in respect to the study:

- 1. The study was approved by the Department of Educational Policy Studies' Ethics Review Committee.
- 2. Each participant was advised by the researcher as to the main focus of the study, the degree of commitment required, the specific activities that would be involved, how the data would be used and the ethical standards of the study. This was to ensure that the participants were clearly aware of the nature and purpose of the study.
- 3. Participation in the study was voluntary and prior to becoming involved, each participant was asked to sign a participant consent form. All participants were informed that they had the right to opt out of the study at any time and that the researcher would endeavour to ensure that no harm would come to them. In addition, any identifying information was kept confidential. If participants had any questions or concerns with the study, they could contact the researcher or the researcher's supervisor at any time. All materials generated from the research were kept secure when not in use. Following completion of the study, the tapes, transcripts and notes will be destroyed.

CHAPTER FOUR FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

Through the use of in-depth interviews, this study explores Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. The interview data were analyzed to determine how social, cultural and political factors influence Chinese educators' career development. To achieve this end, five participants shared their career experiences for this research. As the participants related their experiences within the social, cultural and political contexts, the complex and multidimensional aspects of their career experiences began to unfold.

The first objective of this chapter is to present, from the perspective of the participants, their career development experiences in Canada. Their stories are presented within the five main descriptors used to group the interview questions, i.e., (1) the concept of career; (2) sociocultural influences; (3) perceptions of barriers; (4) racial identity and acculturation; and (5) self-efficacy beliefs.

The second goal of this chapter is to discuss, from the perspective of the researcher, the major issues that emerged from the analysis of the findings. The discussion is based on the review of related literature as well as the researcher's critical reflections on the unique career development experiences of the participants.

4.2 Significant Findings of the Study

The major findings of the study are described on the basis of the foregoing five classifications which form the backbone of this qualitative research. In order to reflect the voices of the participants, the presentation is focused primarily on the participants' descriptions of their career experiences. Although as an interpretative researcher I felt the need to make a point or observation from time to time, every effort was made to ensure that my voice did not dominate the reporting. In addition, throughout this section, I used "the participants", "these Chinese educators", "the interviewees" or "the Chinese educators in this study" interchangeably to refer to the five Chinese educators who participated in this study.

4.2.1 Conceptualization of Career

In addressing this theme, participants were asked to conceptualize the word "career" in their own terms to determine how the concept of career affects their career aspirations and choices. Many of the participants used the terms jobs, work, and careers interchangeably in their interviews but indicated that they realized distinctions among these terms. As the interviews went on, various definitions of career emerged from the interviews. The participants' definitions of career can be summed up in five main areas, i. e., career as self-actualization, career in relation to community, career as a dynamic concept, career concept as manifestation of ideal and reality as well as career as a compromise.

4.2.1.1 Career as Self-Actualization

Interestingly, nearly all participants referred to career as a way of life which affords them opportunities to realize their dreams and goals. For these Chinese educators, career appears not merely to mean a job, or an occupation which is characterized by working and obtaining financial rewards, but rather a manifestation of their intrinsic interests as well as an opportunity to make important decisions in life which are closely associated with joy, happiness, and pleasure. One of the participants, Ping defined career in this way:

Ping: Career means the kind of thing that you really enjoy doing. It's also something that can help realize your dreams and life goals. Money is definitely not what career is about. Career is more than that. It is part of your life.

Another participant, Weihua viewed career from a different standpoint. For him, the concept of career is centered on whether he was able to apply his education and meanwhile have his potential recognized:

Weihua: I've had many years of education. So if I have a job that I don't really like and to which I can't apply my education and my skills, it's not a complete career. For me, career should be built on a person's interest, not money or anything else. Money is absolutely not my purpose. My goal is to find something that will enable me to use my knowledge and ability. That's the most important thing to me.

Other participants, such as Suling, Jon, and Xuewen shared similar views on career. According to them, career was more than a job. Instead, it was an outlet for personal fulfillment and self-actualization.

The above definitions of career clearly indicate that the participants' concept of career appears to be linked to their ability to express their intrinsic interests and realize their goals in life. Idealistically these participants tend to view their career as a means of self-expression and self- actualization.

4.2.1.2 Career in Relation to Community

Another theme that emerged from the data is that the personal career values of the participants interviewed were not entirely based on themselves. Their personal career values were also community-based; in other words, choices that were made about career paths must also benefit the community and the society. Throughout the interviews, these Chinese educators demonstrated a strong desire to make contributions to the society through the pursuit of their careers. As Suling indicated:

Suling: Career is the pursuit of your dreams. It is something that you hope you can do in order to contribute to the community and the society at large while making a living. In a career, you receive and you also give. In this sense, career is more than just making a living. You want to do your best in your career so that other people can benefit from your work. To me, that's the kind of thing I've been striving to do.

Jon gave a clear, concise definition that he viewed as the "right path" he should take:

Jon: It seems to me that career is related to both yourself and the society. On the one hand, you get something from your job, such as personal satisfaction and financial income; on the other hand, you also contribute to the community at large through whatever you do in a career.

It seems that Jon's concept of making contributions to the community is linked to his ability to work in areas where he is able to make the majority of people benefit, i. e., a teaching profession. Here, a duality of desire was expressed in Suling and Jon's comments, namely, the practical aspect of "making a living" while simultaneously "contributing to society".

Xuewen is the only participant in this study who was self-employed. At the time of the interview, she was running an education consulting business, which she described as quite successful. Despite the notion by many people that a private business is mostly profit-oriented, Xuewen insisted that an education career meant far more than making a profit:

Xuewen: As an educator for years, everybody who has the similar experiences as I do should understand that education is not always a profit-making thing. We have to look at education in the long run. We have to look at the long-term benefit education can create and provide. I don't believe we can make a fortune by promoting education. But in terms of the significance, we have to do it, even if it means it doesn't make money. It's gonna be beneficial to the society, especially to China and some other developing countries where education still needs to be improved. We can't only look at profit.

Repeated mention of a desire to offer service to the community resonated through the above interviews. This wish to serve societal interests articulated by the participants may be associated with Mao's orthodox education, which required that everyone must be prepared to serve the needs of the country. Nonetheless, the participants appeared sincere in their descriptions throughout the interviews.

4.2.1.3 Career as a Dynamic Concept

During the interviews the participants voiced their position that their concept of career is not static. Instead, they elaborated on the dynamic and changing process, namely, from enjoying the secure "Iron Rice Bowl" in China to competing for jobs in the Canadian labor market. ³³This meant that they had to learn to rely on themselves. For example, as Suling pointed out, "It's different from what we experienced in China where normally when you graduate, you are assigned to work. But in Canada it's different, you have to actually look for job actively. Jobs will not come to you". Other

³³ Iron Rice Bowl: A term used in China which refers to any jobs held by people working for the state-owned enterprises, especially before the late 1970s when China started its economic reforms. It usually means a permanent job held by a person for his or her entire life.

participants, such as Xuewen and Jon, seemed to support this notion. Several participants indicated that "career" changes over time depending on an individual's life experience. Xuewen described it in the following way:

Xuewen: When I was a teacher [in China], I thought I would be teaching all my life and later I just ended up doing something else... As I mentioned just now, you have to be realistic here in Canada mainly because you have to meet the financial needs. So whatever you can do to meet that need, you just get it. That's part of my definition of career.

Suling offered a similar view. According to her, the change of career concept was due to what she thought was her personal weakness as well as the need for survival:

Suling: In China, I taught ESL and a little bit of management before I came to Canada. In Canada I studied ESL. But it's the law of survival that made me switch to the Computer Science program...I see my personal weakness. I know that in ESL, in English, because I'm not a native speaker, I can never make a great contribution as I could potentially can in another area such as technology. It's a relatively newer area, still under development rapidly. So I have to find specialization where I could realize my potential.

The participants seemed to share the notion that career is part of their life and that factors contributing to the change of concept of career include education, Chinese and Canadian sociocultural influences, one's personal growth, labour market needs as well as technological advance.

4.2.1.4 Career Concept as Manifestation of Ideal and Reality

Generally speaking, the participants' concepts of career appeared to change in a similar process: starting with high hopes for their future careers, to making realistic choices due to the need for survival and providing for the family in their new country. Some participants started out doing something in Canada which was not based on their interests, but later found meanings in their jobs. For example, Ping described the change of her career concept as an elementary school teacher from focusing primarily on the financial needs at first to starting to find meaning in her job and to enjoy it later. She attributed this change to her self-growth. According to Ping:

Ping: Every time after teaching, I would think I made a very good choice because I really feel that I realized my dream and found value in myself, and being needed and also learn from life and enjoy life.

Another participant, Suling articulated that her concept of career was constantly evolving. For her, her ideal career was to be a university professor in ESL evaluation. But as she put it, it was "the law of survival" and the labour market demand that prompted her to switch to a more practical field. In her case, technology played an important part in her decision-making:

Suling: With the advance of technology, everything in our society is changing. Many traditional jobs have disappeared and lots of new jobs have been and are being created everyday. For example, through computers we can do a lot of distance learning even to the people living in the remotest areas within or beyond a country. The technological progress really makes us rethink about our traditional career concepts. It affects our career decision-making. In today's world, you have to prepare yourself for the technological progress. You have to learn the new knowledge and skills, otherwise, you'll be lagging behind.

Suling's comment seems to be in line with the practical notion that market inevitably determines career choice.

4.2.1.5 Career, Constraints and Compromise

According to Helms & Piper (1994), in Canadian society professional occupations are predominantly occupied and dominated by Whites. For some participants, perceptions of discrimination and feelings of not having equal access to professional occupations impede their career development. In addition, the lack of role models in certain fields may influence their efficacy beliefs regarding opportunities in particular careers. These barriers, coupled with the practical need to support the family, result in these Chinese educators having to compromise their career aspirations and choices. This sentiment was captured by Xuewen's comment:

Xuewen: I learned to be realistic and flexible all these years in Canada because there are so many limitations to prevent me from getting a decent job. Meanwhile I have to support the family and meet the financial needs. So basically the lessons I've learned is that

I cannot have only daydreams. I have to be flexible in my career choice. According to my observations, in Chinese people's mind, the concept of career is totally changed. It is to find a job, to get money, not necessarily to realize what one wishes to do. It's a compromise.

Besides her own compromises, Xuewen commented on other people in her community. She went on to describe:

Xuewen: Look at how many Chinese students have changed their subject areas in Canada. I would say more than fifty percent of them are doing something totally different. This doesn't mean they don't have their dreams any more. They still have a dream. But they have to feed their stomach first and then look at their dreams, to see whether they are realistic. If they are not, then forget them.

This theme describes these Chinese educators as people who consciously choose to compromise their career aspirations based on what they see as structural constraints that exist in Canadian society. In Xuewen's case, the external limitations were so powerful that she felt that she had no other alternative but to compromise. She added:

Xuewen: I had no other choice. If I only had empty dreams, then I would be starving. I had to survive first. I wasn't lucky. If I could find a job to realize my dream, and at the same time to get enough money to support my family, that would be ideal. But I wasn't lucky to get that. Maybe I have to go in a roundabout way, at least to feed my stomach first, and then try to do something a bit more and more, to realize my dream. I've never forgotten my dreams. So many years of education, I don't want to waste everything. I spent so many days and nights. Sometimes I even didn't sleep. I slept in the department for quite a few nights, finish my paper, my projects. I worked and studied at the same time, which was not easy. I had no other choice.

From this comment, it is apparent that career aspirations, institutional barriers, and financial constraints together contribute to these Chinese educators' tendency to compromise their career choices in Canada.

In summary, most of these Chinese educators' concept of career seems to be closely connected with their education, intrinsic interests, satisfaction, self-realization and a need to contribute to the society. In addition, their concept of career is also

undergoing significant change due to both internal and external readjustment. The Canadian sociopolitical contexts in which these Chinese educators' career-related decisions are made also have a huge impact on their career development. Workplace discrimination and the practical need to survive and support the family sometimes force many of these Chinese educators to compromise their career aspirations. As a result, they tend to adopt a more realistic approach in making career choices in Canada.

4.2.2 Chinese Sociocultural Influences

While career values are personal and unique to each individual, they are not immune to external influences. In this sense, traditional Chinese culture certainly plays an important role in the participants' occupational socialization. By the same token, living in Canada means these Chinese educators are also exposed to and influenced by Canadian culture and values, which may mean that they may become less group-oriented and more individually oriented. That is, their career conceptions may be focused more on individual goals and ideals of fulfillment and self-actualization than solely pleasing the family. In this sense, this study offers a unique perspective because it explores Chinese educators' career development experiences in a Canadian context. It is therefore anticipated that the participants in this study are likely to make career decisions based on their personal aspirations and interests even though they are heavily influenced by Chinese cultural influences.

In this chapter, sociocultural factors are used to refer to Chinese social and cultural influences which shape Chinese educators' career aspirations and choices. To achieve this end, I focus sociocultural factors on the following three domains: parental expectations, Chinese culture and its impact on career behaviour and the influence of Chinese culture on career choice.

4.2.2.1 Parental Expectations

Although none of the participants were living with their parents in Canada by the time of interview, this does not mean that parental influences are not there. In fact, most of the participants reported that their parental expectations were largely intangible but were very potent and that their career decision-making was directly or indirectly

influenced by their parents. For example, Ping described her parents' expectations for her career choice in Canada and their reactions when they were told about her decision to pursue a teaching career in a public school:

Ping: They wished I could become a university professor. So when I told them I found a job in elementary school here, they were quite disappointed at me. They didn't think it's a very professional job, plus the level was too low. So I tried hard to explain to them that it's not easy even to find a job in elementary school in Canada. I was actually one of those lucky ones. Also, whatever subjects I teach in elementary schools or secondary schools, it's not an easy job. So I explained and eventually they understood.

In the case of Weihua, although his parents did not articulate any expectations nor put any direct pressure on him, for some reason, he could feel the presence:

Weihua: Well, I can feel it. I can definitely feel the pressure. My parents always hope that I can do something to bring prestige on the family. They always think I'm very capable. So I never told them I didn't have a full-time job in Canada. If I told them the truth, they would be very upset because in China I would say I was above the middle class [level]. So my salary and my social status were very high. But in Canada, I don't think my parents would like to see me in this situation. They'll be very sad.

Weihua revealed a sense of loss due to what he thought a failure to live up to his parents' expectations. If his story helps us understand the role of parental expectations in the participants' career decision-making process, then Suling's experience of having to match her career choice with the expectations of her parents and the community truly reveals the potency of these expectations. As Suling put it, it would be unthinkable if she failed to land a decent job in Canada:

Suling: When you don't have a job, absolutely you are under great pressure because you have a family behind you that you need to support. What's more, when you come to Canada, you give up your decent job back in China. You give up your hometown where you were born and brought up. Therefore, you want to prove that you can succeed in this new country, in your adopted country. Actually when you are talking about giving up your job in China, your parents, your relatives and your friends all say "Would it be worthwhile for you to give up your job and go to an unknown place

where you don't know what's going to happen?" So if you can't find a decent job, if you don't do well, I guess it'll just be unimaginable.

These stories clearly demonstrate that Chinese social pressure may come in direct or indirect, tangible or intangible ways. By the same token, the participants handled these parental pressures with a repertoire of strategies. For example, Ping addressed it with a discussion with her parents. Weihua handled it by concealing the truth. As to Suling, the internalization of parental expectations was translated into motivation which was constantly urging her to succeed in order to please her parents and the Chinese community. The psychological effects, such as inner tension or turmoil, guilt, sense of loss, shame and the need to justify their career choices, are huge. All of these indicate that parental expectations can play an important role in these Chinese educators' career development.

Another related aspect factors into the pressure to "succeed". That is, the "successful" stories of others who have set a precedent. Suling referred to these as self-imposed expectations to "measure up" to other successful people:

Suling: There is a peer pressure because you always hear about many successful stories of who got a good job, who moved to Toronto or the States and whatsoever. So if other people can succeed, why can't I? I'm not a stupid person. That's what I thought, peer pressure, pressure coming from everywhere.

Suling's feelings reveal that the impact of parental or self-imposed pressures to "measure up" to the successful people on the mentality of these Chinese educators is significant.

Jon is the only exception in this study who did not report any parental pressure in his career decision-making. In Jon's opinion, his parents hoped that he would be able to enter university. After he entered university, his parents stopped giving him any more pressure:

Jon: If I go to university, then that's it. Whatever I do in the future, it'll be my own decision. They won't put any more pressure on me. Actually they didn't. They just hoped that after I finished my degree

in Canada, I would go back to China. They wanted me to go back to China, but I would prefer to stay here.

This finding is different from those derived from the rest of the participants in this study. It may have to do with the different intensity of expectations or some other factors such as the participant's age, maturity or his or her parents' education levels.

In conclusion, the participants' career development appears to be influenced by their parental expectations. This finding is consistent with the literature which shows that in Chinese culture career choice is not just a personal decision. Rather, it is a collective decision made by the whole family or community. In the case of my participants, their career development is not only affected by parental expectations, but also impacted by the pressure from other family members, relatives, friends or even the Chinese community in which they live. Oftentimes, these expectations and pressure are intangible, yet are quite potent. Failure to meet these expectations often results in feelings of shame, guilt, and a loss of face.

4.2.2.2 Chinese Culture and Its Influence on Career Development

In the previous section, parental expectations were discussed and their effect on the participants' career decision-making process was examined. In this section, I put the emphasis on the positive and negative influences of Chinese culture on the career behaviour of these Chinese educators in the Canadian context.

Two conflicting themes emerged from the interviews with regard to the influences of Chinese culture on the participants' career development. First of all, the participants reported that Chinese culture in general focused on learning, diligence, perseverance and competitiveness, all of which are good qualities that could potentially help their career development. Conversely, the interviewees reported that Chinese culture values qualities such as modesty, conformity, passivity, restraint and regards failure as shame and a loss of face, all of which are attributes that may hinder their career development. The way in which the participants look upon the characteristics is significant for this study. In the following section, I trace several of the participants' opinions.

4.2.2.2.1 The Negative and Positive Aspects of Chinese Culture

Many participants in this study pointed out that certain attributes inherent in Chinese culture such as modesty, conformity, self-restraint, and unassertiveness could hinder their career development in Canada. This notion was drawn from comparing Chinese culture with Canadian culture. For example, Suling highlighted some of the key differences between the two cultures:

Suling: When I first came to Canada, I discovered that things were so different from those in China. In China I was told to be restrained, to be modest, and no matter what, always be modest, and never brag about myself. I was told that aggressiveness and exaggeration were totally negative things. While here in Canada, I have to be aggressive, I have to be good at marketing myself, promoting myself, and speaking of all the good things about myself. So being modest is not what I need in this society.

The Chinese concept of modesty to which Suling referred in her description may mean not openly talking about one's strengths and achievements in front of other people, especially one's superiors for fear that it could be perceived as showing off, which is not in line with the traditional Chinese virtues. Instead, the general rules are that people tend to be critical of themselves even though they know they have the abilities to perform certain tasks. In Canadian culture, people respond to other people's praises by saying "thank you". However, this is not generally accepted in China. The typical response that a person gives when being praised for speaking good English would be "no, my English is not very good. I still have a long way to go to get there". The notion of modesty is also reflected in one of Mao's quotations, which is most often cited by Chinese parents to teach their children to be humble. It goes "modesty makes people progress; pride makes people fall behind". This clearly shows that modesty is regarded as an important virtue in Chinese culture.

Despite the critical look at Chinese culture, Suling stated that she was not intending to be negative. She reflected upon some of the positive aspects of Chinese culture:

Suling: I think the important thing is that Chinese culture teaches you to be diligent, persistent and remain competitive. All three are

equally important because in China you have so many people to compete with. To make sure you can succeed, you have no other options but to work hard, remain competitive and be persistent in your effort. You have to compete with other people with similar backgrounds. So diligence, persistence and competition are the keys to success in China.

Suling's comments were echoed by Weihua who offered his opinion on the strengths of Chinese culture:

Weihua: As a person who's born and brought up under the Chinese culture, I think this person will be very competitive, hard-working and will never stop trying. I think these are the good qualities or strengths of Chinese culture.

Xuewen, after staying in Canada for twelve years, said that she had altered her perceptions of culture. According to her, what is good in one culture may not necessarily be good in another culture. For her, the best policy was to act in a culturally appropriate way. She elaborated:

Xuewen: Chinese don't brag about themselves. They don't like to show off. That's the oriental culture. However, in Canada, you have to show off, you have to boast. That's the major contradiction between the two cultures. I think it has a huge impact on how a person goes about looking for jobs. For example, when I started my job search, I was not used to selling myself in a very aggressive way, like Canadians always do. I was not accustomed to that way. I think some Canadians exaggerated about what they could do. They boasted about their achievements. I'm not used to this kind of way of selling myself, kind of like a dishonest way. I don't like that. But unfortunately, most of the people here do...I don't want to exaggerate on what I can do, but this is maybe the oriental way, and maybe this is not very good. "When in Rome, do what the Romans do," but unfortunately I did not spend much time doing that ... You can't be modest in Canada. If you are modest, you get no chance. If there is anything, I would say when you know what is needed in your resume, which can help you get this job, you have to put it on. Even if you work as a volunteer, you need to do it, do it the Canadian way.

Xuewen's feelings show the struggle between acting in a way that is in accordance with her cultural values and the realization that those might not be the values that will further her career goals in Canada.

4.2.2.2.2 Chinese Culture and Its Impacts on Chinese Education

Most participants in this study held the view that Chinese education failed to teach people certain important skills in life such as creativity, critical thinking and problem-solving skills. They attributed this to the Chinese cultural influences.

Weihua: The other side of Chinese culture, in my opinion, is that in Chinese education, they narrow your mind; they don't teach you anything that will help develop your critical thinking skills. Instead, they limit students in a very narrow subject area. Even the public opinions, like you should do whatever you have been trained [to do]. So I think these are the weaknesses of Chinese culture.

Other participants saw Chinese culture in a similar fashion. According to Ping:

Ping: I come from Chinese educational background, so I used to be quite passive in many ways. For example, I tend to listen to other people instead of having my own opinions. I was not very brave to share ideas. So that's part of the negative aspects of Chinese culture. I mean if you don't share ideas with other people, how do they know what you are thinking about or whether you like to share with them or whether you have any ideas at all (laughing), right?

Paradoxically, these comments revealed that while some of these Chinese educators believed that career success could be achieved through personal characteristics such as hard work, perseverance, and competitiveness, they might not be conscious of the possibility that at least part of their career development could be hampered by the perceived weaknesses exhibited in Chinese cultural values. This can be seen from the impact of Chinese culture on its education system.

Traditional Chinese cultural values have been fully manifested in Chinese education, which is characterized by cramming and rote learning. Respect for teachers is internalized by the students and the best way to show respect is to conform by not asking too many questions in class. If a student openly disagrees with the teacher in class, it may be perceived as deliberately challenging the teacher and therefore both the teacher and often students may regard the student as a "trouble-maker". On the other hand, Chinese culture values reserve and self-restraint, thus the Canadian style of open discussions in classrooms is very rare in Chinese schools. This may narrow the

students' horizons, resulting in a compliant student population and future workforce who are lacking creativity and originality.

However, this does not mean that every one of these Chinese educators' career development in Canada will be adversely affected. In fact, Ping insisted on distinguishing between the generalized culture of Chinese educators and individual characteristics. In her opinion, while Chinese culture may inhibit people's critical thinking skills, she felt that much also depends on how open a person remains to other cultures:

Ping: But this doesn't mean that every Chinese educator is like that, I mean being passive or lacking critical thinking skills etc. It depends. If you ask me if these aspects of Chinese culture affect my teaching style, I would say no. I think I learn. I think it depends on different people. Some people are very open to new things. Some people just like to hold on to traditional ideas. So it really depends.

This suggests that some of these Chinese educators are open to Canadian culture and therefore are able to adjust well. Some are able to identify certain aspects of Chinese culture which could potentially hinder their career development. Alternatively, others may show a willingness to learn and acquire new skills, thus making them less vulnerable to the fierce competition and other external constraints.

To sum up, two conflicting themes have been identified by the participants with regard to Chinese culture and its influence on their career development in Canada. According to the participants, Chinese culture embodies qualities that could potentially help AND impede their career development. While this is not being disputed, some contend that humans are not static and that as long as they are open to new cultures, they can learn new things which will make them stronger and more competitive in the labour market, thus making their career development experiences in Canada rewarding. The key cultural issue of differences lies in its effects on education and the resulting impacts on these Chinese educators. Specifically, in the Canadian context, these Chinese educators may be found to be less assertive compared to their Canadian counterparts in a job search.

4.2.2.2.3 The Impact of Chinese Culture on Career Choice

Both internal and external factors can potentially influence a person's career decision-making process. The former may include personal endowments, cognitive abilities, career interests, self-efficacy beliefs, career expectations, and career goals. Whereas the latter may include social, cultural, and political influences, for example, environmental supports and barriers. In this section, the participants' career choices are explored within the sociocultural context, specifically, how Chinese and Canadian sociocultural influences shape their career decision-making process.

In examining the relationship between career choice and Chinese sociocultural influences, several interesting themes emerged from the data. To begin, all the participants indicated that their initial career choices were closely related to their previous education and work experience. This may be attributed to the impact of Confucianism. One of Confucius' teachings is that a person learns something in order to apply it to the same field. Therefore, if a person chooses an occupation which has little relevance to the previous education that he or she has acquired, then it will not be regarded as a desirable or successful career regardless of however successful this person may be in that field. In this study, all the participants pointed out that their initial decision-making with regard to their career choices were based entirely on their previous education, training and work experiences.

Another theme that surfaced from the data was that these Chinese educators tended to make realistic and pragmatic choices. In other words, their career decision-making was focused more on job security and a stable income than their aspirations and interests. On the other hand, this may have been, in part, because of the fact that in Chinese culture, failure is always associated with shame and a loss of face. Therefore, a realistic choice means that one can locate a job in a relatively easy fashion and therefore can avoid losing face or having guilty feelings as a result of unemployment. This may also be a result of "fear" that in another country if one does not have a secure job and stable income, the survival of the family may be in jeopardy. Thus, financial rewards and job security are the major concerns when a decision is made about their career choices. As Suling made clear:

Suling: At that time, because we [my husband and I] were living in quite a shabby situation, we thought any permanent job would do. We did not have any preferences. It doesn't really matter whether it's an elementary, secondary, or post-secondary school teaching job. Anything would do to me. The reason is that neither [of us] had permanent jobs then in Canada, so survival, you know, became the bottom line. I needed to have a job to support my family and me. I had to be realistic. It's very simple.

This clearly shows that Suling was primarily concerned with job security and a steady income in order to support her family. Another participant, Xuewen offered some further insight and clarity by making the following statement:

Xuewen: Whatever decisions you make, it has to be on a realistic basis. Otherwise, you'll be starving. This means that for us [Chinese], we don't have as many choices as the native-born Canadians. For people with our backgrounds, when you do job hunting here, first of all, you don't look at the area you want the most, you only take a look at those possible areas where you can find a job. Why, because you have to support your family first. That's the basic thing. If you only wish to do something you are interested in, you are getting nowhere. No job there is waiting for you. You'll have trouble, serious trouble.... Well, adult-teaching jobs may be more suitable for me. But for adult teaching jobs, none of them is full-time. All of them are more contract-based and project-based. So I can't afford to do that. I need money, so that's the contradiction.

What intrigues me is that despite her belief that a career choice should be built on a "realistic basis", i. e., stable income and job security, she apparently did not seem to follow her own beliefs. This was indicated in the following comment:

Xuewen: What I don't like is the fact that you have to demean yourself sometimes when you wish to do something and you know that you can't. When you realize that your choice is not realistic, you have to find something more realistic for you, even though you don't like it. But I'm not that kind of person. If I don't like it, I don't like it.

This comment reveals inner tensions between her aspirations and the harsh reality. While Xuewen realized that she had to be realistic in Canada in order to find a job, she showed unwillingness to compromise her aspirations for jobs which she did not like.

Therefore, she must find an alternative to accomplish her goal and meanwhile meet the practical needs of the family. She suggested a possible solution to this dilemma:

Xuewen: If I have learned something after graduation, I think I have learned that I have to create opportunities for myself. Nobody is gonna create opportunities for you except yourself. Of course, if you are lucky, you can find education-related jobs. But again, you may change your mind later, and you may not be happy with whatever you have got. So there are always limits between what you can find to do and what you want to do. I think the important step I took in the past years is to find a way of creating things for myself, to satisfy myself, not necessarily waiting or getting something from somebody by luck.... I don't depend on others. I am independent. In China we rely on the country, on the government at different levels to provide job opportunities for us. So here we have to create opportunities for ourselves. This is what I have learned here.

This implies a self-managed entrepreneurial view of career design. For Xuewen, "the limits" were always there if she chose to work for others. Therefore, there was only one solution left: to work for herself.

In direct contrast to the above arguments is another participant's appraisal of the situation. Weihua viewed career choices in a different way. According to him, it would be a sad thing and a waste of talents for both China and Canada if Chinese educators had to focus their career choices on job security and stable income instead of on their aspirations and interests:

Weihua: To me, it'll be a hard decision to make. Many people have changed their mind. They either switch to computer or accounting or whatever fields that are more realistic and that can guarantee them a secure job and good money. To me, it's a sad thing. Money makes people crazy; they can even give up their own interests and their own education for many years. They even don't want to keep their own dreams any more just because of money and job security. It's kind of a sad thing for me. Many people with Ph.D. degrees are doing some jobs they are not supposed to do. I think they are wasting their education. They are wasting their ability. It's kind of sad for both Canada and China.

Weihua lamented what he viewed as a trend of some Chinese educators giving up on their dreams for job security and a stable income. His feelings point to the possibility that not all Chinese educators are willing to sacrifice their career aspirations or interests just to seek job security and a steady income.

The trend of some Chinese educators giving up on their career aspirations for job security and stable income may have to do with their attitude toward money, which again ties in with the cultural influence. In Chinese culture, people tend to be competitive with each other by comparing themselves with others in areas such as education and career. In many cases, the purpose of this comparison is not to have an objective assessment of one's own education and career in relation to those of others. Instead, the comparison is often aimed at making quick judgements about who is successful or unsuccessful in education or career. Oftentimes, the comparison is based on money and other materialistic things such as housing, automobile, or other possessions. Therefore, it is not surprising that job security and stable income are given so much attention because they are status symbols in Chinese culture and are often associated with the concept of "face". Another reason behind this trend may be connected with that "fear" that in Canada they do not have the social network which they used to have in China. Therefore, without a secure job and stable income, their sense of security may be threatened. This is probably why many of these Chinese educators focus their career on job security and a stable income.

Other themes relating to the participants' perception of Chinese cultural influences on their career development include the emphasis on personal qualifications, role models, peer influences as well as labor market trend. The focus on personal qualifications may have been in part due to Chinese cultural influences. Stevenson's (1992) research indicates that while most North Americans tend to believe in their innate ability, most Chinese people score high in believing in personal effort. With so much focus on personal qualifications, natural endowments and difficulty of tasks may often be disregarded.

In addition, as a group-oriented culture, Chinese culture values conformity and collectivism, individuals are not often encouraged to pursue their own interests and dreams. Therefore, following the general trend is commonplace. Peer influence may be a concrete example of these Chinese educators' tendency to following other people's footsteps instead of making career choices on the basis of their own individual

characteristics. For example, Weihua's career aspiration was to become a university professor in Canada. However, he regarded it as only idealistic rather than realistic. He attributed his dim view of a university career to the lack of role models in the higher education field:

Weihua: So far I don't think I can achieve this goal. Even if I had a doctoral degree, I wouldn't think there is a chance to get this kind of job because I know there are quite a few people who have doctoral degrees in education, and so far they haven't found any jobs in the university. I know they also want to find positions in universities. So if they can't make it, how can I expect myself to make it? This is only a dream.

The scarcity of role models in higher education made the college or the university seem a very inhospitable place for Weihua. As a result, he had to turn to other places where he could find role models and a support system that would make him feel secure and welcomed. His choice of becoming a public schoolteacher may explain this mentality.

Another participant, Suling cited several sociocultural influences that she considered important in a career decision-making and included labour market demand and existence of role models:

Suling: To make my final decision, there are several factors I have to consider: first, my own background, my strengths and weaknesses. Second, the demand in the labor market. What is the possible job there for me when I graduate? Another important thing is that you have to refer to other people's successful stories, like what types of jobs are they mostly doing and in what fields? So combine these factors, you make your final decision on a future career. It's not just what you want to do, but what the market wants you to do. This is true even with those Canadians who were born here. When they choose their careers, they have to consider these factors as well. You don't do anything just out of your own interests. You can think of becoming a rocket scientist, or a minister in the government, but do you have the qualifications needed for the job? You have to be realistic. Of course, you always have kind of like a goal, which is not always realistic, otherwise, if you don't have that, your life will become meaningless, you'll have no motivation and you'll lose your momentum. You need a goal as something to keep you going. However, at the same time, you have to be realistic.

From Suling's comment, we can see that she focused more on the fit between her own qualifications and the demand of the labor market than on following her personal dreams. In addition, peer influence and role models played an important part in her decision-making process. Suling's approach of balancing "reality" with ideals shows the tendency of some of these Chinese educators to be practical in making their career choices. That is, the labour market factors play a more important role in their career decision-making than their own aspirations. This may be common to most immigrants. Comparing herself to other Canadians may reflect a low level of career maturity and indecisiveness in career decision-making. It may also reflect some of these Chinese educators' tendency of trying to justify their own decisions. The implications of this finding lie in the fact that for anyone following his or her dreams is important.

Although this may not necessarily mean leading to immediate job security or stable income; however, one thing remains certain: that is, by following their dreams, these Chinese educators may find job satisfaction and personal fulfillment. This is important because these may lead to eventual occupational success.

Other interesting themes that surfaced from the interviews included the participants' subsequent discovery of their interests through doing jobs which were not their initial choices. For example, three participants, Ping and Jon started out working in fields which were not quite the same as they had initially planned. However, through doing their respective jobs, they gradually developed an interest in their fields and began treating them as their careers. This finding has especially been true for Jon. He treated his teaching job in an elementary school as merely some kind of work. However, through teaching, he quickly discovered that he really liked the job. He also saw opportunities for further promotion. Therefore, Jon began to see that he could develop a career in that. Another two participants, Suling and Ping, reported the impact of negative job experiences on their career decision-making. For example, after making several futile attempts at job-hunting for ESL-related jobs, Suling decided that the ESL field was an unwelcoming place for her and she finally made a decision to switch to what she considered to be a more practical program for her doctoral studies. In Ping's case, the negative experiences she had working in a restaurant made her aware of the existence of racism and differential opportunity system. She described these negative

experiences as not being treated equally and not appreciated for the work she had done. In addition, she mentioned that she was always treated as a foreigner. Oftentimes, she felt that she was cheated or taken advantage of by the boss and other co-workers. Therefore, she did not really feel happy about the job. In these circumstances, choosing a teaching career might also have been a way of escaping from the structural barriers surrounding her.

In general, the interviewees' career decision-making process appears to be heavily influenced by Chinese culture, specifically Confucianism. Major findings include making career choices on the basis of previous education and experience, believing in personal qualifications and effort, and tending to make "realistic" choices, defined according to availability of stable and secure employment. Other important themes that emerged from the data include the effect of peer influence, role models as well as the labor market demand on career decision-making.

4.2.3 Perceptions of Barriers

In the last section, the impact of Chinese sociocultural influences on the participants' career development was examined. The purpose of this section is to explore the sociopolitical constraints that may impede these Chinese educators' career development in Canada. Specifically, I asked the participants to talk about their perceptions and experiences of barriers in relation to their career experiences. The majority of the participants reported *individual barriers* such as language incompetence, lack of Canadian experience and unfamiliarity with Canadian culture and *structural barriers* such as discrimination, racism and a differential opportunity system. In addition to the individual and structural barriers, these Chinese educators' attitudes toward these barriers and their coping strategies were also explored. Individual barriers and structural barriers are interrelated to each other. In many cases, structural barriers result in individual barriers or make individual barriers more severe.

4.2.3.1 Individual Barriers

In this study, the participants tended to treat individual factors such as inadequate command of English, lacking Canadian job experience, and unfamiliarity

with Canadian culture as major occupational barriers that impeded their career development. Throughout the interviews, the majority of the interviewees described how individual attributes affected their occupational experiences. For example, when responding to the question of what the major barriers were in his career development, Jon replied with the following:

Jon: I think the major one is the language and also the lack of Canadian experience. If you are trying to find a college or university job, especially in the field of education, you must have some teaching experience in North America. Otherwise, it's very difficult to teach your students. If you don't have any teaching experience in Canada, how can you teach other people, and help them to teach?

Another participant, Suling elaborated on her perceptions of barriers. According to her, two individual attributes account for her occupational disadvantages: the inadequate command of English and lack of knowledge about Canadian culture. She reflected on how the English language barrier affected her job search experiences:

Suling: I expected some barriers. For example, the most serious one in my job search is that I'm from a non-English speaking country. If I want to work in the ESL field, I need to speak and write English as well as native speakers. But I know you can never reach that level because you were an adult when you started learning English. You may write a little better, but when you speak, there's always an accent. Sometimes there are always delicate things such as how to choose the right word for the right context. In ESL, you are competing with native speakers. So this is the major barrier that's fatal in my case because you are going to teach other people English. When you speak, they can tell the difference.

Suling went on to describe the need to familiarize her with Canadian culture:

Suling: There may also be some cultural barriers. For example, in China you don't have to look for a job, jobs come to you actually. But in Canada, you have to look for a job. So you have to know how to take care of yourself. You have to engage in the process actively. That's the difference. In order to do that, you have to adjust to Canadian culture. You have to do it in the Canadian way. Otherwise, you'll get lost.

From Suling's comment, I sensed that she was referring to "aggressiveness" and "being more active" in her career search in Canada. She gave me the impression that given time she would adjust quite well culturally. However, according to her, the language barrier seemed insurmountable that she even used the word "fatal" to describe it.

Therefore, it was not surprising that she was very likely to choose a career outside the ESL field in order to avoid dealing with the language deficiency she had perceived as a major barrier to her career success. It is interesting to note that Suling seemed to put much emphasis on having to be active in Canada and taking initiative in her career search. While being active and aggressive in the job search is absolutely necessary, it may not be a panacea for all the career-related problems that these Chinese educators face in Canada. In addition, being aggressive may be difficult to do when one is unfamiliar with the subtle cultural norms.

In Weihua's case, his career aspiration was to teach in a Canadian university. However, he regarded it as unrealistic simply because of his perception that he had an inadequate command of English and lack of knowledge about Canada. He made the following comments:

Weihua: I prefer to be a university professor, but so far it's like a dream. It's almost impossible because one problem is the language. I have no problem communicating with people, but as an instructor, if you want to teach in a university, you have to have a very good command of English. It's not like you can speak or talk. You have to be very familiar with the Canadian culture. You have to understand it well. You have to understand students in class and you have to use English in the way students can accept in Canada. As an educator, if your language is not good and your speaking is not good, how can you teach [other people]? So I think it's a big problem.

Weihua defined these barriers as deficiency in language and cultural competency. In terms of deficiency in Canadian culture, he was referring to lack of knowledge about Canada and those subtle cultural norms in interpersonal relations as well as in other areas such as teaching in a higher education setting. Weihua believed that the university setting would require a higher degree of competency than he felt he had. Another participant, Ping, described individual barriers she had experienced in teaching in a public school:

Ping: Language is the first barrier. I wasn't very confident because even if I could speak, read and write, but different workplaces have different languages to use. And also when you deal with the students, they have to adjust to your language because they will think that it sounds different from their Canadian teacher. So I learned through all these years. Language is the first [barrier]. Experience is the second or maybe the first still. For example, how would they discipline the kids in school, the routines of the school, teaching styles, teaching methods, teacher-parent conference time, report cards time... You have to know the language of how to put the words down for the report card time for each student. Lots of things to learn.

According to Ping, such subtleties in language and cultural competencies are specific to different work environments. For a schoolteacher, such competencies would be complex, ranging from in the norms of staff relations and school routines, to understanding subtle cues of students' and parents' cultures. All these took time to learn.

In this section, all the participants point to the lack of Canadian experience, unfamiliarity with Canadian culture, and inadequate command of English as individual factors that if combined will hinder their career development in Canada. The following section focuses on the structural barriers existing in the Canadian sociopolitical system, which could impede the career development experiences of Chinese educators.

4.2.3.2 Structural Barriers

There is a fundamental debate on whether individual attributes are mainly responsible for an ethnic minority person's occupational disadvantages, or whether it may be institutionalized barriers such as racism, discrimination, non-recognition of foreign work experience and devaluation of foreign credentials. To determine what barriers account for the occupational disadvantages of the participants, I asked them about what structural barriers they had perceived or experienced in their career search experiences.

To my great surprise, the majority of the participants only briefly mentioned structural barriers throughout the interviews. This was in sharp contrast to their lengthy descriptions of the individual barriers in the previous section. As a matter of fact,

according to my observation, many of the participants seemed to be quite ambivalent and slightly reticent to talk about the structural barriers. For example, among the five participants, only two overtly mentioned non-recognition of previous experiences and credentials as a major barrier in their career search experiences. The rest made only a brief mention of the structural constraints that existed in Canadian society.

The following are the participants' voices with regard to the structural barriers that could impede their career development in Canada. In response to my question of whether she had perceived or experienced any discrimination in her career search, Ping denied it flatly:

Ping: Not at all, not at all. In schools, there is no such thing as discrimination. They are very sensitive. They don't show it. They treat people really politely and friendly. I think that's part of the reason why I like teaching in schools, not so clearly being discriminated against as I was working in restaurants before.

According to Ping, school was a place where racism and discrimination were not tolerated. I questioned Jon in the same manner. His answer was slightly ambiguous. In his opinion:

Jon: There may be a lot of people, in their heart; they don't like people of different colors. But they don't act on it. They don't show it. That's probably in a way not really racism. Even among minorities, for example, in my heart I don't like certain kind of person, for example, I don't like people being too fat. But I am not going to tell that person that I don't like him or her. So that means I'm still a good person, is that right?

On the surface, Jon seemed to admit that racism and discrimination did exist; however, according to my observation, this might or might not be true. The ambiguity toward racism may show the tendency of some Chinese educators having internalized racism. This "colour-blindness" may also explain the tendency of why some Chinese educators "buy into" the mainstream stereotypes on ethnic minorities, including but are not limited to Chinese people.

Xuewen was the only participant who admitted overtly that her previous experience had not been properly recognized. However, when it came to the question

of who was to blame for her occupational disadvantages, the answer she gave me was provocative:

Xuewen: I knew my experience wouldn't be recognized. I knew that. I think people here are realistic, when they see that this guy worked mainly in China and never worked here before, they don't want to train this kind of person. They don't want to invest time and money in a position just to make you familiar with what you should do. That's one of the major barriers. All my experiences before were not recognized. They only want North American experience, but I don't have it. So they'll look for someone else. As an Asian, an ethnic minority person, I feel that they don't like to hire somebody like us mainly because they will feel more comfortable to work with a Caucasian, other than an Asian-looking [person] who doesn't have any experience here before, who is still learning. This is how the system works here. I felt that there was a racist stereotyped attitude but I didn't have any evidence. So I have no comment on that. They wouldn't say that. If they said that, I would look for someone to deal with them.

This reveals that although Xuewen acknowledged the existence of structural barriers, for some reasons she did not want to criticize the institutions that imposed those barriers on her. She implied that if she were sure that she had been discriminated against, then she would take action. Instead, she blamed the lack of Canadian experience and held it responsible for her occupational disadvantages.

"Qualifications don't always count" was what Suling came up with after an unsuccessful job competition with a person whose qualifications she thought were far lower than hers. Suling thought that the other applicant was hired because she is a Caucasian. In spite of this, when I questioned her on whether she felt she was discriminated against, somehow Suling was reluctant at first to put the blame on anyone:

Suling: People don't tell you you are not interviewed or hired because you are not a Caucasian. I don't know if it's hidden. Maybe, maybe not. But like I said, you are not told so, then how can you appreciate that?

I probed again by asking what she thought the real reasons were. She finally shared the following in an ambiguous way:

Suling: I don't know. Sometimes you might feel part of the reason is because you are not White. In that job competition, the other person has different qualifications from mine. But for that particular job we were competing, I'm positive that I am more qualified because I know the other person well and I know her background. Discrimination might be a factor. Otherwise, how do you explain it? My name immediately tells I'm Chinese.

This forms somewhat a contradiction to the previous statements made by other participants maintaining that individual attributes should be held responsible for a person's career success or failure. In Suling's case, her qualification was better than that of the other person; however, according to her, qualifications were not the sole criteria when it came to hiring.

In another case involving Weihua's teacher certification application, he reported lengthy procedures and unprofessional attitudes on the part of local education authorities. He stated that he was discriminated against for lacking Canadian credentials. According to him, it took him a year to be finally certified; however, for people with Canadian credentials, it could take as little as two months. Even with his Chinese credentials, Weihua contended that he was overqualified for a public school job. He was glad that he finally obtained his certification but was frustrated with the bureaucracy and dismissiveness he felt he had received during the one-year lengthy waiting period.

In conclusion, it appears that individual, structural or institutionalized barriers do exist in the Canadian society, thus posing a threat to the career development of ethnic minority persons. In this study, structural barriers take the form of occupational discrimination, stereotyping, segregation as well as a differential opportunity system. Occupational discrimination can take the form of lower pay, poorer reviews, or fewer promotions. Occupational segregation and stereotyping contribute to the existence of each other and make each situation worse. A differential opportunity system is built on the practice of encouraging, supporting, or solidifying differential privileges to different groups based on race. For the Chinese educators in this study, the institutional barriers they had experienced include their credentials not being properly recognized and being victimized by a differential opportunity system. However, throughout the interviews,

Chinese educators seemed hesitant to talk about structural barriers. Even among the very few participants who reported that they were victimized by institutionalized barriers, they somehow fell short of expressing any strong sentiments and tended to avoid blaming the institutions.

The following section serves as a continuation of the previous section. It is focused on the attitudes Chinese educators have toward structural barriers and the corresponding coping strategies they adopt in their career search process.

4.2.3.3 Attitudes towards Barriers and Coping Strategies

Throughout the interviews, the participants made a link between personal effort and occupational success. In this sense, it is not surprising that these Chinese educators tend to avoid discussion of the existence of structural barriers. Instead, in most cases, they would attribute their lack of occupational success to personal factors such as lack of Canadian experience, inadequate command of English, and insufficient personal effort. Therefore, it is not surprising that one of the most often cited coping strategies for these Chinese educators was to improve their own qualifications. In other words, they would rather blame their own educational or experiential deficiencies.

The following participants expressed their attitudes towards career-related barriers and corresponding coping strategies. Their comments serve to answer two questions, that is, "who is to blame" and "what to do accordingly." For example, Weihua described the major barriers in his career search experiences and the corresponding coping strategies. According to him, his inadequate command of English and his unfamiliarity with Canadian culture were the major barriers. As to the coping strategies, he stated in the following way:

Weihua: I think to me the most important step is to improve myself and to compete with Canadian people, the English speakers. I always push myself instead of complaining about somebody else.

This implies that improving one's qualifications and making more personal effort is more productive than simply making complaints about other people.

I questioned Suling in the same manner but her answer was more direct than Weihua's. In her opinion, the biggest barrier was herself. In order to prove this point,

she referred to other people with similar backgrounds who became successful in their careers.

Suling: I think the major barrier for me is myself. I have to beat myself because there are successful stories. ³⁴ There are some people who are from the same country, speak the same language, and are educated mostly in the same country with the same educational system and who become successful in this country. I'm talking about Chinese people, or other visible ethnic minorities. They succeed in this society, why not me? So it totally depends on myself. I have to work harder.

Although Suling made no mention of structural barriers in her comment, she did agree that people should fight against any forms of discrimination. She made these remarks when responding to my follow-up question regarding how to cope with career-related barriers:

Suling: Beat yourself. Improve yourself. That's the only way. At the same time, if you feel that there is any kind of discrimination, you should fight against it. Otherwise, if you just passively accept it, it'll be there forever. That's also written in the Constitution. You should fight for everything, equal opportunity and equal rights, and so on. Also, you need kind of network. Even Canadians need kind of network. Eighty percent of employment is done through internal network, through the referral in North America. So you can see only twenty percent are done through public channel. The best jobs are never publicized.

It is interesting that Suling's coping strategies on fighting against racism and discrimination seemed to be meant only for other people. She maintained that through personal effort and through proper networking, she could achieve her occupational goal.

I then turned the same questions to Jon and Xuewen. Jon's reply was brief, and his advice and attitudes on what the major barriers were and how to overcome them were similar to Weihua's. Jon offered the following perspectives:

³⁴ Beat myself: Suling means competing with herself in this context.

Jon: I think for anyone, no matter you are Canadians, Americans, Chinese, or Japanese, if you have the knowledge, skills, and attitudes required for the job, and meanwhile there is a vacancy there in the market, if you go and apply, there is always an opportunity there. I think it's very important to prepare yourself for the job, rather than blaming other people. It's no use blaming other people.

This implies that Jon took a self-determined view of his career searching in Canada. This may reveal a neo-liberal view of believing in the ability of oneself as well as the market forces instead of taking into consideration of the structural constraints that impede the career development of any disadvantaged groups, including but are not limited to ethnic minorities.

Despite his unsuccessful career search attempts due to various structural arrangements including the non-recognition of her previous experiences, Xuewen insisted that the reason why her job search was unsuccessful was due to a lack of Canadian experience:

Xuewen: Sometimes I don't blame them mainly because I know that people here are very practical. If you have never had any experience here, you need to have some. I can't afford to have some experience without being paid. This is a very practical thing. If I work, I need to get some pay. I need to work, and I need to support my family. So if I can get a chance, I think I can do as well as anyone else. But I didn't get an opportunity. So that's the frustrating thing.

She acknowledged that she should have had some volunteer experiences, but insisted that her financial situation did not allow her to do that.

From the above comments, it appears that all the Chinese educators in this study strongly believe in personal effort. This may be a result of traditional Chinese cultural influence as well as these Chinese educators' belief that a person has to be active and self-responsible in determining one's own destiny in Canada. Therefore, most participants believe that their occupational success depend on their own qualifications and individual determination. They seem more likely to blame themselves rather than blame any racist and oppressive structures in society for their occupational disadvantages. In other words, it appears to be their belief that individual attributes such as one's cognitive abilities, experience, command of English, as well as familiarity

with the Canadian culture are major determinants of their occupational success or failure.

4.2.4 Acculturation and Ethnic Identity: Toward a Bicultural Identity

While section two focuses more on traditional Chinese cultural influences, this section emphasizes the role of Canadian culture in shaping the participants' new cultural identity. Specifically, this section deals with the acculturation process and how it helps form the participants' new identity and how it affects their career development experiences in Canada. For the purpose of this study, ethnic identity concerns the issue of which cultural identity, whether it is a Chinese identity, a Canadian identity or a Chinese-Canadian identity, best serves the interests of the participants in terms of their career development. Acculturation pertains to whether high acculturation, medium acculturation or low acculturation best helps Chinese educators' career search experiences in Canada. To avoid confusion, acculturation focuses on the process while ethnic identity (e.g., a bicultural identity) emphasizes the outcomes of this process.

Several common themes are apparent throughout the interviews. Among them are (1) all the Chinese educators in this study appear to recognize the important role ethnic identity and acculturation play in their career development experiences; (2) it is generally acknowledged by most participants that a higher degree of acculturation will help one's career development, whereas a lower degree of acculturation will impede one's career development; and (3) many participants seem to realize that it is impossible to completely conform to Chinese cultural norms in Canada. In addition, considering that racism and discrimination are something that cannot be ignored, a high degree of bicultural competence is therefore preferred. This implies that many of these Chinese educators realized that living in Canada they needed to adjust to Canadian cultural norms. However, they also realized that it was impossible for them to be fully integrated into Canadian society even though they were fully acculturated. Therefore, it seems natural for them to take a balanced approach, i.e., keeping the best part from each culture and becoming a bicultural person. It seems to be one of the few options for them to have dignity and win respect from both Canadians and Chinese without fearing

to be ill-treated by the mainstream because of being too different and to be despised by their fellow Chinese because of behaving like a non-Chinese person.

4.2.4.1 Acculturation and Its Impact on Career Development

Acculturation has been described, and is usually assessed, as a process of giving up an individual's traditional cultural values and behaviours while taking on the values and behaviours of the dominant social group (Suinn, Rickard-Figueroa, Lew, & Vigil, 1987; cited in Atkinson, Lowe, & Matthews, 1995). In other words, it is a process of a person's interaction with mainstream culture. The Chinese educators in this study recognized the importance of acculturation in shaping their career decision-making and therefore aspired to acculturate into Canadian culture through active participation in the activities which they believed would eventually help their career development in Canada.

To determine the role of acculturation in the participants' career development. I questioned several Chinese educators in this study on how they view acculturation and its impact on their career experiences. Xuewen was emphatic in her response:

Xuewen: I would say the more you know the mainstream culture here, the more advantages you would have in your career search. That is proved true. You have to learn something from your own experience and my own experience tells me if you want to be involved in the activities of the mainstream society, you have to understand its culture. There is no other choice. If you don't understand that, people will look down upon you. Maybe people will ill-treat you. They will not treat you in a decent manner mainly because you don't understand their culture.

To Xuewen, those who are less acculturated are more likely to be discriminated against by the mainstream in their career search process. I made a follow-up question on how she viewed her own acculturation. She replied in the following way:

Xuewen: I don't know. I believe I understand most aspects of the mainstream culture, but I still need to improve. I'm still learning. It's not easy to fully understand every aspect of the Canadian culture, especially those subtle things. For me I think it's lifetime learning. I believe the more you know, the more you benefit from it. You always benefit if you are eager to learn, if you are willing to learn.

The above statement reveals that acculturation is a learning process. Certain subtle things such as humour, sarcasm, political or religious beliefs may take longer time to learn. Xuewen appeared to have committed herself to an extended process of adjusting to the mainstream culture.

Another participant, Jon, believed that high acculturation was the best way to help one's career development. According to him:

Jon: Acculturation is very important. If you know the mainstream culture, then you'll probably know their expectations. I mean you have to know the Canadian culture first, which means that you have to be fully acculturated, and then you have to know the culture of the particular place where you are looking for jobs. Take a very traditional school for example, basically if you want to teach there, you have to know the culture of that school. You have to be very comfortable with the traditional teaching philosophy. If you go there with a very progressive teaching philosophy and trying to teach in this traditional school, even if you are qualified, you have the knowledge, skills, and experience, but your philosophy is different, they probably wouldn't accept you. If they accept you, later on they know that they will have some trouble with you because your philosophy is different. So you have to understand the culture.

I followed up by asking him what his opinion was on low acculturation. He went on to respond in this way:

Jon: For people with low acculturation, that'll be very hard. Employers feel if they hire you, you'll not be part of the team. When they hire someone, they'll see how this person can fit in the team. They expect someone to come to work with other people. So you can't be too different. If you are so different, it might be hard for you to work with other people, and also it may be very hard for other people to work with you. So the employer will have to think about it.

Jon seemed to allude to Canadian acculturation and specifically work-culture acculturation. For example, in a particular Canadian school culture, a common teaching philosophy may need to be adopted by all the staff including Chinese educators who hold teaching positions in the school. This may be considered as a micro-acculturation.

For Jon, high acculturation seemed to be indispensable to a successful career in Canada while low acculturation is totally undesirable.

It seems that the Chinese educators in this study strongly believed that acculturation played an important role in facilitating their career development in Canada. Part of this notion may be built on the fear that if less acculturated they might be more susceptible to occupational discrimination.

4.2.4.2 Toward a Bicultural Competence

According to Anda (1984), "Minority individuals must learn to function in two environments: their own culture and that of the mainstream society" (p. 101). Studies have shown that a minority individual's understanding and participating in both cultures without sacrificing one for the other is not only possible but also desirable (LaFromboise, Coleman, & Gerton, 1993; Liu, 1998). In this study, the participants acknowledged that a bicultural competence would be conducive to their career development. This notion was based on the need to familiarize them with Canadian culture in order to be accepted by the mainstream and therefore be less susceptible to discrimination against in their career search experiences. It was also partly based on their belief that it was almost impossible for them to achieve full integration to Canadian society no matter how highly acculturated they became. Suling's case proved this point. Therefore, a bicultural identity seemed to be the most realistic choice for them.

For example, although Ping believed that acculturation was important not only in her working environment, but also in her daily life, she rated herself "bicutural" or "medium acculturated". In her words, "Some part I like [the Canadian way]. Some part I like the Chinese way". As Ping put it:

Ping: Acculturation is very important in teaching or in any settings. Teaching is not the only thing you do in life. You socialize with people everyday. That's the major part. So if you don't know the culture, if you don't open up to the people you are working or living with, it'll be a big problem because they won't accept you. The school principal, your boss won't accept you. You will be really distant from the mainstream culture. You'll feel isolated. And I can tell the difference. If you are comfortable with them, they are

comfortable with you. But if you keep yourself far away from them, they think you are not with the group. So you really have to interact with the people around you...I think I'll rate myself medium acculturated. Some part I like the Canadian way. Some part I like the Chinese way. Maybe I belong to that so-called "bicultural" group.

A bicultural identity seems to allow Ping to take what is good from each culture, thus making her balanced in her cultural identity. For example, she learned to be less reserved and formal in her interpersonal relations. This may be a result of Canadian cultural influence. On the other hand, certain Chinese values such as hardworking, respecting seniors and superiors may be retained by her. In the case of Weihua, adjusting to Canadian culture does not mean abandoning his own. A balanced approach, according to him, is an ideal one. He referred to this approach in teaching when asked if he would like to adjust to Canadian ways and make changes on teaching styles. He responded in the following way:

Weihua: Yeah, I would like to do that because I don't think teachercentered [teaching method] is the best way. Also, I don't think student-centered is the best way either. I think if you can find a balanced way, that's better.

In the case of Suling, although in her opinion it was desirable to be highly acculturated, she expressed her skepticism about the link between high acculturation and a full integration into Canadian society. In addition, it is almost impossible and probably undesirable to totally discard the Chinese cultural values. Therefore, she stated that a bicultural competence was needed:

Suling: I know that everyone wants to be part of the mainstream. It represents power and influence in the society. So everyone wants to be integrated in the mainstream culture as much as possible. However, I noticed that it will be difficult because you can see that even for those second, third generation visible minority immigrants, it is still difficult for them to be fully immersed in the mainstream. Why? Because inside you may think you are a Canadian, and therefore part of the mainstream, but how would the mainstream look at you? Why do you think people call us Chinese Canadians instead of Canadians? So there is a boundary, immediately you are out. What I mean is that I want to be in the mainstream. I want to be in

this most powerful group. However, would the mainstream accept me? So that's why people call the Chinese "bananas", which means inside you are white, but outside you are still yellow. Your appearance is still Chinese. I want to be part of the mainstream. However, I know it's unrealistic, at least now it is. I want to be a Canadian, but I know in many ways it's hard. Also, it's very difficult to be completely like Canadian. In many ways I am still very Chinese. So I think a bicultural identity is the best.

Suling's description is powerful and thought provoking because it represents a person who aspires to be integrated into the Canadian society but somehow realizes that it is not quite realistic or suitable. I sensed her frustration and continued to question her on what type of acculturation would be most beneficial to one's career development. Suling explained:

Suling: I think medium acculturation is the best. I think if people know two cultures, it would help in a way in that they are aware of the strengths and weaknesses of both cultures. That's why people say travel makes a person wise because they see the differences, they know the merits, the advantages of those good things and they try to get rid of those bad things and weaknesses. High acculturation means they throw away totally what they brought with them, totally assimilated, which means, like I said, good things or bad things. When they throw away everything, I don't think it's good. I think in this global age, information era, we need people who not only know their own country, and their own culture. We need people to know the world. People with low acculturation make themselves unavailable to the mainstream. They immediately shut themselves out of the opportunities. They isolate themselves, and they may be hostile to other people.

Suling's description indicates the desirability of becoming a bicultural person. Her perspective seems to be influenced by the desirability of cultural globalization. In this sense, she sees possibilities in offering up both of her cultures as strengths. In this increasingly globalized world, retaining one's own culture is important because anyone who understands more than culture can serve as cultural ambassadors and this makes sense not only in cultural terms, but in educational and economic terms as well.

In summary, all the participants in this study realized the important role acculturation plays in their career development. Therefore, they all made an effort to familiarize themselves with the Canadian culture. While there is only one participant

who regarded assimilation as the best way to help his career search experience in Canada, the rest of the participants seemed to prefer the notion that a bicultural identity was the most conducive to their career development.

4.2.5 Self-Efficacy Beliefs

According to Gloria and Hird (1999), self-efficacy refers to confidence in an individual's ability that he or she can perform specific tasks to achieve particular outcomes. Self-efficacy beliefs play a very important role in shaping one's interests, actions, and performance in relation to career development (Lent et al., 1994). For the purpose of this study, I assumed that the social, cultural, and political contexts in which Chinese educators are situated would influence their beliefs about self-efficacy. Specifically, dimensions such as acculturation, sociocultural influences, sociopolitical constraints, positive and negative career search experiences were regarded as factors which would have an impact on these Chinese educators' self-efficacy beliefs.

Throughout the interviews, the participants described at various lengths how environmental barriers and supports had influenced their self-efficacy beliefs. Specifically, as I have shown in earlier sections, these factors consisted of unfamiliarity with Canadian culture, inadequate command of English, lack of Canadian experience, racism, discrimination, and a differential opportunity system. Furthermore, the unsuccessful career search experiences also have a detrimental impact on these Chinese educators' career self-efficacy beliefs. Of the participants, only one participant argued that cognitive abilities such as knowledge, skills, abilities, and attitudes were the only factors which influenced his career self-efficacy beliefs. The rest of the participants agreed that their career self-efficacy had been affected by those contextual influences such as the aforementioned individual and structural barriers, negative career search experiences as well as environmental supports such as networking they had received.

The following is a brief description of the participants' accounts with regard to career self-efficacy as well as the contextual influences that affect it. The first participant I approached was Suling. Here is how she responded to my question on whether career-related barriers had a negative impact on her self-efficacy:

Suling: Definitely. Sometimes you wonder "am I really so stupid?" You ask yourself the question "why did other people succeed? I work so hard, why did I fail?" I sometimes even doubt whether I am capable. I think I work hard enough—no weekends, no evenings, no social life, nothing. I work hard, and I always believe I could succeed. However, sometimes when you don't, you start doubting your ability. So it does affect my confidence. Sometimes you lose your confidence in yourself. After a few times of failure, I know what's suitable for me and what's not suitable for me. For example, I don't apply for any ESL related jobs any more after several negative job search experiences in that field because I know I have so many competitors who are native speakers. Also, although many ethnic minorities were born in Canada, you don't see many visible minorities teaching in ESL field. There is competition, and there is discrimination as well.

Although Suling's self-efficacy beliefs were low after several unsuccessful career search attempts in the ESL field, she said she quickly regained her confidence after switching to another program in which she had a tremendous interest. She added:

Suling: Initially I was not confident because I didn't succeed in anything. I applied for two or three jobs, but it's total failure. So this definitely doesn't increase your confidence. Instead, it makes you lose your confidence. But when I switched my area, I think it gradually gave me confidence because I found that I'm useful again. And also people started hiring me for what I have been studying, so this increases my confidence a great deal. So when you succeed, in some cases, it boosts your confidence. But if you always lose, I don't think it'll be helpful for your confidence.

This shows the impact of successful and unsuccessful career search experiences on a person's career self-efficacy beliefs. Ping's story corroborated this finding. In her case, the first two years of teaching in public schools were hard and this had an impact on her self-efficacy. As a result, she had a poor self-concept and low confidence in her ability to communicate with her colleagues well. Fortunately, this did not last too long before she felt comfortable with herself in teaching. Another participant, Weihua, did not elaborate on his self-efficacy beliefs. However, through conversations he appeared to demonstrate strong self-efficacy beliefs in him.

In the case of Xuewen, after she graduated from university, she immediately started her career search. But unfortunately, she explained that most of the places for

which she had applied did not even reply to her applications. As a result, she was left wondering what was going on. She described this experience and how it affected her self-efficacy beliefs:

Xuewen: As I mentioned, if you got no response from the companies, or government institutions, you didn't know what's wrong with your own experience. If you get feedback from them, even if you didn't get the position, you'll know where you need to improve. So this is why sometimes you lost your confidence, you didn't know where to go. You got nowhere mainly because you didn't know where you need to improve, where your strengths are, you don't know, because the other people didn't recognize them and they even didn't talk about it.

This frustrating experience may have affected Xuewen's self-efficacy beliefs, which may have triggered her idea to start her own business. Xuewen's story may also suggest that her problem lies in the gap between her expectations and what happened, which she interpreted as there being "something wrong" with her experience (as opposed to simply lack of fit).

Jon, on the other hand, believed that self-efficacy arises from cognitive abilities. In his words, knowledge, skills, and attitudes are all the elements for a successful career search. As Jon put it:

Jon: Once you have the knowledge, skills and attitudes, confidence will obviously be with you. If you don't have these, even if you are confident, you are not going to be hired. Confidence is not important. The most important is the knowledge, skills and attitude. Once you have these, from your conversation, people will say you are qualified to teach. It's not your state of mind; it's your state of your ability that matters. Confidence is not given. Confidence is acquired. Once you have all these three aspects, knowledge, skill and attitude, confidence is automatically with you. What I am saying is that ability is very important. A lot of people are very confident because parents, former teachers probably believe that to make a person confident, then he or she will be able to succeed. But in essence it's not true. Confidence shouldn't be given. Confidence is acquired. Once you acquire it, it's very important.

Jon firmly believed that cognitive factors of career self-efficacy should be held responsible for a person's career search success. He failed to incorporate any external

factors into the equation.

In conclusion, the career self-efficacy beliefs of the Chinese educators I have interviewed appear to have been affected by both internal and external influences. Among these are cognitive abilities, individual and structural barriers as well as negative career search experiences. Of all the five participants, four of them reported negative career search experiences in their perception. Only one participant did not report any negative job search experience. Through the interviews, participants also briefly mentioned the role environmental supports had on their career self-efficacy beliefs. These supports include verbal encouragement, networking as well as organizations offering career-related services. However, they did not elaborate further on this aspect of their career development experiences.

In the following section, I will discuss the major issues that have emerged from the data analysis from my own point of view. This is based on linking the themes of the foregoing discussion of the participants' experiences with themes from the literature review and as well as my own critical reflections.

4.3 Discussion of Significant Findings

The interpretation of findings focuses on five main themes. The first theme is related to the concept of career. Although the participants viewed career as a dynamic concept which was closely linked to their ability to realize their goals in life and to contribute to community development, their concept of career is found to be focused more on the practical needs than on their aspirations and intrinsic interests despite evidence that two participants find meaning and interests later in their respective jobs. This compromise of their career concept is related to the social, cultural and political influences on these Chinese educators' career development. The second theme features Chinese culture in which high expectations, achievements and sacrifices on the part of Chinese educators and their parents are discussed. The third theme pertains to the relationship between individual barriers and structural arrangements that affect Chinese educators' career development. It serves to explore the question, "Who is to blame?" Acculturation and ethnic identity is the fourth theme in this section, which highlights Chinese educators' need for a bicultural competence. The last theme involves self-

efficacy beliefs. It deals with the important role self-efficacy plays in Chinese educators' career decision-making as well as the personal, contextual, and environmental factors which affect the development of self-efficacy beliefs for Chinese educators.

Generally speaking, in this study the participants' career development in Canada comprised both positive and negative experiences. Despite the social, cultural, and political constraints imposed on them, the majority of the participants were able to find decent jobs that were related to education.

4.3.1 The Concept of Career

In this study, the participants' concept of career seemed to be influenced by many factors, which may include traditional Chinese cultural values, internalized beliefs by the participants as well as external impediments imposed by the differential structures in the Canadian sociopolitical system. In addition, the Chinese educators in this study viewed career as a dynamic concept. They attributed this notion to factors such as education, traditional Chinese cultural values, Canadian sociopolitical influences, technology as well as labour market demand.

4.3.1.1 A Dynamic and Ideal Concept

Super (1976) describes career as the multiplicity of roles a person plays and career choice as the implementation of one's self-concept in an occupational role. This definition of career seems to be mirrored by the concept of career that was shared by the Chinese educators in this study. That is, career was not merely a job, or an occupation which is characterized by working and obtaining financial rewards, but rather a manifestation of their intrinsic interests as well as an opportunity to make important decisions in life which are closely related to self, family and community at large. In the case of Xuewen, her definition of career was very different from the conception held by her parents. In her opinion, her parents' definition was more focused on job security and a steady income. In other words, they seldom changed their career concept and they seldom changed their jobs in life. The participants' definition, however, provided for a great deal more flexibility of choice. That is, the concept of career was changing

as life progressed. Intrinsic interest, labour market trend, and technology could all be factors that prompt them to make a career change.

4.3.1.2 Self, Family and Community

Throughout the interviews, all participants demonstrated strong personal career aspirations. These personal career values were family-based and community-based. In their opinion, choices that were made about career paths must not only be good for the self, but positive for family and community as well. Cultural influence might play a role in this regard. Chinese culture emphasizes valuing the collective group rather than the individual. The profound sense of commitment and feelings of indebtedness and responsibility for the family are critical in the career decision-making process. In this study, high parental expectations and feelings of making the parents happy about their career choices were evident. Personal career values were found to be closely tied to a powerful sense of responsibility and allegiance to family and community.

4.3.1.3. Constraints, Reality and Compromise

Within the Canadian sociopolitical context, the participants' personal career values appeared to have been influenced by many internal and external factors. Workplace discrimination based on race and ethnicity continues to affect Chinese educators' career development. The stereotypic views about Chinese Canadians as being strong in sciences and engineering and weak in verbally oriented careers seemed to be internalized by many Chinese educators. They seemed to attribute their occupational disadvantages more to their individual attributes than to the institutional barriers. For example, they mentioned lack of Canadian experience and linguistic difficulties as being responsible for their lack of success in career. This apparent "blame-the-victim" mentality contradicts the differential opportunity structure in Canadian sociopolitical system that denies entry of Chinese Canadians to certain occupations. As a result, the participants' career self-efficacy belief appeared to have been deeply affected.

Many of the participants' comments revealed feelings of being compromised by external factors. The greater sociopolitical structures of which the participants were a

part placed them in the position of having to make career decisions they would not otherwise have made. The need to survive and provide for the family left many Chinese educators with no other choices but realistic choices, that is, a secure job and steady income seemed to take precedence over their career interests. Two participants reported that they later developed an interest in their jobs although they started from a practical basis.

In conclusion, these Chinese educators' concept of career was influenced by social, cultural, and political factors. It was found to be closely connected with self, family, and community and impacted by the differential opportunity structure in the Canadian sociopolitical system. As a result, these Chinese educators' concept of career seemed to be focused more on practical needs such as job security and steady income than on their personal career aspirations and interests.

4.3.2 Sociocultural Impacts on Career Aspirations and Choices

This section deals with the impacts of traditional Chinese cultural influences on the participants' career development in Canada. It focuses on three main themes: high parental and self-expectations, parental and self-sacrifices as well as a focus on high academic and occupational achievements. It is also argued that these achievements came at the expense of certain important skills in life such as critical thinking and problem-solving skills.

4.3.2.1 High Parental and Self-Expectations

Chinese cultural values are deeply entrenched in family life. As Yu and Yang (cited in Liu, 1998) described, in a group-oriented culture, "external expectations are potent as the family or other in-group sets the standards, evaluates the individual's performance, and determines outcomes" (p. 577). In fact, among many Chinese, the motivation to achieve and to excel has been internalized at a very early age due to the powerful role of culture and parental expectations. This internal drive for success is so strong that in order to succeed and remain competitive people have to work hard, keep learning new things and persevere in their effort. Therefore, in Chinese culture, achievements and prestige are always highly valued and failure is usually linked to

shame and loss of face (Bond, 1986). In order not to lose face and bring shame on the family, many Chinese usually feel that they have no other choices but to achieve success in life.

One of the major findings that surfaced from the interviews and data analysis is that the participants experienced pressure to achieve occupational success because of high internal and external expectations. Sources of external pressure were (a) the parents, although oftentimes their pressure is intangible as in many cases in this study; (b) the Chinese community, where social conversations revolve around education and career achievements. In this study, the majority of the participants reported parental pressure at varying degrees in their career decision-making process. For example, as Weihua explained, "I can definitely feel the pressure... I never told (my parents) I didn't have a full-time job in Canada. If I told them the truth, they would be very upset". This was echoed by Suling who reported that "it'll just be unimaginable" if she could not find a decent job and do well in Canada because it would embarrass her parents, relatives and friends. Ping made a similar comment in relation to parental pressure by recalling that her parents were actually disappointed when she told them about her career choice as an elementary school teacher. In their opinion, it was not a professional career.

4.3.2.2 Parental and Self-Sacrifices

The high internal and external expectations exhibited among these Chinese educators, their parents, and other family or community members may have something to do with Confucian influence. In Confucius' view, learning is the supreme form of human activity. Achieving excellence in learning is the only way that a person can ascend to a high-ranking position. Under this influence, the primary responsibility of the parents is to motivate and supervise the students as well as provide for them in the hope that the children will achieve education and career success and thus bring honour to the family. Many Chinese parents are willing to make sacrifices for the sake of their children because they perceive these sacrifices as a long-term investment in their children's education and career. Therefore, children usually harbour a profound sense of filial piety and a strong feeling of indebtedness to their parents and they tend to make

a commitment to their parents' welfare and happiness, which usually includes providing financial support and caring for their parents in old age. This notion is highly consistent with Leong and Serafica's (1993) recent study on the career development of Asian Americans. According to them:

Career choice and career development may be seen as means of providing for one's own family, helping one's siblings, and fulfilling one's responsibility to care for parents in their old age than as ways of implementing self attributes such as gregariousness...They [Asian Americans] may value career success and advancement more for the honour bestowed upon the family than as expressions of their individuality (cited in Leong & Chou, 1994, p. 167)

The success attained in career therefore brings honour on the family. This reciprocal obligation between parents and children reveal a powerful role one's parents and family play in his or her career development experiences.

The aspect of parental sacrifice passes from generation to generation and is often transferred to the overseas Chinese who still hold traditional Chinese cultural values. For the participants in this study, several of them were willing to sacrifice their own career aspirations for the sake of their children's future education and career success in Canada. For example, in Weihua's case, although he realized that his previous experiences would not be recognized, somehow for the sake of the family, he was willing to sacrifice his career aspirations by staying in Canada and taking a job which was not what he aspired to do initially. He described the experience as follows:

Weihua: I thought several times to go back to China to continue my university teaching job, but things are very complicated because my wife is here, my daughter is here. It's hard to make a decision to go back to China. I think not only me; many of my friends are in the same situation. They stay only because it's good for their children's future. I don't think they are really happy. Many of them have changed their minds. They have given up their interests—they went to NAIT to study computer, or accounting, just for money. They don't want to keep their dreams any more. It's kind of sad for me.

Suling, Xuewen and Ping all had the similar experiences. They chose to stay in Canada after graduation in hopes of having a better future for themselves as well as their children. However, because of certain structural constraints they perceived, they felt

they had to compromise their career aspirations and interests. This finding is consistent with Shon and Ja's (1982) study on East Asian families. They point out that East Asian families immigrate to North America for economic security. Therefore, parents usually do whatever they can to provide for the family. Because of the language barriers and workplace discrimination, many of them are trapped in employment with little mobility. However, these sacrifices are tolerated in the hope that their hard work will be rewarded by their children's future success (Shon & Ja, 1982).

Another contributing factor to the high external and internal pressure may have something to do with China's population and the competition it has created. Resources are disproportionate to the number of people who share them, thus making education and career development highly competitive. In order to survive the fierce competition and achieve education and career success, external and internal expectations have to be high so one can remain motivated and stay competitive. In many cases, this means sacrificing many extracurricular activities and opportunities to develop hobbies and other interests.

4.3.2.3 High Achievements and Chinese Education

The high external and internal expectations shown in many Chinese people may help explain why many Chinese students aspire to gain admission to a prestigious university and enter a high status or an honourable profession upon graduation. This notion is consistent with Chinn and Wong's (1992) findings in which they note that the fields of study chosen by Chinese students are "characteristically those with high extrinsic rewards coupled with high prestige, such as medicine, dentistry, natural sciences, engineering, architecture, economics, accounting and computer science" (p.121). These paths differ from the routes taken by academics who are not rewarded well in China financially. Instead, teachers and professors choose their career for intrinsic rewards.

Another interesting finding from data analysis is that despite the high expectations, hard work and achievements among Chinese people, it seems that certain important skills necessary for developing a person's all-round abilities may have been neglected and compromised. For example, the participants articulated throughout the

interviews their perceptions that the Chinese educational system failed to train them with critical thinking and problem-solving abilities. As Suling noted, what have been regarded as good qualities in Chinese culture such as restraint, modesty, and passiveness have become liabilities for her career development in Canada. Ping and Weihua offered their perspectives by arguing that certain aspects of Chinese culture narrows their minds and jeopardizes the development of their critical thinking skills. This was echoed by Xuewen who asserted that modesty is regarded as a virtue in China but in Canada she learned that she had to abandon it and be more aggressive in order to impress the potential employers during the job search process. For Xuewen, "When in Rome, do what the Romans do" is the best policy to adjust to the Canadian way of doing things.

In Chinese society, Confucian influence is strong and ubiquitous. This can be shown in people's attitudes toward occupations. According to Confucius, those who use their brains will rule while those who use their brawn will be ruled. Therefore, throughout Chinese history, people who have performed physical work have always been looked down upon. Parents, in order to have their children stay focused on their schoolwork, seldom asked them to do any manual work. As a result, all students were encouraged to learn is from the textbooks. That is why many people say that Chinese students are found to be strong in theoretical skills but weak in practical. In addition, parental pressure as well as internal expectations makes many students work hard on their schoolwork, which means that students usually spend hours on memorizing textbooks and doing assignments both at home and in school. As a result, the chance to engage in extracurricular activities and develop hobbies and interests are often neglected.

Another Confucian tradition that prevails is modesty and decorum.³⁵ This has been pointed out by many of the participants in this study. As a matter of fact, most Chinese educators in this study regarded it as an impediment to their successful career search in Canada. According to Leong and Serafica (1993), traditional Chinese culture emphasizes reserve and formality in interpersonal relations, inhibition of strong

³⁵ Confucius: Confucian philosophies continue to hold a place in Chinese culture. Young and old alike can quote famous Confucian proverbs.

feelings, restraint, and obedience to authority. This may explain why some participants believed that the educational system failed to train people with necessary critical thinking skills. Politically, Chinese leaders may not want people to be critical thinkers out of the consideration that they may challenge their legitimacy and rule. In fact, this may explain why Mao started the Cultural Revolution.³⁶ For this purpose, educational system can serve as a tool to brainwash people in order for them to obey and follow the rules. This way of thinking contradicts the way that the participants described as the mind-set necessary to succeed in building a career in Canada, that is, a person has to be aggressive to succeed in the labour market.

In short, several themes relating to Chinese cultural influences on the participants' career development emerged from the interviews and data analysis. The first one is that most Chinese educators in this study reported experiencing high parental expectations in their career search process in Canada. In many cases, the pressure seemed to be intangible but potent. Confucian influence and the competition as a result of population explosion are accounted for the powerful parental involvement in their children's education and career development. Many Chinese parents are often willing to sacrifice their own interests for their children's education and career future, and this was evident in the findings of this study. These Chinese educators were apparently willing to sacrifice their own career aspirations for the sake of their children's future

³⁶ The Cultural Revolution: in full "Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution" is an upheaval launched by Chinese Communist Party chairman Mao Zedong during his last decade in power (1966-1976) to renew the spirit of the Chinese revolution. Fearing that urban social stratification in a society as traditionally elitist as China could threaten his power, he mobilized the country's urban youths and organized them into groups called the Red Guards in order to provide them with a revolutionary experience and to achieve some specific policy changes so as to make the educational, health care, and cultural systems less elitist. During the Cultural Revolution, China's cities were thrown into turmoil: schools were shut down, Red Guards were encouraged to attack all traditional values (including Confucianism) and "bourgeois" things, many intellectuals were not only verbally attacked but were physically abused. Many died. Key politburo leaders were removed from power. Large armed clashes between factions of Red Guards were occurring throughout urban China. The resulting anarchy, terror, and paralysis completely disrupted urban economy. It ended with Mao's death and the purge of the Gang of Four in the fall of 1976. Its consequences are serious: they include political instability, economic slowdown, bureaucratic timidity, and a whole generation of youths being denied education and productive careers. The fundamental damage to all aspects of the educational system took several decades to repair. Another serious problem is the corruption within the party and government. Many people became disillusioned with the party leadership and turned away from politics altogether. Among the people themselves, there remained bitter factionalism, as those who opposed each other during the Cultural Revolution often shared the same work unit and would do so for their remaining careers.

education and career in Canada. Another finding is that many of the Chinese educators interviewed for this study appeared to regard Chinese culture as something that hindered the development of their all-round abilities such as critical thinking and problem-solving skills. Political reasons were also explored to account for this aspect of Chinese cultural influence.

Generally speaking, the participants in this study and their career development experiences in Canada have been greatly influenced by certain aspects of Chinese culture. This influence is characterized by high expectations, achievements, and sacrifices on the part of parents, the participants as well as the participants' own children. It is found that Chinese culture is deeply entrenched in family life and also heavily influenced by Confucianism.

4.3.3 Individual Barriers and Structural Barriers: What Prevents Career Success?

As noted earlier in this chapter, all participants in this study identified individual barriers as major factors impeding their career development in Canada. Compared with individual barriers, structural barriers received relatively little attention from the participants. For the purpose of this study, individual barriers are described as participants lacking Canadian experience and linguistic abilities needed for Canadian jobs while structural barriers are depicted as institutions failing to recognize foreign credentials and experience. Other individual and institutionalized barriers comprise individual attributes such as unfamiliarity with Canadian culture and other structural constraints imposed by the Canadian sociopolitical system, including but are not limited to stereotyping, racism, prejudice, discrimination, segregation, as well as differential opportunity system.

4.3.3.1 "Blame-the-Victim" Mentality

One of the most striking findings from the interviews and data analysis is that the majority of the participants tended to believe that it was their fault if they had not obtained a good job in Canada. In other words, they were inclined to accept individual attributes as the major factors which may have hindered their career development. For

example, among all the participants who offered their perspectives on career related barriers, five cited lacking Canadian experience, four quoted inadequate command of English and four mentioned unfamiliarity with Canadian culture as the major barriers that had affected their career development. In direct contrast to these arguments, only three participants briefly touched upon institutionalized barriers. Among them, two talked about institutions failing to recognize their previous education and experience and one alluded to discrimination and the differential opportunity structures in Canadian society.

In spite of the minor complaints about structural barriers, few overtly blamed the institutional injustices, which may include occupational discrimination or differential opportunity structures in hiring and promoting. Throughout the interviews, the participants tended to agree that they had themselves to blame. For example, as Weihua reiterated, "I always push myself instead of complaining about somebody else." Suling expressed her viewpoint by saying, "I think the major barrier is myself. I have to beat myself, improve myself. That's the only way." Xuewen made a similar comment, "Sometimes I don't blame them (the institutions) mainly because people here are practical. If you have never had any experience here, you need to have some." The institutions, then, are not blamed for participants' self-perceived "deficiency".

4.3.3.2 What Is Behind This Mentality?

Several factors may contribute to this mentality. First, these Chinese educators' occupational beliefs seem to tie in with meritocracy and the classic liberal notion of individual responsibility in the free market. In other words, the changing perceptions of public and community good to individualism and individual responsibility seem to take precedence. Therefore, it is not surprising that although several participants asserted that they were entitled to certain jobs in the market on the basis of their qualifications, their rationales for failure to obtain such jobs were centered upon self-blame. In these cases, individual attributes were held accountable for explaining any occupational success or failure while social, cultural and political influences have mostly been disregarded in the process. Ratner (2000) illustrates the neo-liberal notion of individual responsibility in his latest study on agency and culture:

The individualistic notion of agency exempts society from critique because it presumes that each individual is responsible for his own problems. Since each individual can deal with social events any way he wishes, any difficulties he may suffer are due to his style of dealing with events, not to the events themselves. People who suffer under poverty, war, discrimination, and autocratic leadership could disabuse themselves of any problems by simply learning to ignore, circumvent, or negate them. If they don't, it's their fault. There is no need to criticize or alter the social system (p. 424).

These Chinese educators' attitudes toward individual barriers and institutionalized barriers seem to be aligned with this neo-liberal belief in individual responsibility in the free market place³⁷.

In their recent study on the devaluation of foreign credentials as perceived by visible minority professional immigrants, Basran and Zong (1998) point out that failure to locate individual barriers in the Canadian sociopolitical context and structural arrangements often result in immigrants blaming themselves for not being able to acquire professional jobs in Canada. Therefore, there is a correlation between individual barriers and structural barriers and it is sometimes difficult to separate one from the other, especially for visible minority persons who may perceive racial discrimination. For example, lacking Canadian experience is considered an individual attribute, but it is related to employers refusing to recognize or value foreign experience and to hire visible minority persons in jobs suited to their education and training (Basran and Zong, 1998). Thus, in the case of the Chinese educators in this study, it

At the international level as well, elements of neo-liberalism include:

³⁷ Neo-liberalism: According to Martinez & Garcia (1996), neo-liberalism has the following elements:

The rule of the market—freedom for capital, goods and services, where the market is self-regulating
allowing the "trickle down" notion of wealth distribution. It also includes the deunionizing of labour
forces and removals of any impediments to capital mobility, such as regulations. The freedom is
from the state, or government;

Reducing public expenditure for social services, such as health and education, by the government;

Deregulation, to allow market forces to act as self-regulating mechanism;

Privatization of public enterprise (things from water to the internet);

Changing perceptions of public and community good to individualism and individual responsibility.

Freedom of trade in goods and services;

Freer circulation of capital;

Freer ability to invest.

would not be accurate to consider their occupational disadvantages as resulting from two types of barriers in isolation.

Leong and Chou (1994) offer their perspective of this phenomenon from the standpoint of racial identity and acculturation. In their study, they link racial identity and acculturation to the vocational behaviour of Asian Americans. They propose that Asian Americans who are the least ethnically identified will perceive and experience the least amount of occupational discrimination because they tend to believe that the lack of success of Asians is due to individual lack of ability and not to discrimination. They expressed their concern in this way:

This belief that lack of success is because of lack of personal effort characterizes someone who is not strongly identified with their ethnic culture and who somewhat "buys into" the majority culture's stereotypic beliefs about minorities, namely that minorities' economic difficulties are due solely to their lack of effort and other internal attributes (p. 166).

This implies that those who are more assimilated to the mainstream Canadian culture are more likely to have this "blame-the-victim" mentality and "buy into" the mainstream stereotypes on minorities and the neo-liberal notion of "let the market rule" and that as long as there is equality of opportunity, minorities are on their own to succeed.

Another factor which may help explain why the Chinese educators interviewed for this study tended to underplay the impact of sociopolitical constraints in Canadian society is that most Chinese people usually score high on believing in personal effort, while Canadian students and their parents tend to believe in innate ability (Stevenson, cited in Chen, 1996, p.2). In this sense, the participants of this study may have believed that they could achieve occupational success through personal effort such as hard work, perseverance, and competitiveness. In addition, according to many participants, peer influence is important in most Chinese people's educational and career socialization. For example, parents often like to compare their children's academic and career success with those of other children. This can put enormous pressure on the children because success means bringing honour on the parents and family while failure means bringing shame and loss of face on the household. Therefore, Chinese students are often

motivated to achieve and to excel as the result of their socialization experiences. In these circumstances, most Chinese people often believe that failure is a result of lack of personal effort. In addition, blaming other people may sound like searching for excuses for one's unsuccessfulness, which in most cases will be regarded as unreasonable and therefore subject to other people's ridicule.

In general, a sense of entitlement to a better job appears to be widely held among the participants in this study. The tendency to blame themselves primarily for the failure to get a better job seems to be strong among Chinese educators. Although several participants point to institutional forces for their occupational disadvantages, they typically see themselves as active agents of many of their own present and future education and job choices in the context of such constraints (Livingstone, 1999). The choice that is most frequently referred to is improving one's own qualifications through education and training.

4.3.4 Identity, Acculturation and Career Development

Ethnic identity and acculturation are closely related to each other. The former is focused on the outcomes, whereas the latter is on the process in which a person's identity is developed. A review of the literature indicates that for Asians, including Chinese Canadians, "their ethnic identity and status in the acculturation process serve as moderators in many areas of their lives, including career development and experiencing of the opportunity structure in the mainstream society" (Leong & Chou, 1994, pp. 163-164). For the purpose of this study, emphasis was given to possible effects of ethnic identity and acculturation on the career behaviour of the Chinese educators in this study.

4.3.4.1 Acculturation as an Escape from Occupational Discrimination

Throughout the interviews, most participants emphasized the important role their ethnic identity and acculturation play in their career development experiences in Canada. This finding is consistent with Leong and Chou's (1994) notion that Asian Americans' ethnic identity and status in the acculturation process serve as moderators in their career development experience. For example, Xuewen maintained that a person has to understand the mainstream culture in order to be involved in the mainstream

activities and she agreed that acculturation is a learning process. Ping offered her insight by stating that acculturation is not only important in her teaching but also makes socialization experience with her colleagues more fulfilling. The reasons they gave me were more or less similar. That is, they stated that higher acculturation made them less susceptible to occupational discrimination. This sentiment is captured by Xuewen's comment:

Xuewen: There is no other choice. If you don't understand [the mainstream culture], people will look down upon you. Maybe people will ill-treat you. They will not treat you in a decent manner mainly because you don't understand their culture.

Ping expressed her viewpoint by saying, "it'll be a big problem because they [the employers and colleagues] won't accept you". As Jon made clear, "If you are so different, it may be hard for you to work with other people, and it may also be hard for other people to work with you. So the employer will have to think about it". Therefore, from these participants' point of view, acculturation is essential.

These statements point to the fact that ethnic identity and acculturation were important dimensions in some participants' dealings with occupational discrimination. One interpretation of the above finding is that the participants may have perceived that assimilation was the only way to avoid occupational discrimination. In other words, they did not want to be perceived as being too ethnically identified for fear of being viewed as "troublesome" compared to someone who is less Asian or Chinese ethnically identified. This may explain why many participants in this study shared the view that high acculturation was the most desired. It may also explain why these Chinese educators tended to attribute their lack of success to individual lack of ability and not to discrimination. For them, blaming the dominant group for lack of success may contradict their desire to be included in this most powerful group. Therefore, many participants "bought into" the majority culture's stereotypic beliefs about ethnic minorities. That is, they seemed to believe that lack of success in one's career was due solely to his or her lack of personal effort and other internal attributes.

Another finding that was generated from the interviews and data analysis is that in addition to showing desirability for high acculturation, the participants pointed out unanimously that low acculturation would hinder their career development.

For example, Jon raised concerns with people who are less acculturated.

Jon: It'll be very hard [if you are less acculturated]. Employers feel if they hire you, you'll not be part of the team. When they hire someone, they'll see if the person can fit in the team. They expect someone to come to work with other people. So you can't be too different.

Suling offered her perception of the problem by stating that "people with low acculturation make themselves unavailable to the mainstream. They immediately shut themselves out of the opportunities. They isolate themselves, and they may be hostile to other people [in the mainstream society]".

The above comments made by several participants are congruent with Leong and Chou's (1994) research findings on the role of ethnic identity and acculturation in the vocational behaviour of Asian Americans. In their study, they propose that Asians who are less acculturated are more susceptible to occupational segregation and may believe occupational stereotyping to be more valid. They attribute this phenomenon to the traditional Asian cultural background which emphasizes reserve, restraint, and formality, attributes which are more suitable for work in fields that do not stress aggressive or confrontational behaviour, thus contributing to segregation in the workplace. Other factors may include their difficulties with the English language or understanding the mainstream norms of social interaction, thereby resulting in segregation into fields which require less mastery of the English language and less social interaction.

In terms of occupational choice and interest, according to Leong and Chou (1994), less acculturated Asian Americans may regard careers more as a means to an end (e.g., financial security). Moreover, they may exhibit less self-efficacy in career choice, interest, or expectations because of the strong family influence. As a result, they may be more likely to find themselves trapped in jobs with less occupational prestige, leading to less job satisfaction and little mobility.

4.3.4.2 Fostering A Bicultural Flexibility

Despite evidence that many participants showed a preference for high acculturation, several of them raised their concerns about its limitations. In addition, they expressed doubts about whether the mainstream would accept them even if they made an effort to acculturate. They also realized that Chinese culture has certain strengths to draw on. Therefore, in their opinion, a bicultural competence was perhaps the most feasible and desirable for both their personal and career development in Canada. This sentiment was captured by Suling's following comment:

Suling: I think medium acculturation is the best. If people understand two cultures, that's really cool because they get the best things from both of them. You don't want to throw away whatever you have in your culture in order to become assimilated into the Canadian culture. In this global age, we need people who not only know their own country and their own culture. We need people to know the world.

Weihua and Ping both expressed their viewpoint by stressing that there was no such thing as one culture being better or more superior than the other. For them, every culture had its merits. The best policy was to take what was good from each culture in order to make them stronger.

For Suling, it was the other side of the story. Although she expressed desirability for high acculturation, she was skeptical on whether this would stop the mainstream from discriminating against them.

Suling: Inside you may think you are a Canadian, and therefore part of the mainstream. But how would the mainstream look at you?... Would the mainstream accept me?... Your appearance is still Chinese. I want to be part of the mainstream. However, I know it's unrealistic, at least now it is. I want to be a Canadian, but I know in many ways it's hard.

One interpretation of this comment is that although Suling aspired to be fully integrated to the Canadian mainstream society, she realized that racism and discrimination would still be there. She felt she still wouldn't be fully accepted by the mainstream society. In these circumstances, a bicultural identity seems to be both natural and necessary.

LaFromboise, Coleman and Gerton (1993) present a bicultural competence model which posits that a minority person's understanding and participating in both cultures without sacrificing one for the other is not only possible but also desirable. They argue that maintaining effective relationships with both cultures can facilitate bicultural competence and subsequent emotional well-being. In this sense, minority individuals must learn to function in two environments: their own culture and that of the mainstream society (de Anda, 1984).

In this study, some participants demonstrated "medium acculturation" by referring to a bicultural identity or a Chinese-Canadian identity. As Ping explained, "Some part I like the Canadian way. Some part I like the Chinese way". Suling remarked that "medium acculturation is the best". Supporting the bicultural competence literature, the findings of this study suggest that some participants were progressing toward a high degree of bicultural competence as manifested by their descriptions and experiences. According to Maceri (1999), bicultural individuals possess flexibility about learning that reaches out to other domains. He states that bilingual individuals' brains are characterized by what researchers call a "plasticity" of the brain, making it easier to pick up new things. Because they understand that there is more than one way to say the same thing, bicultural individuals know that there is also more than one way to acquire a new skill or solve a problem. This flexibility about learning is vital for business and industry in an ever-changing technological world where employees are constantly asked to acquire new skills.

In summary, the findings of this study suggest that the Chinese educators interviewed for this study recognized the importance of ethnic identity and acculturation in their career development experiences in Canada. Their desirability to be highly acculturated showed a tendency to avoid workplace discrimination. This may contribute to the notion that these Chinese educators tended to blame themselves for their lack of success in career. All participants in this study agreed that low acculturated persons were more susceptible to occupational stereotyping, segregation, and discrimination. In addition, they tended to exhibit less self-efficacy and less job satisfaction in jobs with less prestige with limited mobility. Throughout the interviews, some participants seemed to realize that a bicultural identity or Chinese-Canadian

identity was probably the most realistic and desirable identity. This was based on a notion that high acculturation or assimilation had its limitations; Chinese culture had its certain strengths, and a sense that workplace discrimination would not disappear. Therefore, a bicultural competence was desired by some of the participants.

4.3.5 The Role of Career Self-Efficacy Beliefs

For the purpose of this study, Lent, Brown and Hackett's (1994) social cognitive career theory is utilized to explore the factors that are essential to Chinese educators' career development. Anchored in Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory, Lent et al.'s theoretical model emphasizes the predictive role of self-efficacy in career development (Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999). It posits that career behaviour is mutually influenced by self-efficacy beliefs, outcome expectations, and personal goals (Lent et al., 1999). According to Bandura (cited in Gloria & Hird, 1999), "self-efficacy beliefs, or an individual's beliefs that he or she can perform specific behaviours to achieve particular performance outcomes, are the most central mechanisms of personal agency" (pp. 157-158).

Lent et al.'s (1994) model asserts that self-efficacy beliefs and outcome expectations are the key elements in shaping career interests, actions, and performance. According to this model, a person chooses a certain occupation because he or she feels confident in that area; this confidence then leads the individual to be interested in that area. Interests then lead to career-related actions and performance. Thus, it is important to learn about self-efficacy because people's perceptions regarding their ability to perform an activity will influence their interest in that activity. Interest, in turn, affects actions and performance related to the activity.

According to Lent et al. (1994), in addition to the cognitive factors of career self-efficacy, other personal and contextual factors, such as race/ethnicity, acculturation, support system, role models or peer influences, labour market trends, and past learning experiences are all major sources of career-related self-efficacy beliefs. Although not regarded as sources of self-efficacy, environmental supports and barriers do affect career-related beliefs and actions as coping with such commonly occurring

environmental hurdles as racism and differential opportunity structure can arouse anxiety, which in turn influences one's self-efficacy (Hackett and Byars, 1996).

In this study, according to most participants' descriptions of their experiences, their career self-efficacy beliefs may have been influenced by several factors which include the following: (1) traditional Chinese culture; (2) acculturation; (3) role model and peer influence; (4) support system such as networking within the Chinese community; (5) labour market; (6) past learning experiences such as successful or unsuccessful job experiences; and (7) individual/institutional barriers. To substantiate the above statement, many participants shared their opinions on the factors that influence their career self-efficacy. For example, Jon was the only participant who held that cognitive ability and labour market shortage were the sole factors that influence one's career self-efficacy. The rest listed Chinese culture, acculturation, individual and/or institutional barriers, positive and/or negative previous job experiences, lack of role models, peer influences, and labour market need as major factors that influence their career self-efficacy.

Throughout the interviews, most participants reported high parental expectations in their career decision-making process. Because respect of parents is a strong trait in Chinese culture, the wishes of the parents may be a strong factor. This may also explain Leong's (1991) finding that East Asians demonstrate higher levels of dependent decision-making styles as well as lower levels of career maturity and vocational identity than White North Americans. Therefore, parental and family involvement in career planning may affect these Chinese educators' self-efficacy in career decision-making. Moreover, traditional Chinese culture values qualities such as hard work, perseverance, and competitiveness, all of which are elements necessary for Chinese educators' education and career success. However, other attributes such as reserve, formality, inhibition of feelings, conformity, and nonaggressiveness in interpersonal relationships may serve as impediments in Chinese educators' career development in the Canadian cultural context. This conflict between Chinese culture and Canadian culture may also affect Chinese educators' self-efficacy beliefs in their career development.

In terms of the effect of acculturation on self-efficacy, many participants in this study indicated that more acculturation means more adaptation to the mainstream

culture and therefore less discrimination from the dominant group. They also pointed out that those who are less acculturated might be susceptible to stereotyping and discrimination. This finding is congruent with Leong and Chou's (1994) notion that Asian Americans who are less acculturated may exhibit less self-efficacy in career choice, interest, or expectation. Gloria and Hird (1999) argue that "by adopting a higher other-group orientation (e.g., bicultural flexibility and understanding) racial/ethnic minorities may be more efficacious in the world of work, without necessarily abandoning their own cultural values" (p. 169). Again, this is substantiated by the participants in this study who regard bicultural identity as desirable because they would see both the strength and weakness of each culture and therefore be able to make a more realistic career choice.

During the interviews, four participants identified lack of role models, peer influences, and labour market need as factors influencing their career development. For example, all of the participants expressed a desire to work in post-secondary institutions. However, due to lack of role models and other reasons, none of them ended up working in higher education fields. Of the two participants who were working in public schools, according to their descriptions, their career choices were in a way influenced by peers who had already been in the field. Another participant who expressed interest in pursuing a public school teaching job might also be encouraged by the successful experiences of his peers. Of course, labour market need was also a factor for their consideration. In Xuewen and Suling's cases, market forces might be the major determinants for their respective career choices, namely, a private business and a future career in technology field.

According to Lent et al. (1999), "the most robust source of self-efficacy beliefs is personal mastery experience; successful performance enhances self-efficacy which, in turn, raises the probability of future effective performance; failure experiences tend to diminish self-efficacy" (p. 299). This is corroborated by three participants' shared experiences. For example, after Suling's negative experiences with her job searching in ESL field, she decided never to look for jobs in that field again because her confidence was shattered. In the case of Xuewen, many unsuccessful job search attempts made her

realize that she had to create opportunities for herself. Therefore, she started her own business instead of waiting for the job to come. She described her experiences:

Xuewen: I tried different things, tried different areas, not just educational administrator positions, but also some other positions which I believe I could use my own expertise to work for those kind of companies, but I wasn't successful. This is why I lost my confidence. Maybe this is why I didn't want to try more. Maybe this is why I learned that I got to create a chance for myself instead of waiting there.

This comment corroborates Lent et al.'s (1994) notion that past learning experience is the primary source of career self-efficacy.

As for the support system, in addition to utilizing government employment centers and seeking help from career counselors, the majority of the participants in this study alluded to the role of friends and networking in their career search. Jon's description was typical:

Jon: It was friends and network that really helped me. I just stayed in my home and people phoned me. I had several important friends and that helped a lot.

Three other participants offered similar perspectives. For them, friends and network were instrumental in their career search experiences in Canada.

The interpretation of this finding is that in Chinese culture, career development mostly depends on *Guanxi* or relationship. Therefore, in Chinese society, it is not about what you know, it is about whom you know. Most job search is done through friends' referrals. This network may include one's parents, other family members, relatives, friends, colleagues, teachers, students, or any other possible connections. In China, in some cases, this may involve bribery or a return of the favor on the part of the job seeker. For the Chinese educators interviewed in this study, this *Guanxi* or networking still works well in the Chinese community in Canada. Although they did not mention the bribery aspect of *Guanxi*, I assume that it is not an aspect of the *Guanxi* in Canada. Therefore, most participants in this study referred to *Guanxi* in the sense of "networking" as a major factor which had helped them in their career search.

Finally, according to the majority of participants, individual and structural barriers affected their career self-efficacy beliefs. As mentioned earlier in this chapter, most of the participants attributed their lack of success in career to individual barriers. In other words, they tended to blame themselves for their occupational disadvantages. The most cited individual barriers include difficulties with the English language or understanding the mainstream norms of social interaction as well as lack of Canadian experience. For the purpose of this study, I focus my discussion on English language proficiency, as it was the most cited individual barrier in the interviews. An analysis of this barrier may shed some light on the interrelationship among cultural, social and political factors that affect Chinese educators' career development and how it relates to their self-efficacy beliefs.

English language proficiency may be regarded as a personal problem or a "cultural" pattern. In this study, most participants perceived it as the most important individual barrier that hinders their career choice, especially in the higher education arena where strong verbal communication skills are usually required. Its negative effect on self-efficacy is self-evident: if the participants are not confident about their English language competency, they are not likely to pursue careers in any fields that require strong verbal communication skills. In other words, they will be intimidated by those careers in which they have to interact with people on a daily basis in a language in which they do not have complete confidence.

These difficulties with language are often mentioned in the literature regarding students of Chinese ancestry. As Pang (1990) notes, "They not only feel the inability to do well but reveal a fear of writing and speaking" (p. 58). Beynon and Toohey (1995) compare the perceptions of teaching careers between Canadian university students of Chinese and Punjabi-Sikh ancestry and they discover that only Canadian students of Chinese ancestry regard difficulties with English as responsible for their decision not to pursue teaching careers and they also see the problem as persistent. As Beynon and Toohey (1995) note, "...difficulties were experienced by those who emigrated in their teenage years, but also by several who were born in Canada" (p. 454). In fact, in my socialization with Chinese students on the campus, one of the things I often hear is about their poor English proficiency. It seems that Chinese students are never happy

with their English language skills. In this study, four participants majored in English in their undergraduate study and they all taught English at universities and colleges in China for several years before coming to Canada. In addition, they had many years of English medium education in Canadian universities doing their master's or doctoral degrees. Therefore, it is hard to believe that they still consider themselves incompetent in the English language.

It is important to remember that career decisions have not only to do with differential socialization, talents or interests, but also with opportunities and institutional arrangements (Beynon and Toohey, 1995). According to Basran and Zong (1998), "Failure to locate individual barriers in social conditions and structural arrangements tends to blame immigrant professionals themselves for failing to acquire professional jobs in Canada" (p. 9). In this sense, what most participants identified as linguistic barriers might encompass what they also perceived as social barriers. That is, the structural arrangements that make it difficult for them to enter certain professions. This suggests that "what appear to be personal and individual inadequacies may be constructed impediments to the participation of individuals from particular groups in particular jobs" (Beynon & Toohey, 1995, p. 454). This notion is supported by Li (1988) who identifies relative absence of Canadians of Chinese ancestry in jobs requiring social interaction as a strategy for avoiding disadvantageous competition.

Traditional Chinese culture holds modesty in high regard. That is why Chinese people seldom speak highly of themselves. Overstatement is regarded as an act of bragging or showing off. In this sense, the notion of having difficulties with the English language may be simply a culturally appropriate thing to mention. However, it may also have been internalized by many participants because they internalized the mainstream stereotyping that people of Chinese ancestry are not strong in verbally oriented careers. Whatever accounts for the persistence of problems, one thing is certain. That is, social, cultural and political factors can interact with one another and jointly affected the participants' career-related beliefs and actions.

In conclusion, this section adopts the theoretical approach of Lent et al.'s (1994) social cognitive career model, but utilizes the personal, contextual, and environmental factors for self-efficacy based on the characteristics of Chinese educators. Specifically,

traditional Chinese culture, acculturation, availability of role model and peer influence, support system (e.g., networking within the Chinese community), labour market need, past learning experiences (e.g., successful or unsuccessful job experiences) as well as individual/institutional barriers are included to account for the influences on self-efficacy. Because this section focuses on the predictive role of self-efficacy beliefs on the career development of the participants, other dimensions of Lent et.al.'s (1994) model, such as outcome expectations, goals and action/performance are not touched upon in this section. In order to determine the factors that affect these Chinese educators' self-efficacy beliefs, one of the individual barriers cited most often by the participants, i.e., English language incompetence, is targeted specifically to explain how cultural, social, and political factors work together to affect their career self-efficacy beliefs.

CHAPTER FIVE SUMMARY, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

Using a qualitative research design with in-depth interviewing as the major tool for data collection, this study investigated Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. Five participants shared their feelings and stories relevant to their career search experiences in Canada. I recorded stories that were crisscrossed with success and struggle, joy and pain, hope and despair. As the participants shared their experiences, the complex and multidimensional perspectives of their career development began to emerge. The analysis of the data led me to numerous findings that were subsequently organized into the following five major issue areas: 1) the conceptualization of career; 2) sociocultural influences; 3) sociopolitical impediments; 4) identity and acculturation; and 5) self-efficacy beliefs. These are summarized in this chapter. Then I outline the major implications of these findings for policymakers, educators, practitioners, community leaders, parents as well as the Chinese educators who participated in this study. Finally, some recommendations for future research are presented.

5.2 Overview of the Study

In this study, Chinese educators' career development experiences were examined within Chinese and Canadian social, cultural and political contexts. The investigation serves to address one primary question, "What are the factors affecting Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada?" To achieve this goal, several secondary questions were also addressed in this study:

- 1. How do Chinese educators conceptualize career?
- 2. What sociocultural factors do Chinese educators believe affect their career aspirations and choices?
- 3. What barriers do Chinese educators perceive and experience in their career search in Canada?

- 4. How do Chinese educators' beliefs about self and ethnic identity influence their career development?
- 5. How do Chinese educators' beliefs about career influence their career development?

It is my hope that this study may contribute to the scant body of literature on Chinese educators' career development. By investigating this group's unique career experiences in Canada, I hoped to shed some light on what social, cultural, and political forces could potentially enhance or impede Chinese educators' career development. In so doing, my objective was to find out what could be done to help their successful integration into Canadian society through career development. In addition, by exploring their career experiences, I hoped to raise their awareness of potential sociopolitical structures that may create unequal employment opportunities and relations between different racial and ethnic groups. The ultimate goal is to help Chinese educators achieve their occupational success. This study may also generate new knowledge and further research about the career development of Chinese Canadians, especially Chinese educators.

5.3 Summary of Key Findings

The following is a brief summary of the key findings of the study. The findings were organized according to the five categories used to group the research questions, i.e., the conceptualization of career, Chinese culture and its influence on career behaviour, perception of barriers and its impact, the role of racial identity and acculturation, and the importance of self-efficacy beliefs in career development.

In summarizing the findings, I asked myself questions such as, Is this a noteworthy result? Is it consistent with the results of previous research? Is there an existing theory that can explain the result? Are there alternative explanations of the result? Does the result merit further investigation to clarify it? The purpose of posing these questions was to provide other researchers an opportunity to better understand the experiences of the participants.

5.3.1 The Concept of Career

The participants' concept of career was found to be closely associated with their prior learning experiences. This could be interpreted as a result of strong Confucian influence in Chinese culture. Furthermore, the participants' concept of career reveals that their desire to contribute to the community and society at large was often consumed by the practical needs of supporting themselves as well as their immediate and extended families. Although they articulated that career should be related to their intrinsic interests, in reality, interests seem to be not necessarily related to their career choices. One interpretation of this finding is that in Chinese culture people tend to pursue occupations that are financially secure and rewarding and that are practical or more marketable. Moreover, they tend to pursue careers that can bring them high status and prestige. This ties in with issues of honour and social esteem as well as with obligations of taking care of one's parents and other family members, all of which are typical Chinese values. Another factor may be the sociopolitical constraints that discouraged many participants from pursuing their career interests in Canada. The participants may perceive that ability, hard work, and perseverance are not enough to bring about career success. Therefore, they may end up pursuing careers where they can see the successful experiences of their older counterparts or peers and they may regard them as their role models.

Another finding is that participants tended to regard their careers as not static, but instead changing. This could be the result of social, cultural and political influences as well as the labour market demand and technological advances. In this study, the participants often acknowledged that their careers were compromised due to social, cultural and political influences.

In summary, the above results support research findings that East Asians' career development tends to be embedded in a network of family obligations and expectations (Pope et al., 1998; Chan, 1992; Leong & Chou, 1994; Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999). Likewise, research that suggests Asians may not choose occupations in which they have interest (Leong & Chou, 1994) seems to be validated by this study. Congruent with the literature was the participants' notion that their career aspirations and interests had been compromised due to external factors (Hernandez & Morales, 1999).

5.3.2 Chinese Cultural Influence on Career Behaviour

In this study, it was found that Chinese culture continued to exert its influence on the participants' career development in Canada. Specifically, the influence lies in three areas, i. e., parental role, overemphasis on success, and impediments inherent in heavily Confucian-influenced traditional Chinese culture. In terms of parental role, the majority of the participants reported strong parental pressure in their career decision-making despite the fact that they did not live with their parents in Canada. In addition, due to the collectivistic nature of Chinese culture, the participants seemed to choose a career that could satisfy their own interests, meet the practical need of supporting the family, and meet the acceptable standards expected by their parents.

Chinese culture emphasizes achievement and excellence. In many cases, the motivation to achieve and excel has been internalized by many Chinese people, including Chinese educators. While most participants in this study agreed that high internal and external expectations could motivate them in their career search, therefore possibly contributing to their achievement of success, they also reported that overemphasis on success could put them under great stress due to pressure and inability to meet the expectations.

According to most participants, certain attributes inherent in traditional Chinese culture might hinder the development of their all-round abilities such as critical thinking skills and problem-solving abilities. In addition, many argued that qualities that Chinese culture values such as reserve, formality, modesty, restraint, and non-aggressiveness in interpersonal relationships might contradict the Canadian cultural values, which would possibly be disadvantageous to their career development in Canada.

Meriting discussion are several issues emerging from the findings. Some findings are consistent, whereas others are inconsistent with existing research. First of all, consistent with the literature was the participants' report that parental expectations, the practical needs to support the family as well as their intrinsic interests were all considerations when making a career decision (Leong & Chou, 1994; Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999; Liu, 1998; Beynon & Toohey, 1995). Research that suggests Asian Americans exhibit higher levels of dependent decision-making styles and lower

levels of career maturity than Caucasians (Leong, 1991) also finds support in this study. The Chinese tendency to overemphasize success and its possible psychological impact on the participants corroborates findings that Chinese students lack self-confidence due to pressure and inability to meet expectations (CCNC, 1995). Similarly, reports that certain aspects of traditional Chinese culture could cause impediments to the development of the participants' all-round abilities are congruent with the extant research (Leong & Chou, 1994). These findings are further corroborated by the following remarks made by John Cheng at a panel presentation during the National Forum on education hosted by Chinese Canadian National Council:

We often lament about the inequity of senior positions allocated for ethnic minorities in corporations or government agencies. However, there might be lessons we could learn and pass onto our second generation so that they can benefit and succeed. In this competitive society, it is not just academic excellence that employees are gauging when hiring or promoting. There are other factors and qualities that they usually consider and they are often overlooked by immigrant parents such as leadership skills, personal skills, communication skills, working habits, righteousness, attitudes, manners, integrity, trustworthiness, honesty, punctuality, mutual respect, openness, selfmotivation, etc. Immigrant families have to be aware of these issues in order to enrich and enhance the opportunity of successful future for their children (CCNC, 1995).

This self-examination of Chinese culture reveals that certain important attributes necessary for the career success of the participants may be missing from traditional Chinese culture, all of which warrant attention in order for the participants to achieve occupational success in Canada.

However, the reported expectations and career choices made by some participants contradict Liu's (1998) findings that a positive relationship exists between high expectations and high achievements. This could be attributed to the fact that all participants are first-generation immigrants. Therefore, because of lack of experience, English proficiency, and knowledge about the social norms in interpersonal relations in Canada, they were more likely to be subject to the sociopolitical barriers. This merits further investigation to determine whether length of stay in Canada has to do with the achievement of occupational success. As I suggest in the upcoming recommendations,

This could be explored through a comparative study between first-generation immigrants and second-generation immigrants.

5.3.3 Perceptions of Barriers and Their Impacts

The majority of the participants in this study perceived individual attributes such as lack of Canadian experience, English proficiency, and knowledge about Canadian social norms in interpersonal relations as major barriers that could impede their career development. Although a few of them recognized institutional barriers such as their previous experiences and qualifications not being properly recognized, they almost unanimously pointed to individual barriers as the major impediments in their career development. In other words, most would sooner blame themselves for lack of occupational success than blame the institutions for imposing restraints on their career development. One interpretation of this finding is that in Chinese culture people usually attribute academic and occupational success to personal effort rather than to ability of the individual and other external factors (Schneider & Lee, 1990). Another possible interpretation is that the participants seemed to "buy into" the neo-liberal notion of individual responsibility and free market mechanism, which is supported by the mainstream stereotypic views about minorities, i. e., minorities' economic problems are caused by lack of effort and other internal attributes (Leong & Chou, 1994). What caused the participants to embrace the neo-liberal values and accept the mainstream stereotypes is not the focus of this study. But it might have something to do with the socioeconomic changes in China for the past twenty-two years. The post-Maoist era has seen China's young people quickly losing spiritual adherence. According to Terrill (1991), this may be caused by widespread corruption among government officials, the devaluation of education as well as the national obsession with moneymaking. This may help explain why people attribute their career and economic success to individual effort. This may have a huge impact on the participants as they may blame themselves for all their misfortunes and therefore resulting in having low selfconfidence. It may also serve to deny them from having any affirmative action rights as they may "buy into" the mainstream misconception of Chinese as "model minorities."

This finding is noteworthy because it concerns what factors can be attributed to Chinese educators' occupational advantages or disadvantages. The notion that the participants attributed their career disadvantages mainly to individual attributes corroborates existing literature on East Asians' educational and career achievements (Schneider & Lee, 1990; Stevenson & Lee, 1990) and is also consistent with research with regard to neo-liberal thinking and its influence on people's perceptions of their educational and career success (Livingstone, 1999; Ratner, 2000). Reported attitudes toward barriers seem to support Leong and Chou's (1994) proposition that East Asians who are more assimilated are likely to perceive and experience the least amount of institutional barriers as they tend to believe that their lack of success is due to individual lack of ability and not to discrimination. This may merit further investigation, as this study does not focus primarily on acculturation. Moreover, as there are so many parameters to determine one's acculturation level and this study relies only on the subjective description and appraisal of the participants' experiences, a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods may be more appropriate to determine a person's acculturation level in a more accurate manner.

5.3.4 The Role of Racial Identity and Acculturation

The findings of this study show that the participants had a tendency to regard high acculturation as desirable and low acculturation as undesirable. This tendency is closely linked to the fear of racism and discrimination. That is, the participants believed that by being highly acculturated they might be less likely to experience discrimination and any unequal treatment in their career development. Conversely, they may be subject to more racism and discrimination if they think they are less acculturated. However, many participants also showed a preference for a bicultural identity. This notion is built on the belief that assimilation has its limitations and that racism and discrimination will prevent them from achieving full acculturation into the mainstream society.

In general, the findings support the literature that acculturation has a positive impact on Asian Americans' career self-efficacy beliefs, interest, and career choice (Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999). In addition, it provided empirical evidence for Leong

and Chou's (1994) proposition that acculturation is a moderator for Asian Americans' career development. Research that suggests a minority person's understanding and participating in both cultures without sacrificing one for the other is not only possible, but also desirable (LaFromboise, Coleman, & Gerton, 1993) also finds support in this study. However, there is a need for further studies to investigate the relationship between higher acculturation and the experience of occupational discrimination in minorities' career development in Canada.

5.3.5 The Importance of Self-Efficacy Beliefs in Career Development

According to most participants' descriptions of their experiences, their career self-efficacy beliefs have been influenced by social, cultural and political factors.

Specifically, the influences they described include parental expectations, peer pressure, existence of role models, market demand, acculturation, environmental supports and barriers, as well as past job search experiences. In terms of parental expectations, many participants reported lack of confidence due to high pressure from their parents and sometimes inability to meet those expectations as a result of internal and external constraints. As to peer pressure, many participants mentioned that in Chinese culture people are taught to be competitive, therefore comparing themselves with their peers is commonplace. In many cases, their peers' occupational success can bring them pressure, as they always want to be equally successful or even more successful than their peers are. Therefore, failure to do so may be a big blow to their self-confidence. Likewise, the existence of role models and the market demand may also affect their career self-efficacy, as they may perceive potential opportunities (or lack of potential opportunities) in certain fields.

Acculturation was found to have a huge impact on most participants' self-efficacy beliefs, interests, and career choice. The majority of the participants indicated that high acculturation meant more adaptation to the mainstream culture, thereby possibly reducing their chances of experiencing discrimination. Conversely, many pointed out that low acculturation often meant more susceptibility to stereotyping and discrimination, therefore creating more barriers for their career development, which in turn will affect their self-efficacy, interests and career choice. A bicultural identity was

regarded by many participants as desirable because they would see both the strength and weakness of each culture and therefore be able to make a more realistic career choice. In addition, they referred to racism and discrimination as major factors preventing them from being fully acculturated or integrated into mainstream Canadian society.

As for past job search experiences, a positive relationship was identified between successful experiences and strong career self-efficacy beliefs. In addition, many participants reported that environmental supports and barriers also had an impact on their self-efficacy. In terms of supports, they specifically mentioned the role networking played in their career search experiences. As for barriers, the majority of them focused on lack of English proficiency as the major impediment that affects their self-efficacy beliefs. An interpretation of this finding is that the perception of lack of linguistic abilities may be caused by social barriers and structural arrangements that make it difficult for them to enter certain professions. This may have a huge impact on the participants' self-efficacy beliefs: this perception could be internalized by the participants so they may believe that they are incompetent for certain jobs in certain areas where strong verbal communication skills are required. The result of this is that they may never want to look for jobs in those areas.

The findings support Lent et al.'s (1994) model that self-efficacy play a mediating role in a person's career development. It is also consistent with their proposition that self-efficacy is influenced by personal, contextual, and environmental factors. The positive impact of self-efficacy on career choice is also corroborated by the findings of this study. Finally, the results are congruent with the research findings that self-efficacy plays an important role in the career development of Asian Americans and other minority groups (Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999; Gloria & Hird, 1999; Leong & Chou, 1994).

5.4 Implications of Key Findings

The findings of this study may have implications for policymakers, educators, practitioners, community leaders, parents as well as Chinese educators. First of all, policymakers at federal, provincial, and school levels should be committed to

implementing, monitoring and strengthening employment equity policies and programs to ensure that Chinese educators as well as educators of other minority groups receive equal employment opportunities in the field of education. Access barriers, nonrecognition of overseas credentials, and a lack of effort to encourage Chinese Canadians to enter the education professions may have resulted in an under-representation of Chinese Canadians in the teaching professions. Therefore, programs should be developed to address the under-representation of Chinese educators as well as other minority educators in teaching, such as promoting minority teachers as role models and recognizing their diversified language and cultural abilities as assets. Basran and Zong (1998) state that "the problem of transferring educational equivalencies and work experience across international boundaries results in professional immigrants taking jobs for which they are over-trained, resulting in downward occupational mobility relative to their occupations held before their immigrating to Canada" (p. 18). Thus, prior learning and credentialing policies should be reviewed and evaluated to ensure that the credentials of foreign-trained professional immigrants, including some Chinese educators, are properly and fairly evaluated.

Second, Chinese Canadians, regardless of whether they are locally born or immigrants, "continue to be portrayed as intruders, outsiders, and people responsible for defacing the so-called Canadian value" (CCNC, 1995). In addition, the popular myths about Chinese Canadians' capabilities and weaknesses hinder their personal development, pursuit of interests and post-secondary education opportunities as well as career options, thus creating vicious cycle. Therefore, higher education organizations might develop strategies to demystify stereotypes of Chinese Canadian minority students, including Chinese educators and other minority students who are in a similar situation. Specifically, they need to foster the career development needs of each individual (Chinese educators or not) and respect those needs, goals, and aspirations. Programs need to be developed for educational and training equity that are attentive to the needs of Chinese educators and other minority groups and consequently provide them with appropriate preparatory skills and experience. School curriculum at different levels should include materials that enhance critical thinking, social adaptation, leadership and English language communication skills, all of which are critical to

Chinese educators' occupational success in education. Furthermore, schools could promote and set up peer empowerment programs to facilitate Chinese educators and other minority student groups overcoming barriers. They could also encourage Chinese educators as well as other minorities to integrate into mainstream and yet remain proud of their own culture and heritage, thus helping them foster a bicultural flexibility.

At the community level, local Chinese community organizations should act as liaison between Chinese educators, the world of school, and the world of work by holding information sessions and promoting access and participation. Community workers could also assist Chinese educators in the settlement and integration process. In addition, Chinese community organizations should build alliances with other groups facing similar barriers and advocate equal access to the world of work locally, systemically and politically.

The findings of this study also have implications for Chinese educators who assume parental roles in Canada. First, they should recognize learning as a life-long process which goes beyond the academic arena, thus encouraging their children to participate in extra-curricular activities which could enhance their social awareness and network, build their creative and critical thinking skills necessary for future career development. Second, Chinese educators should encourage their children to explore their interest and potential and not impose their own expectations on them. In addition, they need to show more positive reinforcement to their children instead of just pressuring them. It is advised that they should refrain from comparing their children with other students, thus reducing the pressure on them. Finally, Chinese educators could be proactive by joining school committee, parents' council and affect policies at the school board level.

In terms of counseling practice, it seems imperative that career counselors address and integrate sociocultural contexts into their programming and interventions (Leung, 1995). Findings from this study support this contention. Counselors need to recognize the conflicts Chinese educators may have experienced within their families and within their traditional culture. Since Asian Americans do not necessarily choose occupations in which they have interest (Leong & Chou, 1994), counselors should carefully interpret the meanings of some results while working with Asian Americans

on their career decision-making issues (Tang, Fouad, & Smith, 1999). Incorporating parental expectations and family obligations (Leong, 1993) may be particularly helpful. In addition, career counselors should assess ethnic identity and acculturation to provide holistic and contextualized career counseling to Chinese educators and other minority clients. Counselors may help highly acculturated individuals challenge the stereotyping of Chinese Canadians by addressing the segregation and discrimination issues. If the client is less acculturated, which may be indicated by lack of knowledge about Canadian culture, lack of access to career information, and less competence with the English language, counselors may offer them concrete advice and assistance to obtain the required skills for related occupational fields (Tang et al., 1998). Counselors should also foster Chinese educators' bicultural flexibility by recognizing their language and cultural abilities as assets in education profession.

An in-depth assessment of self- and other-imposed barriers is another counseling implication that warrants examination. First, counselors must examine Chinese educators' internalized stereotypes that may influence their ethnic identity and impede career-related decisions. For instance, Chinese educators may have internalized societal stereotypes about their English language skills that discourage them from entering a particular career field. Debunking negative stereotypes can enhance Chinese educators' ethnic identity and efficacy beliefs, thereby expanding their perceptions of possible career options. Counselors should alert Chinese educators that while it is important to strengthen certain skills necessary for future employment, blaming themselves for lack of career success is harmful in that it neglects the larger sociopolitical structures that create unequal employment opportunities for racial and ethnic minorities. Furthermore, this self-blame mentality may result in Chinese educators having low self-esteem and self-concept, which in turn will hinder their career development.

Finally, Chinese educators should choose careers that are guided by a balance of ideological and practical considerations. In other words, they should choose careers that interest them. To do that, they need to follow their own instinct, be flexible and open, assess their needs, strengths, weaknesses, aptitudes, desires, and recognize "non-traditional" professions. They may also need to develop certain skills such as leadership skills, personal skills, communication skills, trustworthiness, openness, self-motivation,

etc in order to enrich and enhance the opportunity of successful future for their career development. Furthermore, they should observe career trends, update their own information about the skill requirements of various careers, develop and expand their Canadian networks, and support one another. Finally, Chinese educators should realize that finding a secure full-time job is not what career development is all about. In many cases, part-time jobs may lead to full-time jobs. The important aspect is that they should incorporate their aspirations, interests, abilities as well as other important dimensions into their career development to have a fulfilling and productive life in Canada.

5.5 Recommendations for Future Research

This research is a qualitative study. Therefore, it is subjective in the sense that it relied on five participants' descriptions of their career development experiences and the researcher's interpretation based on the descriptions as well as his critical reflections on them. For this reason, caution must be exercised in drawing generalizations from it. Due to the fact that the participants were chosen mainly through personal contacts, they therefore share certain similarities in their experiences. The researcher is well aware of this limitation and wishes to caution the readers that the result of this study is likely to be different if participants were chosen in a different manner. Therefore, the findings of this study cannot be generalized and applied to the whole body of Chinese educators in Canada.

The value of this study lies in the identification of some social, cultural and political factors that affect certain Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada. The data generated by this study present several areas that may warrant further research.

A similar study that encompasses a larger number of Chinese educators across Canada using both qualitative and quantitative research methodology would allow for expanded and more accurate comparisons and generalizations related to this group's unique career experiences.

Generational status appears crucial to acculturation level. A future study that compares first generation Chinese educators with a later generation would present a

more complete picture of Chinese educators' career development. A comparison between Chinese educators from different social, cultural, economic, and political backgrounds would be meaningful as well.

This study has identified some social, cultural, and political dimensions that influence Chinese educators' career development experiences. In order to better understand the impacts of each dimension on Chinese educators' career development, it would be advisable to conduct the same study on each one of those dimensions rather than to do so on all the dimensions as a whole. Specifically, future research might examine the relationship between Chinese educators' acculturation and their internalization of certain societal stereotypes about their skills and abilities, as well as strategies for demystifying and debunking those myths. A study that looks at the role Cultural Revolution may have on Chinese people's perceptions of teaching careers and how it affect Chinese educators' career self-efficacy also warrants further investigation.

It would be advisable that future researchers look at women Chinese educators' career development experiences to determine whether gender-related issues may affect their career development experiences.

Furthermore, an analysis of the role meritocracy and neo-liberal ideology may have on Chinese educators' perceptions of institutional barriers also merit further study.

Finally, a study that looks at strategies for encouraging Chinese educators to seek teaching and leadership positions in higher education arena may be especially meaningful and useful.

5.6 Conclusion

The challenge of ethnic diversity is one of the most critical issues facing career development today. The proliferation of Asian Canadians in the Canadian labour market, coupled with the common misconception that Asian Canadians are problem-free and the existing research suggesting otherwise, gives rise to the urgency of more research to better understanding this group's career development experiences. As part of this endeavour, this research looked at five Chinese educators' career development experiences in Canada with the hope that it would shed some light on the various

factors that influence their career development experiences. Specifically, this study examined five key dimensions that could potentially impact these Chinese educators' career development experiences. These five dimensions include their conceptualization of career, Chinese sociocultural influences, sociopolitical factors in the Canadian society, acculturation and ethnic identity as well as their self-efficacy beliefs. The findings of this study point to the fact that these Chinese educators' career development in Canada is not problem-free. Instead, it faces multiple challenges. Some of these challenges come from the traditional Chinese cultural influences; some of them come from external forces such as the Canadian sociopolitical system. In addition, how these Chinese educators acculturate into Canadian culture and what cultural identities they adopt were also found to affect their career development. These Chinese educators' concept of career was found to be deeply entrenched in the network of self, family and community. In addition, individual and structural barriers they continue to face in Canada have resulted in a compromise in their career choices. The findings of this study also points out that these Chinese educators' self-efficacy beliefs were deeply influenced by the aforementioned factors.

As a Chinese educator myself, I have had similar experiences as described by many of my research participants in this study. In a way, writing about these five Chinese educators' career development experiences is like writing about my own experiences. It is with sincere hope that this study will offer insight for other Chinese educators about dimensions that help or hinder their career development in Canada. The aim of this research is finally to contribute to the occupational success of Chinese educators in Canada.

Bibliography

- Agar, M. (1996). The professional stranger (2nd ed.). Toronto, Ontario: Academic Press.
- Ambert, A. (1976). Sex structure. Toronto: Longman Canada.
- American Association of University Women (AAUW) (1992). How schools shortchange girls: Executive summary. Washington, D.C.: The American Association of University Women Educational Foundation.
- Anda, D. (1984). Bicultural socialization: Factors affecting the minority experience. Social Work (pp.101-107). Vol. 29. No. 2. March-April.
- Arbona, C. (1990). Career counseling and research and Hispanics: A review of the literature. The Counseling Psychologist, 18(2), 300-323.
- Asante, M.K. (1987). The Afrocentric idea. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Asbury, F.A. (1968). Vocational development of rural disadvantaged eighth grade boys. <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, 17, 109-113.
- Astin, H.S. (1984). The meaning of work in women's lives: A sociopsychological model of career choice and work behavior. <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, 12 (4), 117-126.
- Atkinson, D.R., Lowe, S., & Matthews, L. (1995). Asian-American acculturation, gender, and willingness to seek counseling. <u>Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development</u>, 23, 130-138.
- Axelson, J.A. (1985). Counseling and development in a multicultural society. Monterey, CA: Brooks, Cole.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1982), The psychology of chance encounters and life paths. <u>The American Psychologist</u>, <u>37(7)</u>, 747-755.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Barer-Stein, T. (1993). Culture in the classroom. In T. Barer-Stein, & J. Draper (Eds.), <u>The Craft of Teaching Adults (pp.145-164)</u>. Toronto: Culture Concepts.

- Basavarajappa, K.G. & Verma, R.B.P. (1985). Asian immigrants in Canada: Some findings from 1981 census. <u>International Migration</u>, 23(1), 97-121.
- Basran, G.S. & Zong, L. (1998). Devaluation of foreign credentials as perceived by non-white professional immigrants. <u>Canadian Ethnic Studies</u>, 30(3), 6-23.
- Beale, F. (1970). Double jeopardy: To be black and female. In T. Cade (Ed.), <u>The Black Woman: An Anthology</u> (pp. 90-100). New York: New American Library.
- Bellah, R.N., Madsen, R., Sullivan, W.M., Swindler, A., & Tipton, S.M. (1985).

 Habits of the heart: Individualism and commitment in American life. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Berry, J.W. (1980). Acculturation as varieties of adaptation. In A. M. Padilla (Ed.), <u>Acculturation: Theory, Models and Some New Findings</u> (pp. 9-25). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Berry, J.W., Trimble, J.E., & Olmedo, E.L. (1986). Assessment of acculturation. In W.J. Lonner & J.W.Berry (Eds.), <u>Field Methods in Cross-Cultural Research</u> (pp. 291-324). Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Betz, N.E., & Fitzgerald, L. (1987). The career psychology of women. Orlando, FL: Academic Press.
- Beynon, J. & Toohey, K. (1995). Access and aspirations: Careers in teaching as seen by Canadian university students of Chinese and Punjabi-Sikh ancestry. <u>Alberta Journal of Educational Research</u>, 41(4), 435-461.
- Beynon, J., Toohey, K., & Kishor, N. (1998). Do visible minority students of Chinese and South Asian ancestry want teaching as a career: Perceptions of some secondary school students in Vancouver, B.C. <u>Canadian Ethnic Studies</u>, 30(2), 50-73.
- Blau, P.M. & Duncan, O.D. (1967). The American occupational structure. New York: Wiley.
- Blau, P.M., Gystad, J.W., Jessor, R., Parnes, H.S., & Wilcock, R.C. (1956).

 Occupational choice: A conceptual model. <u>Industrial Labor Relations (rev. ed.)</u>, 9, 531-543.
- Bogdan, R. C. & Biklen, S.K. (1982). <u>Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods</u>. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Bogdan, R. C. & Biklen, S.K. (1992). Qualitative research for education. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

- Bond, M.H. (1986). <u>Psychology of the Chinese people</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Borg, W.R. & Gall, M.D. (1989). <u>Educational research: An introduction (5th ed.)</u>. New York & London: Longman.
- Boyd, M. (1985). Immigration and occupation attainment in Canada. In M. Boyd et.al. (Eds.), <u>Ascription and Achievement: Studies in Mobility and Status Attainment in Canada (pp.393-445)</u>. Ottawa, Ontario: Carleton University Press.
- Bowman, S.L. (1993). Career intervention strategies for ethnic minorities. <u>The Career Development Quarterly</u>, 42(1), 14-25.
- Brooks, L. (1990). Recent developments in theory building. In Brown, D., & Brooks, L. (Eds.), <u>Career choice and development: Applying contemporary theories to practice</u> (2 ed. pp. 364-394). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Canadian Bureau for International Education. (1999). The National Report on International Students in Canada. Ottawa, Ontario: Bradda Printing Services Inc.
- Caplow, T. (1954). <u>The sociology of work</u>. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Carter, R.T. (1990). Cultural value differences between African-Americans and White Americans. <u>Journal of College Student Development</u>, 31, 71-79.
- Carter, R.T., & Cook, D.A. (1992). A culturally relevant perspective for understanding the career paths of visible racial/ethnic group people. In H.D. Lea & Z.B. Leibowitz (Eds.), Adult Career Development: Concepts, Issues and Practices (2nd ed.) (pp. 192-217). Alexandria, VA: National Career Development Association (NCDA).
- Chan, S. (1992). Families with Asian roots. In E.W. Lynch & M.J. Hanson (Eds.), <u>Developing Cross-Cultural Competence: A Guide for Working with Young Children and Their Families</u> (pp.181-257). Baltimore: Paul H. Brooks.
- Chen, N. (1996). The experience of Chinese youth adjusting to Canadian education.

 Research Report. Regina, Saskatchewan: Saskatchewan School Trustees
 Association (SSTA).
- Cheatham, H. (1990). Empowering Black families. In H. Cheatham & J. Stewart (Eds.), <u>Black Families</u> (pp. 373-393). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Press.

- Chinn, P., & Wong, G.Y. (1992). Recruiting and retaining Asian/Pacific American teachers. In M.E. Dilworth (Ed.), <u>Diversity in Teacher Education: New Expectations</u> (pp. 112-133). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Citizenship & Immigration Canada. (2000). CIC Statistics 1996. Retrieved March 23, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://cicnet.ci.gc.ca/english/index.html
- Citizenship & Immigration Canada. (2000). Immigration Act of Canada, 1976.
 Retrieved on March 24, 2000 from the World Wide Web:
 http://cicnet.ci.gc.ca/english/pub/immlaw_e.html#1
- Clarridge, B.R., Sheehy, L.L., & Hauser, T.S. (1977). Tracing members of a panel: A seventeen-year follow-up. In K.F. Schussler (Ed.), <u>Sociological Methodology</u> (pp. 185-203). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Conyne, R.K. (1998). What to look for in groups: Helping trainees become more sensitive to multicultural issues. <u>Journal for Specialists in Group Work</u>, 23, 22-32.
- Conference Board of Canada (1999). Conference Board Says "Brain Drain" is Real.

 News Release, August 16, 1999, Ottawa. Retrieved on March 1, 2001 from the

 World Wide Web:

 http://www.conferenceboard.ca/press/1999/braindrain99_old.htm
- Cook, E.P. (1993). The gendered context of life: Implications for women's and men's career-life plans. <u>Career Development Quarterly</u>, 41, 227-237.
- Crites, J.O. (1981). <u>Career counseling: Models, methods and materials</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Evans, K.M., & Herr, E.L. (1994). The influence of racial identity and the perception of discrimination on the career aspirations of African American men and women. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 44, 173-184.
- Gettys, L.D., & Cann, A. (1981). Children's perceptions of occupational sex stereotypes. Sex Roles, 7, 301-308.
- Ghosh, R.. (1996). <u>Redefining multicultural education</u>. Montreal, ON.: Harcourt Brace Canada.
- Ginzberg, E. (1972). Restatement of the theory of occupational choice. <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, 20(3), 169-176.
- Glaser, B.G. & Strauss, A.L. (1967). <u>The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research</u>. Chicago: Aldine Press.

- Gloria, A.M. & Hird, J.S. (1999). Influences of ethnic and nonethnic variables on the career decision-making self-efficacy of college students. The Career Development Quarterly, 48, 157-175.
- Gottfredson, L.S. (1986). Special groups and the beneficial use of Vocational Interest Inventories. In W.B. Walsh & S.H. Osipow (Eds.), <u>Advances in Vocational Psychology. Vol. 1, Assessment of Interests.</u> Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Griffith, A.R. (1980). A survey of career development in corporations. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, <u>58</u>, 537-543.
- Gudykunst, W.B., Gao, G., Schmidt, K.L., Nishida, T., Bond, M.H., Leung, K., Wang, G., & Barraclough, R.A. (1992). The influence of individualism-collectivism, self-monitoring, and predicted-outcome value on communication in ingroup and outgroup relationships. <u>Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology</u>, 23, 196-213.
- Gysbers, N. C. (1984). Major trends in career development theory and practice. In N.C. Gysbers, U. Delworth, & G. R. Hanson (Eds.), <u>Designing Careers:</u>
 Counseling to Enhance Education, Work and Leisure (pp. 618-632). San Francisco, CA.: Jossey-Bass.
- Gysbers, N.C. & Moore, E.J. (1975). Beyond career development—Life career development. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 53, 647-652.
- Hackett, G., & Betz, N.E. (1981). A self-efficacy approach to the career development of women. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 18, 326-339.
- Hackett, G. & Byars, A.M. (1996). Social cognitive theory and the career development of African American women. The Career Development Quarterly, 44, 322-340.
- Helms, J.E., & Piper, R.E. (1994). Implications of racial identity theory for vocational psychology. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 44, 124-138.
- Henry, F. (1994). <u>The Caribbean Diaspora in Toronto: Learning to live with racism</u>. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Henry, F. & Tator, C. (1999). Racist Discourse in Canada's English Print Media. A study sponsored and published by the Canadian Race Relations Foundation.

 March 2000, Toronto. Retrieved on January 3, 2001 from the World Wide Web: http://www.crr.ca/EN/Publications/ResearchReports/ePub_RR20000330_full.htm.
- Hernandez, T. J. (1992). The career trinity: Puerto Rican college students and their struggle for identity and power. <u>Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development</u>, 23, 103-115.

- Hernandez, T.J. & Morales N.E. (1999). Career, culture, and compromise: Career development experiences of Latinas working in higher education. <u>The Career Development Quarterly</u>, 48(1), 45-58.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's consequences. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Holland, J.L. (1973). Making vocational choices: A theory of careers. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Holland, J. L. (1985). <u>Making vocational choices: A theory of vocational personalities</u> and work environments (2nd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Horan, P. (1978). Is status attainment research atheoretical? <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 43, 534-540.
- Horton, J. (1995). The politics of diversity: Immigration, resistance, and change in Monterey Park, California. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Hsia, J. (1988). Asian Americans in higher education and at work. Hillsdale, NJ: Earlbaum.
- Hui, C.H., & Triandis, H.C. (1986). Individualism-collectivism: A study of cross-cultural researchers. <u>Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology</u>, 17, 225-248.
- Hui, C.H., Triandis, H.C., & Yee, C. (1991). Cultural differences in reward allocation: Is collectivism the explanation? <u>British Journal of Social Psychology</u>, 30, 145-157.
- Hurtado, A. (1989). Relating to privilege: Seduction and rejection in the subordination of white women and women of color. Signs: <u>Journal of Women in Culture and Society</u>, <u>14</u>(4), 833-855.
- Ivey, A.E., Ivey, M.B., & Simek-Morgan, L. (1997). Counseling and psychotherapy: A multicultural perspective (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Jones, G.B. & others (1972). <u>Planning, developing and field testing career guidance programs: A manual and report</u>. Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research.
- Kahn, R. & Cannell, C. (1957). <u>The dynamics of interviewing</u>. New York: John Wiley.
- Kalin, R. & Berry, J. (1994). Ethnic and multicultural attitudes. In J. W. Berry & J. A.
 Laponce (Eds.). <u>Ethnicity and culture in Canada. The Research landscape</u> (pp. 293-321). Toronto, ON: University of Toronto Press.

- Kashima, Y., Siegal, M., Tanaka, K., & Kashima, E.S. (1992). Do people believe behaviours are consistent with attitudes? Toward a cultural psychology of attribution processes. <u>British Journal of Social Psychology</u>, 31, 111-124.
- Kirby, S. L. & McKenna, K. (1989). <u>Experience social change: Methods from the margins</u>. Toronto, ON: Garamond Press.
- Krumboltz's, J.D. (1979). A social learning theory of career decision making. In A.M. Mitchell, G.B. Jones, J.D. Krumboltz (Eds.), <u>Social Learning and Career Decision Making</u> (pp. 19-49). Cranston, RI: Carroll Press.
- LaFromboise, T., Coleman, H.L.K., & Gerton, J. (1993). Psychological impact of biculturalism: Evidence and theory. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, 14, 395-412.
- Lee, S. J. (1996). <u>Unraveling the "model minority" stereotype: Listening to Asian</u>
 <u>American youth.</u> New York: Teachers College Press.
- Lee, C.C., & Richardson, B.L. (1991). Promise and pitfalls of multicultural counseling. In C.C. Lee & B.L. Richardson (Eds.), <u>Multicultural Issues in Counseling</u> (pp.79-90). Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.
- Lent, R.W., Brown, S.D., & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive theory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 45, 79-122.
- Lent, R.W., Hackett, G., & Brown, S.D. (1999). A social cognitive view of school-to-work transition. The Career Development Quarterly, 47(4), 297-311.
- Leong, F.T.L. (1991). Career development attributes and occupational values of Asian American and White American college students. <u>The Career Development Quarterly</u>, 39, 221-230.
- Leong, F.T.L. (1993). The career counseling process with racial-ethnic minorities: The case of Asian Americans. The Career Development Quarterly, 42, 26-39.
- Leong, F.T.L., & Chou, E.L. (1994). The role of ethnic identity and acculturation in the vocational behavior of Asian Americans: An integrative review. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 44, 155-172.
- Leong, F.T.L, & Hayes, T.J. (1990). Occupational stereotyping of Asian Americans. The Career Development Quarterly, 39, 143-154.
- Leong, F.T.L., & Serafica, F. (1993). Career development of Asian Americans: A research area in need of a good theory. In F.T.L. Leong (Ed.), <u>Career Development and Vocational Behavior of Racial and Ethnic Minorities</u>. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Leong, F.T.L., & Serafica, F. (1995). Career development of Asian Americans: A research area in need of a good theory. In F.T.L. Leong (Ed.), <u>Career Development and Vocational Behavior of Racial and Ethnic Minorities</u> (pp. 67-102). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Leung, S.A. (1995). Career development and counseling: A multicultural perspective. In J.G. Ponterotto, J.M. Casas, L.A. Suzuki, & C.M. Alexander (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Multicultural Counseling</u>. (pp. 549-556). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Li, P.S. (1988). The Chinese in Canada. Toronto, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Li, P.S. (1996). The making of post-war Canada. Toronto, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Liu, R.W. (1998). Educational and career expectations of Chinese-American college students. <u>Journal of College Student Development</u>, 39 (6), 577-586.
- Livingstone, D. W. (1999). The education-jobs gap: Underemployment or economic democracy. Toronto, ON: Garamond Press.
- LoCascio, R. (1967). Continuity and discontinuity in vocational development theory. <u>Personnel and Guidance Journal</u>, 46, 32-36.
- Lynne, A. (1989). Why aren't third-world scholars going home? Focus on adjustment in China's overseas policies. Minnetesol Journal, 7, 29-38.
- Maanen, J. (1977). Organizational careers: Some new perspectives. New York: Wiley.
- Maceri, D. (1999). To succeed in business, speak the language. <u>San Antonio Business</u> <u>Journal</u>. July 19, 1999. Retrieved from the World Wide Web: wysiwyg://58/http://sanantonio.bcen.../stories/1999/07/19/editorial2.html
- Malveaux, J., & Wallace, P. (1987). Minority women in the work place. In K.S. Koziara, M.H. Moskow, & L.D. Tanner (Eds.), Working Women: Past, Present, Future (pp. 265-298). Washington, D.C.: Bureau of National Affairs.
- Marshall, C. & Rossman, G.B. (1995). <u>Designing qualitative research (2nd ed.</u>). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Martinez, E. & Garcia, A. (1996). What is "Neo-Liberalism": A brief definition for activists. Retrieved on December 2, 2000 from the World Wide Web: http://www.corpwatch.org/trac/corner/glob/neolib.html
- Maslow, A.H. (1954). Motivation and personality. New York: Harper & Row.

- Maykut, P. & Morehouse, R. (1994). <u>Beginning qualitative research: A philosophic</u> and practical guide. Falmer Press Teachers' Library (Vol. 6). London: Falmer Press.
- McWhirter, E.H. (1994). <u>Counseling for empowerment</u>. Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association Press.
- McWhirter, E.H. (1997). Perceived barriers to education and career: Ethnic and gender differences. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, <u>50</u>, 124-140.
- Merriam, S.B. (1988). <u>Case study research in education: A qualitative approach</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, D.C., & Form, W.H. (1951). Industrial sociology. New York: Harper & Row.
- Ministry of Education, Department of International Cooperation & Exchange, PRC (2000). An overview on Chinese students studying abroad. Retrieved on November 8 from the World Wide Web: http://www/moe.edu.cn/more-dept/guoji/index.htm.
- Minor, C.W. (1992). Career development theories and models. In H.D. Lea & Z.B. Leibowitz (Eds.), <u>Adult Career Development: Concepts, Issues and Practices</u> (2nd ed., pp. 23-24). Alexandria, VA: National Career Development Association (NCDA).
- Minuchin, S. (1974). <u>Families and family therapy</u>. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- National Vocational Guidance Association (1973). <u>Position paper on career</u> development. Washington, D.C.: National Vocational Guidance Association.
- Office of the Registrar and Student Awards (1990-1999). <u>Summary of Statistics</u>. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta Press.
- Okihiro, G.Y. (1994). Margins and mainstreams: Asians in American History and Culture. Seattle and London: University of Washington Press.
- Okocha, A.A.G. (1994). Preparing racial ethnic minorities for the work force 2000. Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development, 22, 106-114.
- Okun, B.F. (1984). Working with adults: Individual, family, and career development. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks Cole Publishers.

- Osipow, S.H. (1975). The relevance of theories of career development to special groups: Problems, needed data and implications. In J.S. Picou & R.E. Campbell (Eds.), <u>Career Behaviour of Special Groups</u> (pp. 9-22). Westerville, Ohio: Merrill.
- Osipow, S.H. (1983). Theories of career development (3rd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Padilla, A.M., Wagatsuma, Y., & Lindholm, K.J. (1985). Acculturation and personality as predictors of stress in Japanese and Japanese-Americans. The <u>Journal of Social Psychology</u>, 125(3), 295-305.
- Pang, V.O. (1990). Asian-American children: A diverse population. <u>The Educational Forum</u>, 55, 49-66.
- Park, H. (1997). <u>Situating East Asians in Canadian race discourse</u>. Published Master's Thesis. Edmonton, Alberta: University of Alberta Press.
- Parham, T.A., & Austin, N.L. (1994). Career development and African Americans: A contextual reappraisal using Nigrescence construct. In <u>Journal of Vocational</u> <u>Behavior</u>, 44, 139-154.
- Pearsol, J. (1985, April). Controlling qualitative data: Understanding teachers' value perspectives on a sex equity education project. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago.
- Pederson, P., & Ivey, A. (1993). <u>Culture-centered counseling and interviewing skills:</u>
 <u>A practical guide.</u> Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Phinney, J. S. (1998). Teaching about adolescence: An ecological approach. In J. McKinney, L. Schiamberg, & L. Shelton (Eds.). <u>Teaching about adolescence</u>. New York: Garland Press.
- Pierre Elliott Trudeau (1919-2000). <u>The Columbia Encyclopedia (2000, 6th ed.)</u>. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Pope, M. (1995). The "salad bowl" is big enough for us all: An argument for the inclusion of lesbians and gays in any definition of multiculturalism. <u>Journal of Counseling and Development</u>, 73, 301-304.
- Pope, M., Cheng, W.D., & Leong, F.T.L. (1998). The case of Chou: The inextricability of career to personal and social issues in a multicultural context. <u>Journal of Career Development</u>, 25(1), 53-64.
- Ratner, C. (2000). Agency and culture. <u>Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour</u>, <u>30</u>, 413-434.

- Richmond, A.H. (1993). Reactive migration: Sociological perspectives on refugee movements. <u>Journal of Refugee Studies</u>, 6(1), 32.
- Roe, A. (1956). The psychology of occupations. New York: Wiley.
- Roe, A. & Lunneborg, P. (1990). Personality development and career choice. In D. Brown & L. Brooks (Eds.), <u>Career Choice and Development</u> (2nd ed., pp. 68-101). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Schmeiding, O.A., & Jensen, S. (1968). American Indian students: Vocational development and vocational tenacity. <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, <u>17</u>, 120-123.
- Sewell, W.H., Haller, A.O., & Ohlendorf, G. (1970). The educational and early occupational attainment process: Replications and revisions. <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 45, 1014-1027.
- Sewell, W.H., Haller, A.O., & Portes, A. (1969). The educational and early occupational attainment process. <u>American Sociological Review</u>, 34, 89-92.
- Shon, S.P., & Ja, D.Y. (1982). Asian families. In M. McGoldrick, J.K. Pearce, & J. Giordano (Eds.), Ethnicity and Family Therapy (pp. 208-228). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Simon, R. (1987). Empowerment as a pedagogy of possibility. <u>Language Arts</u>, <u>64(4)</u>, 370—382.
- Smith, E.J. (1975). Profile of the black individual in vocational literature. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 6, 41-59.
- Smith, E.J. (1980). Profile of the black individual in vocational literature. In R.L. Jones (Ed.), <u>Black Psychology</u> (pp. 342-357). New York: Harper & Row.
- Smith, E.J. (1983). Issues in racial minorities' career behaviour. In W.B. Walsh & S.H. Osipow (Eds.), <u>Handbook of Vocational Psychology</u>, Vol. 1, Foundations (186). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Schneider, B. & Lee, Y. (1990). A model for academic success: The school and home environment of East Asian students. <u>Anthropology and Education Quarterly</u>, 21, 358-377.
- Sodowsky, G.R., Lai, E.W.M., & Plake, B.S. (1991). Moderating effects of sociocultural variables on acculturation attitudes of Hispanics and Asian Americans. <u>Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development</u>, 70, 194-204.

- Spink, V. (1999). Ethnic identity and the perceptions of Indo-Canadian students in their relation to Canadian culture. Published Master's thesis. Edmonton, Alberta: University of Alberta Press.
- Statistics Canada (2000). Brain drain and brain gain: The migration of knowledge workers into and out of Canada. The Daily (Wednesday, May 24, 2000). Retrieved on November 9, 2000 from World Wide Web: http://www.statcan.ca:80/Daily/English/000524/d000524a.htm.
- Sterrett, E.A. (1999). A comparison of women's and men's career transitions. <u>Journal of Career Development</u>, <u>25(4)</u>, 249-259.
- Stevenson, H.W. (1992). Learning from Asian schools. <u>Scientific American</u> (pp. 70-76). December.
- Stevenson, H. & Lee, S. (1990). Contexts of achievement. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 55(1-2, Serial No. 221).
- Stewart, E.C. (1972). <u>American cultural patterns: A cross-cultural perspective</u>. Yarmouth, ME: Intercultural Press.
- Stumpf, S.A. (1984). Adult career development: Individual and organizational factors. In N.C. Gysbers, D.Ursula, & G.R.Hanson (Eds.), <u>Designing Careers:</u>

 <u>Counseling to Enhance Education, Work, and Leisure</u> (pp. 190-191). Jossey-Bass Higher Education Series & Jossey-Bass Social and Behavioral Science Series.
- Sue, D.W., & Sue, D. (1990). Counseling the culturally different (2nd ed.). New York: Wiley.
- Sue, S. & Sue, D.W. (1973). Chinese-American Personality and mental health. In S. Sue & N.N. Wagner (Eds.), <u>Asian Americans: Psychological Perspectives</u> (pp. 111-124). Palo, Alto, CA: Science and Behaviour Books.
- Suinn, R.M., Richard-Figueroa, K, Lew, S., & Vigil, P. (1987). The Suinn-Lew Asian self-identity acculturation scale: An initial report. <u>Educational and Psychological Measurement</u>, 47, 401-407.
- Super, D.E. (1955). The dimensions and measurement of vocational maturity. <u>Teachers College Record</u>, <u>57</u>, 151-163.
- Super, D.E. (1976). <u>Career education and the meanings of work</u>. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing House.
- Super, D.E. (1980). A life-span, life-space approach to career development. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, 16, 282-298.

- Super, D.E. (1981). The relative importance of work. <u>Bulletin—International Association of Educational and Vocational Guidance</u>, 37, 26-36.
- Super, D.E. (1992). Adult career development in an uncertain future. In H. Daneil Lea & B. Leibowitz (Eds.), <u>Adult Career Development: Concepts</u>, <u>Issues and Practices</u> (2nd ed., p. 422). National Career Development Association.
- Super, D.E. & Bohn, M.J. (1970). Occupational psychology. Belmont, CA.: Wadsworth.
- Tang, M., Fouad, N.A., & Smith, P.L. (1999). Asian Americans' career choice: A path model to examine factors influencing their career choices. <u>Journal of Vocational Behavior</u>, <u>54</u>, 142-157.
- Tata, S.P., & Leong, T.T.L. (1994). Individualism-collectivism, social-network orientation, and acculturation as predictors of attitudes toward seeking professional psychological help among Chinese Americans. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Counseling Psychology</u>, 41, 280-287.
- Terrill, R. (1991). China's youth wait for tomorrow. <u>National Geographic</u>, 180(1), 111-136.
- The Canadian Oxford Dictionary. (1998). Barber, K. (Ed.). Don Mills, Ontario: Oxford University Press.
- The Chinese Canadian National Council (CCNC; 1995). Chinese Canadians Seek
 United Nations Intervention on Redress. China News Digest, Canada Regional
 Service. April 12, 1995. Retrieved on December 12, 2000 from the World
 Wide Web: http://www.cnd.org/CND-Canada/CND-Canada.95/CND-Canada.95-04-12.html
- The Chinese Canadian National Council (1995). National forum on education. Retrieved on January 27, 2001 from the World Wide Web: http://www.ccnc.ca/issues/report.htm.
- The Washington Post (1994). Canada in a quandary over Tiananmen Square. World Tibet Network News (Sunday, May 29, 1994). Retrieved on November 7, 2000 from World Wide Web: http://www.tibet.ca/wtnarchive/1994/5/29 1.html.
- Triandis, H.C., McCusker, C., Betancourt, H., Iwao, S., Leung, K., Salazar, J.M., Setiadi, B., Sinha, J.B.P., Touzard, H., & Zaleski, Z. (1993). An etic-emic analysis of individualism and collectivism. <u>Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology</u>, 24, 366-383.

- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. (1969). <u>Toward a social report</u>. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office.
- Vasquez, M.J.T. (1982). Confronting barriers to the participation of Mexican American women in higher education. <u>Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences</u>, 4(2), 147-165.
- Walker, J. (1997). "Race", rights and the law in the Supreme Court of Canada: Historical case studies. Toronto, ON: Wilfrid Laurier University Press.
- Wolfe, D.M., & Kolb, D.A. (1980). Career development, personal growth, and experimental learning. In J.W. Springer (Ed.), <u>Issues in Career and Human Resource Development</u>. Madison, WI: American Society for Training and Development.
- Yanico, B.J. (1978). Sex bias in career information: Effects of language on attitudes. Journal of Vocational Behavior, 13, 26-34.
- Yu, A.B, & Yang, K.S. (1994). The nature of achievement motivation in collectivistic societies. In U. Kim, H.C. Triandis, S.C. Choi, C. Kagitcibasi, & C. Yoon (Eds.), <u>Individualism and Collectivism: Theory, Methods, and Applications</u> (pp. 239-250). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zhang, W.Y. (1994). American counseling in the mind of a Chinese counselor.

 <u>Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development</u>, 22, 79-85.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A COVER LETTER TO THE PARTICIPANTS

July 27, 2000

Re: Participation in the study on Chinese educators' career experiences

Dear Participant:

Further to our recent discussion during which you agreed to participate in the study on factors affecting Chinese educators' career experiences in Canada, I am hereby requesting that you acknowledge your consent by signing the attached consent form. Please read the letter of informed consent prior to the signing. This letter explains the purpose and significance of the study as well as the nature of your involvement. The researcher's commitment to ensuring the rights of participants has also been outlined in this letter.

As a participant in this study you will be asked to participate in a one-on-one interview with the researcher, at a time and location convenient to you. This interview should take approximately ninety minutes. The discussions will be audio-taped and the transcripts will be provided to you to check the accuracy and to confirm any points that need to be clarified. It is anticipated that these interviews will take place in the middle of July.

Please note that as a participant you may at any time withdraw your consent to participate in the study. You are also granted veto rights over the transcripts of the discussions and conversations that you are involved in. Please be assured that at no time during the study you will be under any risk or coerced into participation during the discussions.

Following the study you will be provided with a summary of the findings. In this, as well as in the official thesis, you will see that your real name will not be used to protect your confidentiality. The name that you will provide me in private at the start of the study will be the one used in the report. That is known only to you and the researcher.

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study. I appreciate your generosity in sharing your time and insights. I hope that you find the process to be enjoyable and rewarding. Should you require more information, please feel free to contact me or my supervisor Dr. Tara Fenwick, Department of Educational Policy Studies, Phone: 492-4879, Email: tara.fenwick@ualberta.ca.

Sincerely yours,

Qiuling Wu

P. O. Box 52066. Edmonton, Alberta. T6G 2T5 Phone: (780) 431-1959. Email: qiuling@ualberta.ca

APPENDIX B NATURE AND PURPOSE OF THE RESEARCH

Nature and Purpose of the Research

Since Canada and China established formal diplomatic relations in 1970, educational exchanges between the two countries have been burgeoning. Chinese students who come to Canada to pursue graduate studies have been increasing over the past 10 years. Among them, there are a number of Chinese educators who came to Canada to pursue graduate studies in Education. Canada's immigration policy allows many of them to apply and stay as permanent residents in Canada. The career path of each and every one of them is different. The experiences could be positive or negative. But one thing is indisputable: a positive career experience will have a positive impact on one's life. Conversely, a negative career experience will impact one's life in a negative way. I am interested in discovering Chinese educators' career search experiences also because I am a Chinese educator myself. The findings from this study will undoubtedly offer me perspectives in this regard.

This research will explore Chinese educators' career search experiences in Canada. By looking into their career experiences in this country, I hope to discover how Chinese educators conceptualize career, what their career goals and aspirations are, what perceptions of career barriers they have, and most importantly, whether social and cultural factors play a part in their career search experiences. The research will also investigate whether one's racial/ethnic identity and level of acculturation affect one's career choices and decision-making process. With this information, I hope to help agencies across Canada that provide services and supports to racial and ethic minorities, especially to Chinese educators, be well informed and gain a better understanding of the needs and experiences of this particular group.

Chinese educators have the most to gain from the abilities of this research to inform policies and programs that could potentially enhance their career development in Canada. The concluding results may also be useful to the participants themselves, especially to those who are still trying to "find their way" into the Canadian labor market. This study may also stimulate future research in the field.

APPENDIX C PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM

Consent Form

The University of Alberta requires that all graduate students undertaking research take into account certain ethical procedures for the benefit of all participants. Therefore, as a researcher, I am committed to ensuring the following rights for my participants in this research:

- 1. The right to be fully informed of the purpose and nature of the study;
- 2. The right to opt out of the study at any time for any reason during this research, without negative consequences;
- 3. The right to expect confidentiality (pseudonyms will be used, and all identifying characteristics removed in the final report);
- 4. The right be respected at all times and free from any harm to you and your family;
- 5. The right not to be coerced or deceived in regards to any aspect of the study;
- 6. The right to review the themes and quotes generated for the final report from your transcript;
- 7. The right to see a copy of the final thesis upon request, and to receive an executive summary of the key findings of the research.

questions regarding this study, please feel free to contact me at any time by phone or through email, or contact my academic supervisor Dr. Tara Fenwick at (780) 492-4879.

Your involvement in this research is entirely voluntary. Should you have any

I, (please print name) have read the attached letter of informed consent and understand my rights and responsibilities as a participant in this research, as explained both in the attached document as well as to me personally by the researcher.

| Qiuling Wu | |
|---------------------|----------------|
| | |
| (780) 431-1959 | |
| qiuling@ualberta.ca | |
| | (780) 431-1959 |

APPENDIX D DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SHEET

Demographic Information Sheet

Please fill in the blanks with the required information:

| Name given for the interview: |
|---|
| Age: |
| Gender: |
| Citizenship: |
| Age upon arriving in Canada: |
| Age upon attending school in Canada: |
| Total years attending school in Canada: |
| Years living in Canada: |
| Years living in non-Chinese neighborhood: |
| Highest degree obtained (field, when & where) |
| Previous occupation: |
| Present occupation: |
| Ideal job for the future: |
| Education level of your parents: |
| Mother |
| Father |
| Current occupation of your parents: |
| Mother |
| Father |

APPENDIX E THE INTERVIEW GUIDE

INTERVIEW GUIDE

(five open-ended questions with probes)

1. CAREER ASPIRATIONS, INTERESTS & CHOICES

- When you decided to stay and look for a job in Canada, what were your expectations of a career in Canada?
- What were your family's expectations for your career? Did you feel any pressure from your parents, other family members, friends, and your own community in relation to your career? Give me some examples, please.
- What career choice did you finally make? Was it based on your career aspirations interests?
- What factors have influenced your career choice? (for example, familial roles, successful experiences of role models, environmental factors, job market situation, etc.)
- Were you happy with your choice then? Are you still happy with it now? If not, what are your career goals in the future?

2. JOB SEARCH EXPERIENCES

- How did you actually do your job search? Did you have access to career information? Were you familiar with the Canadian culture in regard to job search and interviews and so on?
- How long were you actively engaged in your job search? Was your job search generally a positive or negative experience? Would you like to share with me about your experience? Please give me some examples.

3. ENVIRONMENTAL SUPPORTS/BARRIERS AND THEIR IMPACT ON A PERSON'S CONFIDENCE IN CAREER

- I presume that in your job search process, you must have experienced both supports and barriers. What kinds of support did you receive? How did these supports help boost your confidence in your career search?
- Did you expect and experience any barriers prior to the job search? If so, what were the major barriers? Did these barriers have a negative impact on your confidence?
- Any advice on how to overcome job-related barriers?

4. CONCEPTUALIZATION OF CAREER

- The word "career" may mean different things to different people. In your opinion, what is a "career"? How do you define it?
- Has your concept of career changed over time? What factors do you think has contributed to this change?

Do you think one's concept of career affect his/her career interests and choices? Could you please give me some examples?

5. CULTURE, IDENTITY & ACCULTURATION ON ONE'S CAREER SELF-EFFICACY BELIEFS

- Have you always been confident that you will successfully realize your career goals in Canada? What factors do you think affect your confidence in your pursuit of career? Please give me some examples.
- Cultural factors play an important role in the career development of ethic minority groups. What role do you think Chinese culture plays in your career choice?
- What is your self-rating of acculturation?³⁸ In other words, do you feel more Chinese, or more Canadian, or bicultural, or marginalized? To what extent do you think your degree of acculturation help or hinder your career development in Canada?

Is there anything else meaningful that has not been discussed so far? If yes, please feel free to talk about it.

Thank you very much for your participation in this interview.

³⁸ I usually explained the concept of "acculturation" to participants, describing it as follows: Acculturation is a process of an individual's interaction with mainstream culture. According to research, individuals who hold a positive view of the mainstream culture but a negative view of their own culture are called Assimilationists or highly acculturated; individuals who view the mainstream culture negatively and their own culture positively are referred to as Separationists or Traditionalists or lower acculturated; individuals who hold positive views of both their culture and the mainstream culture are Integrationists or medium acculturated or bicultural; the last category, individuals who hold negative view of both the mainstream and their own culture are labeled Marginal person.